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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEREYE PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES
KEH  EsT

HHER  RERT (RN Bk A
ik anik Ml REEE  REER  REER ki3

Completed
Overall Project Group's GFA

Expected Interestin ~ Remaining ~ GFA Under ~ GFA Under
HHAH Project Name Wil City Completion Date the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning Use

£ (Frk) (Frk) (FiA)

Y™ (Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
FIHH Train New Town i Baoding 2027111 100% 12,193 99,183 421485 RICP
B MMEREEE  Changping Life Science Park Project  JL5 Beijing 2025/12 2% - 113,448 - RICP
il Jingyue Palace Ll Changzhou 2026/11 49% 9,288 84,498 12,767 R/CP
K Star Glamor M Changzhou 2025/5 51% 28,866 54,351 - RICP
Ji | Fangshu Qingchuan g8 Chengdu 2028112 70% 3,504 21,299 87,741 RICP
I Shunshan Fu A Chengdu 2029/11 70% 223 = 239,575 RICP
FLEEBEME  No. 23, Dongan Street Plot ik Chengdu 202506 75% 16,099 79,670 - RICP
b The Light Year ik Chengdu 2026/1 66% 20,365 144,070 = RICP
WHPEKERR  Pida Zhongxin Avenue Project et Chengdu 202565 100% - 57,669 - RICP
HEYIEA Kehui Road Project A Chengdu 200512 84% = 100,783 = RICP
WEKEHE Yingbin Avenue Project A Chengdu 202506 70% - 91,963 - RICP
24 —TRMEH  Jinnoiu Beiyi Ring Road Project i Chengdu 2025/11 55% - 32,021 = RICP
KIS Longfor Origin j L3 Dongguan 202718 51% 32,057 - 57,458 RICP
AEWREEH Honglianhu Avenue Project &l Ezhou 203415 35% 24527 14451 1,540,059 RICP
TAREER River City il Foshan 202501 80% 18,208 181,141 - RICP
il REER Foshan Amusement Park Project Gl Foshan 202511 70% - 73,145 - RICP
TRIER Jiangchen Garden il Fuzhou 2025/12 60% 9,464 74,850 - RICP
BiER City Garden M Fuzhou 2027/10 70% 25,950 37,005 55,797 RICP

R: fi% | Residential C: W | Commercial 0: WAE | Office CP: [FEE | Car Park
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEEWE w) PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

K g%l
HHER  RERT DRAE Bk il
ik anik] Ml REEE REOR  REWR ki3

Completed
Overall Project Group's GFA

Expected Interestin ~ Remaining ~ GFA Under ~ GFA Under
HHAH Project Name Wil City Completion Date  the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning Use

£ (FrA) (i) (FiA)

YM (Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
i% Tian Feng &M Guangzhou 2025/11 (6% 771 131,093 - RICP
FHEAILEH Panyu Xiangjiang Project M Guangzhou 202515 100% 2,554 65,945 - RICP
BILMEERS  Guanshanhu District Party School Plot EJ5 Guiyang 2028/11 51% 27,793 246,177 143,003 RICP
RRAE Jing Lin Longfor Mansion b Guiyang 20911 51% 141,772 138,689 1,056,389 RICP
K Star Glamor H Guiyang 203011 90% 10,638 97,157 92,251 R/CP
BN E-sports Town New Project - Guiyang 2025/8 100% - 72,276 - R/CP
T Poboposiang Plot N Haikou 202565 100% 112,652 80,027 - RICP
il R Junlan Mansion )| Hangzhou 2026/12 30% - 160,321 45,334 RICP
T Hangyu Central il Hangzhou 202755 51% 61336 - 88,092 RICP
KR Longfor Origin il Hangzhou 2026/8 60% 40,302 = 103,706 RICP
KIEH Tianuan City (KI5 M Hangzhou 2025/11 70% 58,758 58,501 - RICP
SETREDH Qiantang Xiasha Jinsha Lake M Hangzhou 2025/6 70% - 171453 - R/CP
TMEER Hangzhou Pule Project M Hangzhou 2025/12 50% - 93,989 - RICP
FILRR Chunjiang Heaven M Huizhou 2027/1 100% 63,075 89,836 = RICP
B Chunjiang Land it Ji'nan 2027/11 34% 2497 - 81,529 RICP
R Prestige Town i) Ji'nan 2025/11 100% 67,334 69,964 - RICP
EMEE Jing Lin Orient Original i) Ji'nan 2027111 100% 2,110 203,791 201,887 RICP
TEIER Zibo Road Project Vit Ji'nan 202512 80% = 316375 - RICP

R: fFE | Residential C. P | Commercial 0. WAE | Office CP: [FEE | Car Park
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FHEEYE @) PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

A%H SN
HHER  REET DRHE B Al
jiEE anit] i REmR REER REOK i

Completed
Overall Project Group’s GFA

Expected Interestin ~ Remaining ~ GFA Under ~ GFA Under
HHAR Project Name il City Completion Date  the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning Use

&N (Fik) (FrAk) (Frk)

M (Sgm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
X Longfor Faerie B Jinzhong 202505 100% 19,625 83,532 - RICP
il iGNE Jing Lin Tian Xu B Kunming 2026/12 55% 35,984 103,612 - RICP
{ilrsnshih Paradise Seasons 2] Kunming 2035011 100% 52,966 - 515923 R/CP
R:4 Emerald Legend B Kunming 2026/12 100% 22,636 110,481 - RICP
[isRtoy b Southwest Sea Plot Q B Kunming 2028/3 30% - - 21,718 RICP
S The Light Year Plot L Lanzhou 2027/11 70% 32,276 131,727 151,924 R/CP
HRIIITEG19%  Pengjiaping Xiping Street No. G2119 Lanzhou 2025/11 100% 10,204 64,803 - RICP
K ERIR Crystal Licheng [ Nanjing 2025/12 70% 23,071 67474 - RICP
BILER Chunjiang Center [ Nanjing 202715 100% 579 - 119,745 RICP
T8 Pukou District No. 2 Yushan Road Plotii 5t Nanjing 202813 75% - 57,256 58,936 RICP
BRI Jade Mansion il Nantong 2028/11 70% - 74,087 54,675 RICP
LRETHMAS  Beilun Riverside New Town Plot %2} Ningbo 2025/6 50% 13,589 106,208 = RICP
EREMMALKE  Ningbo Jinzhou Century Avemue  BEJE Ningbo 2025/6 50% - 60,040 - RICP
EEBR Lan'an Central 58 Qingdao 2027110 51% 24,024 18,580 189,601 RICP
EH Fairy Castle wh Qingdao 2027/12 70% 32879 133,944 92,164 RICP
R Prestige Town L] Qingdao 2028/6 70% 39,720 SLA12 132,707 R/CP
LAEH Shanghe One 5E Qingdzo 2033/12 100% 5723 66,133 192,888 RICP
L34 Xue Tang Mansion £ Qingdao 2028/6 35% 2,021 - 125,998 RICP

R: fi% | Residential C: W | Commercial 0: WAE | Office CP: [FEE | Car Park

£ # Annual Report 2024 « J




Schedule of Principal Properties

FEEWE w) PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

A%H WA
HEBR  REEY (RNE Berh ik
iz anik Mk BEWE  REEE  REEH i}

Completed
Overall Project Group's GFA

Expected Interestin -~ Remaining ~ GFAUnder ~ GFA Under
BHAH Project Name il City Completion Date  the Projects Unsold  Development Planning Use

& (Frk) (Frk) (Frk)

YIM (Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
b The Light Year i Qingdao 202519 5% 21,732 54,824 - RICP
51 Legend of City 55 Qingdao 202611 70% 85,121 - 159,951 RICP
i Qinghui Road Plot i Qingyuan 2027111 51% - - 135,359 RICP
BRI Jindong Xinqu M Quanzhou 2005/5 55% 16,386 134,490 - RICP
BMEERAE  Jinjiang Chidian Qiaonan Project S| Quanzhou 2025/11 70% - 87,131 - RICP
R Times Central K Xiamen 2027/12 40% 14839 = 416647 RICP
BERERER Fengsian Paradise Walk East Project |} Shanghai 2025011 50% - 84,350 - RICP
SHIHEH Guangming Project s Shenzhen 2025/11 5% - 93,486 - RICP
HESF DongWangFu 0 Shenyang 2029/11 350 11,694 20,097 164,915 RICP
i %5E Plum and Youth & Shenyang 2026111 50% 3177 97,017 7,440 RICP
e Il Rose and Ginkgo Villa 5 Shenyang 2028/12 100% 18,737 14215 136,628 RICP
£ Cloud Valley i1 Shenyang 202819 70% 46,659 YNDY) 73,402 RICP
JHERAEHEBITE  Shenfu Avenue Huayu Bamboo Grove & Shenyang 2026/10 51% 15,914 26,093 45,027 RICP
BB Xuanxing 4th Road Project b Shenyang 2026/4 70% 18,688 88,985 - R/CP
EWIEH Caozhong Project i Shenyang 2026/12 49% 19,069 186,981 - R/CP
KB Emerald Legend RFHE  Shijiazhuang 2026/10 70% 409 130,122 46,781 RICP
L Zhongxing Road Plot BM Suzhou 2026/12 25% 349 11,713 66,537 RICP
et Chengyang Road Project BN Suzhou 2025/5 51% 4217 66,155 - RICP
S B &R Wazhong Xinli Road Project M Suzhou 2025012 70% 12,833 164,076 - RICP
BEBIER High-Speed Railway New Town ProjectBf M Suzhou 2025/12 51% - 95,539 - RICP

R: fFE | Residential C. P | Commercial 0. WAE | Office CP: [FEE | Car Park

8 - Longfor Group Holdings Limited #g 4 & [ # jg & & 2 7



Schedule of Principal Properties

FHEEYE @) PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

A%H AN
HHER  RERT DRHE B Al
e anit] i REmR REER REOK it

Completed
Overall Project Group’s GFA

Expected Interest in Remaining ~ GFA Under ~ GFA Under
HHAR Project Name i City Completion Date  the Projects Unsold  Development Planning Use

£ (FiA) (FrAk) (Frk)

M (Sgm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
K Tianju KR Taiyuan 2026/4 100% 56477 150,236 - RICP
K Longfor Faerie il Tangshan 202719 50% - - 110,171 RICP
JafE B Style Town Plot P Tianjin 2027111 70% 35,496 66,210 108,172 RICP
FILKE Chunjiang Heaven Bl Weihai 202507 0% 25,760 52,234 = RICP
ITRES Shangchen Cloud Building it Wenzhou 2025/4 33% - 216,087 116,655 RICP
TEHPERBAL . Shuofang Middle School East Ploc B, 485 Wi 202855 51% - - 122,541 RICP

TR pa s Shuofang Middle School South Plot
BB Chunjiang Central gt Wuhan 2026/12 60% 79,236 - 365,357 RICP
RS EE Sino-French Terminus Project fiNE 3 Wuhan 2026/11 70% = 99,720 123,309 RICP
BILTEETODMY  Binjiang Business District TOD Plot & Wuhan 200505 50% 27,021 137,853 - RICP
Bl Chunjiang Land i Wuhan 2029/11 10% 5,836 = 213,738 RICP
KAH Guanggu Cheng R Wuhan 2027110 52% 39415 - 254,027 RICP
HREH Xinrong Project R Wahan 202509 49% 54,687 71,696 - RICP
K Longfor Origin W% Xi'an 20259 100% - 115,126 - RICP
ER Starry Mansion Fi% Xilan 2025/ 100% 396 51,450 - RICP
HmER Xinsing South Road Project [ Xilan 2026/12 80% 46,659 88,015 52,244 RICP
RHURF Jinglin Jiuxu fi% Ximn 2026/11 70% 5,056 55,488 35,596 RICP
REEAHCD Chang'an District Gaoxin CID [ Xian 2025/12 52% 0,774 93,200 - RICP
WEREER Xingchang Street East Project
MBI H Shenzhou 2nd Road Project Ti% Xi'an 2025/11 60% - 72,558 - R/ICP
R: fi% | Residential C: W | Commercial 0: WAE | Office CP: [FEE | Car Park
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEEWE w) PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

A%H AN
HHER  REET DRHE Rk Al
e anit] i REmR REWR REOH it

Completed
Overall Project Group’s GFA

Expected Interestin ~ Remaining ~ GFA Under ~ GFA Under
HHAR Project Name i City Completion Date  the Projects Unsold  Development Planning Use

£ (Fik) (FrAk) (Frk)

M (Sgm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
iR Longfor Central 51 Kianyang 2029/6 55% 70493 73,14 462,700 RICP
LAy Caotang Main Street Plot B Xianyang 202755 51% 11,992 - 51,849 RICP
B Rose and Ginkgo Villa fia Yantai 2030/12 100% 21,083 57,09 73,682 RICP
AR Banyan Bay g Yantai 2027/6 100% 123,533 80,135 883,023 RICP
b Yan Lan Hai An fieh Yantai 203012 100% 49307 18839 4,613,000 RICP
BOTSRIAREE  Zhanjiang Yinfan Park Project L Zhanjiang 2027/10 51% = 60,087 - RICP
BRI Xue Tang Mansion k& Changchun 202509 51% 13331 64,020 - RICP
BT Jinglin Jiuxu £k Changchun 202619 100% 26,713 77,83 34,891 RICP
KHEH Shui Du Project £E Changchun 2026/6 60% 16,558 - 74,333 RICP
R:d Emerald Legend k& Changchun 202511 100% 14,578 110,028 = RICP
BT Chunjiang Central el Changsha 2026/3 51% 54,780 115,169 - RICP
YRR Fuli Ten 3 Changsha 2026110 41% 10,156 95,477 - RICP
TEHIER Binhe Road Project Rl Changsha 202615 100% 9,790 99,863 - RICP
TLER Bamboo Grove i3/ Changsha 2026/11 100% - 4,659 103,831 RICP
2RI Jin Xing North Plot £ Changsha 2026111 51% - 80,653 - RICP
RIKE Glorious Mansion Rl Changsha 2026/12 100% 69,516 104,092 4554 RICP
L e Xinlian Road Project 2l Changsha 2026/5 100% 29,757 102,609 - RICP
BIER Chunjiang Central ] Zhaoging 2027111 70% 2175 66,706 119,640 RICP
HILKH Chunjiang Tian Yue Ll Zhengzhou 2028/12 £% - 70,405 66,795 RICP
HERIRE Qihu Mansion B Zhengzhou 2026/11 51% = 22,026 58,686 RICP

R: % | Residential C. P | Commercial 0. WAE | Office CP: [FEE | Car Park

10 - Longfor Group Holdings Limited g 3 &= [ {2 j% 45 [& 2 &)



Schedule of Principal Properties

FHEEYE @) PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

A%H SV AN
HHER  REET DRHE B Al
jiEE anit] i REmR REER REOH it

Completed
Overall Project Group’s GFA

Expected Interestin ~ Remaining ~ GFA Under ~ GFA Under
HHAR Project Name il City Completion Date  the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning Use

£ (Fik) (FrAk) (Frk)

M (Sgm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
K Longfor Facrie HM Zhengzhou 2028/11 51% 25,469 8,219 - RICP
RIKE Glorious Mansion E Zhengzhou 2026/11 100% 992 98,273 - R/CP
RS ER Guancheng District Jindai Project &} Zhengzhou 202506 51% 26,793 72320 - RICP
LB E Bay City iR Chongging 2028/4 60% 40,750 - 66,091 R/CP
it Shangian B Chongging 202811 70% 24,651 169,031 - RICP
R Changtan Mansion E1 Chongqing 2026/1 51% 53,144 75,432 - R/CP
BRA% Science Mansion BE Chongging 2026/11 51% 6,045 119,879 - RICP
1 Brigh City £ Chongging 2028/6 100% 76,270 59,154 249,300 RICP
RHRE Changtan Mansion £l Chongging 2029/11 51% 19,253 63,603 170,195 RICP
kS La Defense BE Chongging 2029/11 100% 82,467 = 105,961 RICP
ERUF Jinglin Jinxu £ Chongging 2028111 51% 103,452 - (8,167 RICP
FIRT R Chunyu Riverbank £ Chongging 2026011 60% = 61,788 = RICP
RIS} Chunjiang Heaven £ Chongging 209111 70% 142,810 26,651 254,195 RICP
BE Xishang £l Chongging 2025/12 80% = 66,604 = RICP
EEAR Lijia A Plot ELY Chongging 202806 100% 32579 - 350,359 RICP
B Star Discovery Bay ity Zhuhai 2026/6 25% 11,508 20,816 112,298 RICP

R: fi% | Residential C: W | Commercial 0: WAE | Office CP: [FEE | Car Park

£ # Annual Report 2024 « 1]




Schedule of Principal Properties

FEEEDE PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

A%H
HREE R gL iR Al
i anily s REER  REER  REOK iifed

Completed
Overall Project Group’s GFA
Expected  Interestin ~ Remaining ~ GFAUnder  GFA Under
HHAR Project Name B City Completion Date  the Projects Unsold  Development Planning Use
(/%) (FiAk) (Fik) (FrA)
(Y/M) (Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
TRREXE Beijing Daxing Paradise Walk b7 Beijing £ Opened 100% 203,134 - - cicp
AR Beijing Fangshan Paradise Walk ~ JL3 Beijing £ B3 Opened 100% 119,964 = = clcp
bA73 2N Beijing Lize Paradise Walk I Beijing B B Opened 51% 92,014 - - cicp
TrEs K Beijing Xiyue Paradise Walk 1 Beijing BB Opened 50% 145,678 - - c/cp
TrEnEnE Beijing Summer Palace Starry Street  JU 5 Beijing ELBH% Opened 100% 6,320 - - c/cp
By SNC Beijing Yizhuang Paradise Walk ~ J3% Beijing £ Opened 100% 162,743 - = cicp
SN Beijing Chang'an Paradise Walk L3 Beijing BB Opened 17% 9,199 - - clcp
b33 R Beijing Changying Paradise Walk L3¢ Beijing BB Opened 100% 300,192 = = c/ce
MRS R A Changzhou Longcheng Paradise Walk M Changzhou BB Opened 100% 155,862 - - CIcP
LR Chengdu North Paradise Walk i} Chengdu £ Opened 100% 215,536 - = cic
HLARETL K R Chengdu Binjiang Paradise Walk i Chengdu B Opened 519% 171,500 - - cicp
WAVERARRE  Chengdu Huazhao Xichen g Chengdu B B3 Opened 50% 189,860 - - CIcP
Paradise Walk
SR Chengdu Jinnan Paradise Walk i Chengdu £ B Opened 100% 91,638 - - cicp
AR Kt Chengdu Jinchen Paradise Walk i} Chengdu BB Opened 100% 97,161 - - cIcP
MHAJE EMEE  Chengdu Renbei Road Shangcheng 1S Chengdu ELBH% Opened 80% 129,964 - - cicp
Paradise Walk
WA= TEXE Chengdu Three Thousand i Chengdu BB Opened 100% 38,043 = - cic
Paradise Walk
AR A K fr Chengdu Time Paradise Walk ] Chengdu 2% Opened 100% 130931 - - cice
A& K Chengdu Shuxin Paradise Walk i Chengdu £ B3 Opened 100% 118,611 = - CIcP
RERFEENE Chengdu Wuhou Starry Street A Chengdu BB Opened 100% 31,168 - - cIcp
ey SSRE] Chengdu Dong'an Paradise Walk i Chengdu B B Opened 5% 157,281 = = Clcp
R: % | Residential C. P | Commercial 0. WAE | Office CP: [FEE | Car Park

12 + Longfor Group Holdings Limited g 3 &= [ {2 j% 45 & 2 &)



Schedule of Principal Properties

FEBEWE @) PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

A%H
ERER  WEE g%L i Al
i ANk Ml REEE  REER  REER Jiig

Completed
Overall Project Group’s GFA

Expected Interestin ~ Remaining ~ GFA Under ~ GFA Under
JHH AR Project Name i City Completion Date  the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning Use

(£/4) (Frk) (P (PR

(YM) (Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
BOTODX T Haikou TOD Paradise Walk B0 Haikou £ Opened 100% 323,901 - - cicp
MANEL K Hangzhou Binjiang Paradise Walk — Hi] Hangzhou I Opened 100% 180,694 - - (00
RN TR Hangzhou Dinggiao Paradise Walk — #i] Hangzhou £ B3 Opened 100% 206,729 - - Cicp
TMITE R Hangzhou Jiangdong Paradise Walk ~ #T] Hangzhou BB Opened 50% 107,125 = = CICP
ME K Hangzhou Jinsha Paradise Walk ~— Hi] Hangzhou £ Opened 100% 180,649 - - crcp
RMTE RS Hangzhou Xixi Paradise Walk im) | Hangzhou £ Opened 100% 148,222 S = Cicp
WM EHIX B Hangzhou Zijing Paradise Walk Rl Hangzhou EL B3 Opened 100% 83,000 - - cice
AEEE R Hefei Yaohai Paradise Walk A Hefei EE Opened 100% 123,695 - - cicp
AlEEHKE Hefei High-Tech Paradise Walk M Hefei BB Opened 100% 168,491 - - cice
VRECBD A Ji'nan CBD Paradise Walk i Ji'nan B B Opened 50% 96,782 = = CIcP
FrLREEE Ji'nan Beichen Paradise Walk i) Ji'nan B Opened 100% 129,721 - - C/CP
IR Nanchang Qingshanhu 2] Nanchang BB Opened 100% 123,542 - - C/CP

Paradise Walk
EYRIipRG Nanjing Hexi Paradise Walk B Nanjing EL B3 Opened 100% 146,619 - - cicp
HREAARAE Nanjing Liuhe Paradise Walk B Nanjing BB Opened 100% 136,361 = = cicp
Ry N Nanjing Longwan Paradise Walk % Nanjing ELHZE Opened 100% 175,92 - - cIcp
A LA K Nanjing Pukou Jiangbei Hin Nanjing £ Opened 100% 199,552 - - C/CP
Paradise Walk
B AR LKA Nanjing Yushan Paradise Walk B Nanjing Chi% Opened 100% 181911 - - C/CP
HRHMEE Ningbo Yinzhou Paradise Walk % Ningbo BB Opened 100% 161,232 = = C/cp
BT Ningbo Haishu Paradise Walk ) Ningbo B Opened 100% 129,163 - - cicPp
HEEEMNEE Qingdao Jiaozhou Paradise Walk ~—~ H 5 Qingdao BB Opened 0% 123,851 - - Clcp
R: fi% | Residential C: W | Commercial 0: WAE | Office CP: [FEE | Car Park

£ # Annual Report 2024 = 13




Schedule of Principal Properties

FEEEWE @ PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

A%H
HREE  RERY [ZVAN i Al
i anily i REWR REER REOH fiig

Completed
Overall Project Group’s GFA

Expected Interestin ~ Remaining ~ GFA Under ~ GFA Under
HHAR Project Name i City Completion Date  the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning Use

(£/H) (k) (Fik) (Fik)

(Y/M) (Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
IR IR Shanghai Baoshan Paradise Walk L1} Shanghai £ I Opened 100% 179,206 - - Cice
IRz N Shanghai Fengxian Paradise Walk L1} Shanghai € B3 Opened 51% 145,496 - - cice
IR:LI PR Shanghai Honggiao Paradise Walk |1} Shanghai E B Opened 100% 253,293 - - cice
FEES R Shanghai Hugjing Paradise Walk ~_Ei Shanghai £ B Opened 51% 66,007 = = CIcP
LieEXE Shanghai Jinhui Paradise Walk i Shanghai £ B3 Opened 100% 105,719 - - cicp
BRG] Shanghai Minhang Paradise Walk L Shanghai B B3 Opened 51% 196,534 - - clce
RN Shanghai Minhang Starry Street L Shanghai BB Opened 50% 45,698 - - cice
RGN R T Shaoxing Jinghu Paradise Walk el Shaoxing B Opened 50% 202,692 - - CICP
EHER R Shenyang Hunnan Paradise Walk {6 Shenyang £ Opened 100% 114916 - - cicp
L TSR Suzhou Dongwu Paradise Walk —— BEM Suzhou 2 Opened 100% 235,825 - = CIcP
BEMFRIMEMRE  Suzhou Qingjian Lake Xinghu M Suzhou ELFAZ Opened 100% 149,198 - - CIcP

Paradise Walk
L TIPRG Suzhou Shishan Paradise Walk B Suzhou £ Opened 51% 210,109 = - clcp
Y HIPRE Suzhou Xujiang Paradise Walk B Suzhou LB Opened 51% 125,760 - - cicp
BRI Suzhou Xiangcheng Oriental Tower S| Suzhou £ B Opened 30% 208,479 - - cice
KEMLAH Tianjin Meijiang Paradise Walk K3 Tianjin ELBH% Opened 100% 177,260 - - cicp
ERHEHN Wahan Baisha Paradise Walk R Wahan B2 Opened 100% 179,895 = - cicp
R R f Wauhan Emperial Paradise Walk 2% Wauhan EH Opened 50% 210310 - - cicp
BEARENE Xi'an Daxing Starry Street W% Xi'an BB Opened 100% 53,266 - - cicp
4 bRt Xi'an Qujiang Starry Street i3 Xilan E A% Opened 100% 78,499 - - CIcP
To% AR Xilan Xiangti Paradise Walk fi% Xi'an E % Opened 100% 109,860 - - C/cp
R: % | Residential C. P | Commercial 0. WAE | Office CP: [FEE | Car Park
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEBEWE @) PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

A%H
HREE  REHEY (VAN B Al
i anikl i REmR REER REOH fiig

Completed
Overall Project Group’s GFA

Expected Interestin ~ Remaining ~ GFA Under ~ GFA Under
HHAR Project Name i City Completion Date  the Projects Unsold  Development Planning Use

(£/H) (k) (Fik) (Fik)

(Y/M) (Sqm) (Sqm) (Sgm)
RUHEBK S Changsha Yanghu Paradise Walk R Changsha 5::E Opened 34% 158,120 - - CIcp
RUFEKH Changsha Furong Paradise Walk &Y Changsha £ B3 Opened 100% 145,372 - - cice
EEMOCO Chongging MOCO i Chongging B B Opened 100% 29,104 - - cice
EBEUNKH Chongging U-City Paradise Walk ~ f Chongging £ B3 Opened 100% 195,880 - - cice
FEH K Chongqing North Paradise Walk ~ E B Chongqing £ B Opened 100% 146,262 - - cice
EERRANE Chongqing Chunsen Starry Strect BB Chongqing €% Opened 100% 54,018 - - cice
BEFHRE Chongqing High-Tech Paradise Walk & Chongging B Opened 100% 125,158 - - CICP
El/NTBR Chongging Gongyuan Paradise Walk % Chongging BB Opened 51% 197,591 - = CIcP
BESYEE Chongging Jinsha Paradise Walk HE Chongging RIES Opened 100% 204,113 - - cIcp
B Chongging Crystal Castle £ Chongging SIEES Opened 100% 9,969 - - CICP
EEEERE Chongging Lijia Paradise Walk £ Chongging EHZ Opened 100% 140,195 - - cIcp
ERFRARE Chongging Time Paradise Walk £ Chongging [l E Opened 100% 695,030 - - C/CP
BRI A Chongging West Paradise Walk Ed Chongqing BB Opened 51% 111,654 - - c/cp
ERRERS Chongging Hometown Paradise Walk Chongging £ Opened 100% 174817 - - CicP
B Chongging Fairy Castle il Chongging L Opened 100% 29413 - - c/cp
MR X Changzhou Yuanshan Paradise Walk M Changzhou 2027/8/31 100% = 96,380 = clcp
AT H A Chengdu School of Administration i Chengdu 20268531 66% - 101,062 - cIcp
FEETOD Dongguan TOD L Dongguan 2027/8/31 100% = = 140,670 Cicp
EMNE BB, Guangzhou Panyu Coach Terminal M| Guangzhou 2027/430 100% - 100,968 - cice
MERER Hangzhou Binkang Paradise Walk i Hangzhou 2026/8/31 100% - 101,331 = cIcp
UM SR Hangzhou Shangcheng Fengshou Lake /] Hangzhou 2025/11/30 100% - 135,945 - CIcp
WNER K Hangzhou Yucheng Paradise Walk i Hangzhou 2027531 51% = 135,046 - clcp

R: fi% | Residential C: W | Commercial 0: WAE | Office CP: [FEE | Car Park
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEEEWE @ PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

A%H
HREE  RERY VAN i Al
i anily i REWR REER REOH i

Completed
Overall Project Group’s GFA

Expected Interestin ~ Remaining ~ GFA Under ~ GFA Under
HHAR Project Name i City Completion Date  the Projects Unsold  Development Planning Use

(/%) (FiA) (FrAk) (Frk)

(Y/M) (Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
VPN Ji'nan West Railway Station i Ji'nan 2025/5/30 100% - 157,514 - CIcP

Paradise Walk
ARG Kunming Time Paradise Walk B Kunming 202612128 100% = 133,022 = cIcp
HAEESE Lanzhou Guangnian Project TN Lanzhou 202906130 100% - - 113,059 cIcp
MEFARE Nanning Qingxiu Paradise Walk P Nanning 20250131 49% = 121,483 - clcp
BRET K Ningbo Binjiang Paradise Walk %} Ningbo 20279530 50% - - 164,633 clcp
BMAZEE Xiamen Xiang'an Paradise Walk  E[] Xiamen 2028/8/31 40% = = 126,866 clcp
EHHIK S Wi Xishan Paradise Walk 5 Wi 2027331 100% - 61,767 - cicp
RENAIDR Wauhan Binjiang Paradise Walk R} Wuhan 2025/5/31 50% = 170,600 - clcp
RELAM Wuhan Guanggu City R Wuhan 202716130 5296 - - 171,182 cicp
REHEXE Wauhan Xinrong Paradise Walk Wauhan 2025/9/30 49% = 152,839 - clcp
L A Xi'an XingFu Green Belt fi% Xi'n 2025/9/30 100% - 139,606 - c/cp
BAMBGEERY  Yanti Pud Bay Paradise Walk fif Yanti 2027330 100% - - 103,770 clcp
RO Changsha Kaifu Paradise Walk R Changsha 2026/831 100% - 111,591 - cicp
RUH K Changsha Xingao Paradise Walk el Changsha 2026/5/30 100% - 127,940 - c/ep
XA A Dadukou Paradise Walk Plot E1 Chongging 2027/5/30 100% - 158,940 - C/cp
BREER T Chongging Caijia Paradise Walk BB Chongging 202977131 51% - 93,257 = clcp
BRI (40) Caijia Travel Culture (Letao) B Chongging 20297731 100% - - 89,002 clcp
BEEE X Chongging Longxing Paradise Walk Chongging 2025530 51% = 75,652 - ccp
Eh N Chongging Nanping Paradise Walk ~ E Chongging 202509/30 100% - 111,192 - CIcp
Witat - RN T EREYERREBAE - Note: The principal investment properties of the Group are owned by the Group.
R: % | Residential C. P | Commercial 0. WAE | Office CP: [FEE | Car Park
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Chairman’s Statement

I am pleased to present to our shareholders the full-year business review and
outlook for the year ended December 31, 2024 of Longfor Group Holdings
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively the

“Group”).

Since the fourth quarter of 2024, a series of economic stimulus policies have
been introduced by the government, accelerating the pace of innovation-
driven development and industrial upgrading. As a vital pillar of economic
development, the real estate sector is currently undergoing significant
adjustments and transformations. The Group has consistently maintained
strategic focus, enhanced operational resilience, and steadily advanced high-
quality development. In 2024, the Group achieved a total revenue of RMB127.5
billion, with the investment property operation and property service segments
generating income of RMB26.7 billion, representing a year-on-year increase
of 7.4%; the core net profit attributable to owners of the Company was

approximately RMB7.0 billion while maintaining a stable dividend payout ratio.

Over the past two years, the Group has steadily reduced its total debt and
optimized its debt structure, strengthening its financial stability. By the end
of 2024, the Group’s interest-bearing debt had decreased by RMB16.3 billion
from the beginning of the year to RMB176.3 billion, with the average finance
cost reduced to 4.00% and the average contract borrowing period extended to
10.27 years, achieving a virtuous cycle of reducing both debt and finance cost.
With focused efforts and synergies across each business segment, the Group
achieved a positive operating cash flow including capital expenditures exceeding
RMBG.0 billion for the year. This solid foundation of debt safety and cash flow

sustainability is the key support as we navigate through industry cycles.

The new housing market is returning to the essence of living, with a clearer
definition of what constitutes high-quality housing. Over the past two years,
the Group has been deeply committed to high-tier cities, developing improved
residential products such as Glory of Galaxy, Glory of Throne, and Inner Land to
meet diverse living needs. Last year, we delivered approximately 100,000 quality
housing units across 43 cities in China, achieving a satisfaction rate of 90%. As
the market stabilizes after a period of decline, the Group will focus on reducing
existing inventory while simultaneously replenishing land in a timely and precise
manner, promoting the optimization and quality improvement of the land bank

structure.
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Longfor Group Holdings Limited g 5 &= [ 2 j% 4 R

In 2024, the Group launched 11 new Paradise Walk projects in Nanjing,
Hefei, Suzhou, Chongqing, and Changsha. Combined with existing projects,
the commercial segment attained a 97% occupancy rate as of the end of 2024,
resulting in steady growth in both operating profit and cash flow. Through
scenario innovation and consumer pain points’ resolution, the commercial
investment team has created vibrant, high-quality consumer spaces in core cities,
achieving same-store growth in both sales and footfall even amid challenging
conditions. The Group’s strategic investment and iterative improvements in
commercial operational abilities serve not only as a stabilizer against industry

fluctuations but also as a powerful engine for driving asset appreciation.

Longfor Smart Asset Management, our asset management segment, has
established comprehensive asset management capabilities across the entire
lifecycle and all formats through six business divisions: rental housing,
industrial offices, serviced apartments, dynamic commercial, women’s and
children’s hospitals and elderly care services. This contributed an income of
RMB3.18 billion for the year. By continuously enhancing our asset management
capabilities, the Group is able to operate “good space” which helps preserve
and enhance asset value while driving the Group’s operation business to deepen
its presence in the existing market, forming a virtuous cycle of stable profit

contribution and cash return.

Longfor Intelligent Living achieved an revenue of RMB11.42 billion,
representing an increase of 8% year-on-year. It continuously expanded its
service radius, with its five major business divisions — residential management,
commercial property services, home decoration, selected products, and house
rental and sales — serving over 3.25 million homeowners and managing
an area of over 400 million square meters. Through enhancements to our
intelligent technology systems, we effectively manage various scenarios related
to safety, energy conservation, and space maintenance, making space usage
more convenient, services more personalized, and management more efficient.

Customer satisfaction rate has exceeded 90% for the 16th consecutive year.

Longfor Smart Construction provides one-stop, all-industry services covering
multiple modules such as research and planning, design, construction
management and fine engineering. With high-quality, cost-effective, and short-
cycle construction capabilities, it enhances operational efficiency and aids value
realization to clients. Longfor Intelligent Construction is revitalizing traditional

industries through digital transformation and intelligent manufacturing.
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Chairman’s Statement

The Group has fully integrated ESG governance into the core of its strategic
decision-making, embedding the “For You” principles into its corporate
development strategy. We actively practice low-carbon principals, ensuring
that 100% of our new projects meet the national green star building standards.
Additionally, we have developed a digital dual-carbon management platform
covering the entire business chain to comprehensively advance the achievement
of emission reduction targets. In terms of social responsibilities, the Group has
donated over RMB2 billion' in public welfare, benefiting 2.34 million people
nationwide, continuously delivering corporate citizenship values in areas such
as rural revitalization and educational support. Looking ahead, the Group
will enhance its corporate governance system to higher standard, care for the
environment, give back to society and establish a solid foundation for high-

quality and sustainable development.

The Group’s resilience in navigating industry cycles stems from its steadfast
commitment to strategic focus, its respect for and adherence to risk management,
and its deep focus on customer orientation. We believe that only by solidifying
the foundation of our enterprise can we gradually bottom out during industry

cycles, thereby achieving high-quality transformation and development.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to our

shareholders, customers, and the community for your continued support!

Longfor Group Holdings Limited
Chen Xuping

Chairman

! Including cumulative donations from the Group and its founder as
well as Longfor Foundation.
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

In 2024, revenue from property development business of the Group was
RMB100.77 billion. The Group delivered 7.619 million square meters of
property in gross floor area (GFA) terms. The gross profit margin of the
property development business was 6.1%. Recognized average selling price was
RMB13,226 per square meter in 2024.

Table 1: Breakdown of property development revenue of the Group in 2024

* * Amount excluding tax

e A SRR

Revenue Total GFA
ZRYAE TRTEE “R g TRTEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
AR¥FE#ET  AREFEHT L RE S I RE S
W City RMB million  RMB million 0’000 Sqm 0°000 Sqm
9% Xi'an 12,666 9,695 67.9 59.3
TR Chengdu 9,652 13,612 61.3 76.3
A Hefei 6,570 11,452 50.9 68.8
BRI Suzhou 5,473 2,621 23.8 14.6
HE Chonggqing 4,997 9,330 55.4 89.2
i Shanghai 4,949 5,658 14.6 15.5
b Changsha 4,880 4,860 38.3 43.2
K Tianjin 3,919 4,646 22.0 28.5
bigea] Jinan 3,824 2,526 31.6 25.8
b Beijing 3,530 6,123 14.7 20.9
M Quanzhou 3,181 331 23.5 41
TN Guangzhou 3,148 2,093 10.8 9.4
B Nanjing 2,987 4,460 17.9 219
{7 Guiyang 2,899 2,000 26.4 24.1
BE Changchun 2,535 2,048 33.6 22.2
7 Wuhan 2,174 5,021 14.1 47.0
B Hangzhou 2,121 20,127 12.5 77.9
H Qingdao 1,963 4,300 25.1 56.9
[ Kunming 1,863 2,829 21.4 19.8
& Shenyang 1,588 5,131 20.5 53.2
am Taizhou 1,512 1,121 9.3 7.4
M Fuzhou 1,355 3,534 153 25.2

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #g i#f & @ i i% B R 2 &)
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e Ao ST

Revenue Total GFA
e~ 11 [ B Ry TR
2024 2023 2024 2023
ARWHHT ARWHET L RES LREN
W City RMB million ~ RMB million 0’000 Sqm 0’000 Sgm
i3 Wuxi 1,215 4,502 13.6 26.4
il Hong Kong 1,148 2,110 0.4 0.7
B Lanzhou 1,089 1,866 12.0 18.9
J Xianyang 1,055 1,557 12.3 18.1
I Zhanjiang 830 232 8.9 2.2
FELL Tangshan 776 625 9.9 7.8
mE Yantai 695 726 17.7 10.7
1LF Jiangmen 653 30 9.9 0.8
M Xuzhou 604 - 5.1 -
HFHE Shijiazhuang 551 4,188 4.9 27.6
AR Shaoxing 517 975 2.7 7.3
i3] Haikou 508 1,168 3.6 6.6
B Zhengzhou 457 1,729 47 15.4
M Huizhou 427 1,989 6.2 15.1
PN Taiyuan 334 456 43 5.8
PN Dalian 308 624 39 7.9
M Wenzhou 272 150 5.2 1.0
g Ganzhou 231 970 3.6 14.2
RE Baoding 201 132 3.3 2.1
B i, Yancheng 182 565 1.1 2.9
L Weihai 166 548 2.0 6.4
-3/, Ningbo 119 611 1.4 4.7
= Jinzhong 103 173 1.4 23
Hith Others 540 6,413 12.9 54.7
Hast Total 100,767 155,857 761.9 1,070.8
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TR AEESRHEEEHARKL 0112 In 2024, the Group achieved contracted sales of RMB101.12 billion with sales of
BT > BRI ST 1248°F 07 K - BHE total GFA of 7.124 million square meters. Average selling price of GFA sold was
B ARE 1419470 T HK - B=A - 1) RMB14,194 per square meter. Contracted sales from Yangtze River Delta, Pan
P e R R G S ER AN AN Bohai Rim, Western China, Southern China and Central China were RMB29.06
EM200.6(80C ~ ARMF194.8187C » ARM2747  billion, RMB19.48 billion, RMB27.47 billion, RMB15.50 billion and RMB9.61
Bt~ ANR¥1ssoffn X AR 6 1ET - 7 billion respectively, accounting for 28.7%, 19.3%, 27.2%, 15.3% and 9.5% of
TG SE B A [ S S 31 28.7% ~ 19.3% ~ 27.2% » the contracted sales of the Group, respectively.

15.3%%9.5% °

F L DE AR B 4 [ 4 B AT A Table 2: Details of contracted sales of the Group in 2024
* G * Amount including tax
S A SR
Contracted sales Total GFA
TR TUE RS R TR
2024 2023 2024 2023
ARBEHT AREEHT Ik ATk
W City RMB million ~ RMB million 0’000 Sqm 0°000 Sqm
AR Chengdu 10,296 19,801 69.5 96.0
bl Hangzhou 7,156 4,514 28.8 33.2
[iiiE73 Xi'an 6,748 14,189 43.2 77.9
fRM Suzhou 6,448 9,699 31.3 39.3
s Beijing 4775 11,212 13.8 30.2
Fi Shanghai 4,567 5,689 12.4 11.7
B Wuhan 4,490 7,483 273 53.5
"W Changsha 4,152 6,044 33.6 46.8
Gl Chongging 4,080 7,474 49.1 80.4
T Jinan 4,047 4,856 27.4 31.1
M Guangzhou 3,525 3,165 12.2 11.9
& Shenyang 2,471 3,201 213 30.4
M Nanjing 2,267 4,991 12.2 21.1
BEH Kunming 2,252 2,631 15.4 19.1
H W Guiyang 2,211 2,152 22.4 12.8
oSl Shenzhen 2,117 714 6.1 2.5
B0 Foshan 2,097 795 14.6 5.9
R Tianjin 2,079 6,795 16.7 35.0
SR Quanzhou 2,044 4,034 14.3 26.9
A Hefei 1,850 10,591 17.0 58.8
BE Changchun 1,798 3,417 25.0 37.0
el Fuzhou 1,744 1,859 17.5 14.9
W Wenzhou 1,277 1,501 7.6 12,5
H M Changzhou 1,263 1,524 9.8 11.4
= Ningbo 1,233 4,157 4.5 19.4
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S A SR

Contracted sales Total GFA
TR TRTEE ZRTJUAE TRTEAE
2024 2023 2024 2023
AREEHT AREEHT Ik ATk
W City RMB million  RMB million 0’000 Sqm 0°000 Sgm
g n| Haikou 1,209 1,247 9.0 7.0
FE N Lanzhou 1,203 1,432 16.8 15.7
LR Shijiazhuang 1,025 2,403 9.2 16.3
&I Jinhua 1,018 709 5.0 3.1
ik Hong Kong 915 2,594 0.3 0.9
HM Huizhou 851 1,814 9.5 14.0
K Taiyuan 847 567 10.6 6.8
H Qingdao 821 3,103 13.8 414
B Zhengzhou 811 1,728 8.5 15.9
T Xianyang 601 1,470 7.3 14.2
am Taizhou 576 1,745 5.6 11.2
A Yantai 564 746 10.3 13.7
) Wuxi 411 2,033 5.1 13.6
M Huzhou 380 572 3.3 4.0
il Zhongshan 366 325 3.7 2.4
il Nantong 343 403 2.8 34
= Jinzhong 329 430 4.9 5.1
i Zhuhai 322 637 3.3 4.9
L Tangshan 251 504 3.5 6.0
B i Yancheng 229 125 1.8 0.7
HE Baoding 224 44 3.7 1.0
ks Weihai 207 367 3.1 5.3
T Zhanjiang 112 741 3.2 7.9
& Xiamen 101 536 1.4 5.2
HAt Others 413 4,725 13.7 40.2
Azt Total 101,116 173,488 712.4 1,079.6

REFZFEFZA=+—H > AEMCEHE As at December 31, 2024, the Group had sold but unrecognized contracted sales
ARG G R 8 & BUA NI 28218 7T - HIRY of RMB128.2 billion (with GFA of approximately 10 million square meters).
H1551,0008°F 7K o
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INVESTMENT PROPERTY OPERATION

The Group has been intensifying the management of its properties based on
its coverage in first and second-tier cities in China. Currently, the investment
property operation business of the Group are mainly commercial investments
and assets management. For commercial investments, the Group has adhered
to its strategy of asset light and asset heavy model while steadily facilitating its
presence in core cities, those investments principally include two main product
lines, namely urban shopping malls under the brand name of “Paradise Walk”
and community shopping malls under the brand name of “Starry Street”. For
assets management, it encompasses six major divisions, including rental housing
branded as “Goyoo”, dynamic commercial pedestrian precinct branded as
“Hybrid Space”, serviced apartment branded as “Hsiafei Mansion”, industrial
office branded as “Blue Engine”, women’s and children’s hospital branded as
“Youyou Baobei”, and elderly residence branded as “Chunshan Wanshu” with
an aim to offering customers more diverse products and services. In particular,
“Goyoo”, the rental housing, aiming to providing new generations with
comprehensive rental housing services, has commenced operation in several high-
magnitude cities such as Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Chengdu,

Hangzhou, Chongqing, Wuhan and Nanjing.

In 2024, the rental income, net of tax, of the Group’s investment property
operation business was RMB13.52 billion®, representing an increase of 4.5% as
compared to last year. The rental income from shopping malls, rental housing
and others accounted for 78.8%*, 19.6% and 1.6% of the total rental income
respectively. The gross profit margin of the investment property operation
business was 75.0%, representing a decrease of 0.8% as compared to last
year. As at December 31, 2024, the Group has shopping malls totaling 9.30
million square meters in GFA (12.43 million square meters in GFA including
parking space) that had commenced operation with an occupancy rate of 96.8%.
Additionally, 124,000 apartments by Goyoo had also commenced operation,
boasting a leading position in the industry in terms of its scales with the
occupancy rate of 95.3%. The occupancy rate of the portions of Goyoo which have
commenced operation for more than six months was 95.6%.

#

Excluding Beijing Chang an Paradise Walk etc.
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K= TR R R A Table 3: Breakdown of rental income of shopping malls of the Group in 2024"
* PEBA * Amount excluding tax
e
ZRE —F_=
2024 2023
fhless e
e I HARA Al i ELIN EE:: i
Rental %of  Occupancy Rental %of  Occupancy
GFA income revenue rate income revenue rate
Tk  AREFI AR BF7
Sqm RMB000 RMB000
EL-3 VR 120778 434303 40% 94.9% 510,245 5.0% 96.3%
Chongging North Paradise Walk
EREMATE 76,031 97,292 0.9% 97.5% 104,800 1.0% 94.1%
Chongging West Paradise Walk
ELEIWR 4559 729870 6.6% 95.3% 734,790 11% 93.2%
Chongging Time Paradise Walk
WA =TE XM 23314 13,221 0.1% 96.9% 8,589 0.1% 77.7%
Chengdu Three Thousand Paradise Walk
PRI f 215,536 146,969 1.3% 94.9% 140,134 1.4% 90.6%
Chengdu North Paradise Walk
TR K 125,172 119,420 1.1% 98.0% 111,781 1.1% 95.7%
Chengdu Time Paradise Walk
TRk 221,286 540,096 4.9% 97.6% 539,095 5.2% 98.0%
Beijing Changying Paradise Walk
UL EXUN] 151,135 319,422 29% 98.6% 306,117 3.0% 99.2%
Hangzhou Jinsha Paradise Walk
K 91,638 130,447 1.2% 98.7% 137,056 1.3% 97.0%
Chengdu Jinnan Paradise Walk
T RER 144,565 250,782 23% 98.2% 255,828 2.5% 98.5%
Beijing Daxing Paradise Walk
IR 1L PR 151,25 131,949 1.2% 96.5% 144,139 1.4% 95.1%
Shanghai Honggiao Paradise Walk
BEUM K 111,927 147,350 1.3% 98.4% 157,619 1.5% 97.1%
Chongqing U-City Paradise Walk
ERRERE 93,152 115,582 1.1% 98.6% 131,302 1.3% 98.6%
Chongging Hometown Paradise Walk
HUMNEIL K 180,694 42,110 3.9% 98.2% 408,581 40% 98.9%
Hangzhou Binjiang Paradise Walk
BRI X fr 209,725 411,520 3.7% 98.9% 381,884 3.7% 97.6%
Suzhou Shishan Paradise Walk
IR PR 98,339 247,683 23% 98 4% 228,955 22% 99.1%
Shanghai Baoshan Paradise Walk
H MK 119,328 125,073 1.1% 97.6% 124,010 1.2% 94.9%
Changzhou Longcheng Paradise Walk
s ARG 103,688 192,535 1.8% 97.5% 206,730 2.0% 98.7%
Beijing Fangshan Paradise Walk
P K A 152,639 183,534 1.7% 99.0% 160,480 1.6% 96.6%
Chengdu Xichen Paradise Walk
BT K 1 140,000 182,994 1.7% 98.8% 160,872 1.6% 98.6%
Chengdu Binjiang Paradise Walk
HUMPGE K 130,063 260,416 2.5% 98.6% 254,766 25% 98.2%
Hangzhou Xixi Paradise Walk
UTAES PR 83,000 118,500 1.1% 97.1% 128,261 1.2% 94.6%

Hangzhou Zijing Paradise Walk

£ # Annual Report 2024 ~ 2§



26

GV RE Vi

Management Discussion and Analysis

ZRAE ZEFERE
2024 2023
et e
e Iy HARA A iz HMeRA ERA i
Rental %of  Occupancy Rental %of  Occupancy
GFA income revenue rate income revenue rate
Tk  AREFI ARBFIL
Sqm RMB000 RMB000
iR 42,053 62,032 0.6% 96.3% 62,682 0.6% 95.1%
Shanghai Huajing Paradise Walk
FiERTRE 94,859 189,413 1.7% 98.0% 179,92 1.7% 99.5%
Shanghai Minhang Paradise Walk
LR 98,320 92,426 0.8% 99.1% 82,816 0.8% 97.9%
Hefei Yaohai Paradise Walk
MR A AR 108,000 53,586 0.5% 93.8% 60,683 0.6% 93.2%
Nanjing Liuhe Paradise Walk
kX 52,563 100,982 0.9% 95.6% 108,106 1.1% 99.7%
Beijing Chang’an Paradise Walk
PR K f 120,367 145,25 1.3% 97.0% 150993 1.5% 95.6%
Nanjing Longwan Paradise Walk
EEYEPR 146,286 149,592 1.4% 96.6% 148,935 1.4% 95.6%
Nanjing Jiangbei Paradise Walk
[l N i 78,962 92,725 0.8% 98.6% 86,109 0.8% 96.9%
Xi'an Xiangti Paradise Walk
BESY K 204,113 244,136 22% 95.7% 266,524 26% 9429
Chongging Jinsha Paradise Walk
A E K T 114,227 112,408 1.0% 97.1% 110,550 1.1% 93.7%
Chengdu Shangcheng Paradise Walk
BRM LW K 1 112,537 108,268 1.0% 95.6% 114,466 1.1% 96.5%
Suzhou Star Lake Paradise Walk
BERE R 131,060 155,330 1.4% 95.7% 126950 1.2% 94.1%
Chongging Lijia Paradise Walk
R L K 77,571 86,676 0.8% 97.1% 92,668 0.9% 98.0%
J'nan Olympic Sports Center Paradise Walk
ek 92,014 151,750 1.4% 98.6% 158,814 1.5% 98.4%
Beijing Lize Paradise Walk
R K 101,629 66,948 0.6% 95.1% 67,738 0.7% 94.1%
Changsha Yanghu Paradise Walk
RETERH 138,583 211213 1.9% 98.4% 214,054 21% 98.5%
Wuhan Emperial Paradise Walk
RN 83,000 102,018 0.9% 99.5% 90,767 0.9% 100.0%
Chengdu Jinchen Paradise Walk
R KA 112,123 110,161 1.0% 96.1% 123,897 1.2% 93.1%
Nanjing Hexi Paradise Walk
B K 105,311 173,584 1.6% 98.5% 164,056 1.6% 99.1%
Beijing Xiyue Paradise Walk
WMILR KB 107,125 86,170 0.8% 97.2% 89,335 0.9% 97.0%
Hangzhou Jiangdong Paradise Walk
BN R R K Ay 114,200 181,171 1.7% 98.6% 171,582 1.7% 98.6%
Suzhou Dongwu Paradise Walk
WM TRk 125,186 164,904 1.5% 97.1% 172,253 1.7% 95.2%
Hangzhou Dinggiao Paradise Walk
EEARKS 138,034 90,695 0.8% 95.4% 91,235 0.9% 91.6%
Chongqing Gongyuan Paradise Walk
-3 BN 125,158 133,701 1.2% 98.3% 124,233 1.2% 97.0%

Chongqing High-Tech Paradise Walk

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #g i#f & @ i i% B R 2 &)
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e {113 “RTER
2024 2023
il il
BEmE  HSIA A HE%E  HRUA it gk
Rental %of  Occupancy Rental %of  Occupancy
GFA income revenue rate income revenue rate
ik ARETFT AW T
Sqm RMB 000 RMB000
ARSI KA 14721 117,148 L1% 983% 103,129 1.0% 96.4%
Chengdu Shuxin Paradise Walk
AR 107,101 225,166 21% 99.0% 215,114 21% 99.7%
Beijing Yizhuang Paradise Walk
HRBMEE 86,939 69,341 0.6% 98.4% 63,476 0.6% 97.2%
Qingdao Jiaozhou Paradise Walk
wh R K 86,312 66,113 0.6% 98.6% 56,195 0.5% 90.4%
Shenyang Hunnan Paradise Walk
B 104163 21063 1.9% 93% 194218 1.9% 99.0%
Shanghai Fengxian Paradise Walk
IRGEA IR 72919 95,261 09% 97.1% 92,403 09% 99.4%
Shanghai Jinhui Paradise Walk
BB AR 53,884 34,386 03% 95.1% 39,787 04% 94.2%
Hangzhou Wujiao Paradise Walk
TN K 110899 120,639 L1% 95.8% 126384 1.2% 96.2%
Ningbo Yinzhou Paradise Walk
REAY R 141399 147910 1.3% 91.2% 149,679 1.5% 96.6%
Wuhan Baisha Paradise Walk
I PR 95,463 68,000 0.6% 95.5% 74,755 0.7% 97.0%
Nanchang Qingshanhu Paradise Walk
WUMB Kt 73,896 67,839 0.6% 98.7% 57,513 0.6% 97.8%
Hangzhou Guofang Paradise Walk
RUKXE K 105,372 89,490 0.8% 97.6% 58,100 0.6% 98.2%
Changsha Furong Paradise Walk
L LRIPNG 91,437 98,341 09% 94.8% 69,443 0.7% 95.7%
Suzhou Xujiang Paradise Walk
iR 92,344 75,320 0.7% 96.4% 47,890 0.5% 97.1%
Ningbo Haishu Paradise Walk
R LR K b 93,121 71,711 0.7% 98.1% 12,278 0.1% 100.0%
Ji'nan Beichen Paradise Walk
4784 PN 93,262 124,092 L1% 94.4% 53,107 0.5% 99.2%
Beijing Beiyuan Paradise Walk
i3 MRt 63,206 80,020 0.7% 94.1% 75473 0.7% 96.3%
Xi'an Qujiang Paradise Walk
BHRER S 105,991 73,922 0.7% 100.0% - - -
Chengdu Dong'an Paradise Walk
F AR LR B 125,885 53,523 0.5% 98.4% - - .
Nanjing Yushan Paradise Walk
EEZHERS 127,378 55,292 0.5% 97.5% - - -
Chongging Yunling Paradise Walk
bR 222,032 60,080 0.5% 95.1% - - -
Haikou Paradise Walk
BRI B 143,200 55,725 0.5% 100.0% - - -
Suzhou Xiangcheng Paradise Walk
SV 133,560 21,045 0.2% 96.2% - - -
Shaoxing Jinghu Paradise Walk
GLEPN 121,020 31,079 03% 99.2% - - -

Hefei High-Tech Paradise Walk
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TR ZEFERE
2024 2023
et e
e Iy HARA A iz HMeRA ERA i
Rental %of  Occupancy Rental %of  Occupancy
GFA income revenue rate income revenue rate
Tk  AREFI ARBFIL
Sqm RMB000 RMB000
FEARK 113,947 19317 0.2% 90.1% - - -
Xi'an Weiyang Paradise Walk
PRELRIDRE] 128,067 52,496 0.5% 99.1% - - -
Tianjin Meijiang Paradise Walk
RUATERE 80,498 11,732 0.1% 98.6% - - -
Changsha Yueliangdao Paradise Walk
BN PR 76,134 29,080 0.3% 82.7% - - -
Chongqing Jiangxia Paradise Walk
F#/Nat 8,797,022 10,626,955 96.8% 96.9% 9,883,716 96.2% 96.2%
Paradise Walk Subtotal
B 9969 11,057 0.1% 89.2% 18,070 0.2% 85.5%
Chongging Crystal Castle
ERERENE 54,618 40,766 04% 92.5% 39,682 0.4% 91.8%
Chongging Chunsen Starry Street
RN 29413 13,328 0.1% 100.0% 13,639 0.1% 100.0%
Chonggqing Fairy Castle
RS g 6,320 36,360 0.3% 100.0% 34723 0.3% 100.0%
Beijing Summer Palace Starry Street
MR RENE 44,227 62,552 0.6% 95.1% 58,844 0.6% 96.3%
Xi'an Daxing Starry Street
HiERTENE 24,740 25,842 0.2% 99.2% 21,882 0.2% 96.8%
Shanghai Minhang Starry Street
P LT 31,168 40,641 0.4% 100.0% 35,167 0.3% 99.2%
Chengdu Wuhou Starry Street
BREEMENE 52,500 55,730 05% 99.1% 55,317 05% 95.6%
Chongqing Aijia Starry Street
FEMNAEIL B b 38,190 18,588 0.2% 95.1% 13,519 0.1% 90.6%
Longfor Leshan Starry Street
AR AR 39,663 22,196 0.2% 96.6% 1,967 0.1% 93.3%
Shijiazhuang Dongchuang Longfor
HEMOCO 29,104 22,251 0.2% 90.7% 23,832 0.2% 91.3%
Chongqing MOCO
Hity 145966 AEFIN/A 0.0%  AEMNA 77,177 0.8%  AEMNA
Others
RBEE R NGt 505,878 349311 3.2% 96.3% 393,819 3.8% 95.3%
Starry Street and Others Subtotal
Ao ARA R 9302900 10,976,266 100.0% 96.8% 10,277,535 100.0% 96.2%
Total rental income of shopping malls
## RN EEEE AN R 3sE T B " In 2024, the total sales volume for shopping malls were RMB73.5 billion. Annual average
FHH 3288 NIK » daily foot traftic was 3.28 million.

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #g i#f & @ i i% B R 2 &)
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Major investment properties under construction of the Group are as follows:

Table 4: Major investment properties under construction of the Group

AL S T

Estimated

Commencement
TRl B 2 g of Operation ~ Planned GFA
Frrk
Sqm
B3 DR Chongging Longxing Paradise Walk 20254 2025 75,652
[IEesE SN Xi'an Changle Paradise Walk 20254 2025 103,029
E SN Chonggqing Nanping Paradise Walk 20254F 2025 111,192
HEEF XY Nanning Qingxiu Paradise Walk 20254 2025 121,483
BN b3k KA Hangzhou Shangcheng Paradise Walk 20254 2025 135,945
BB K Wuhan Xinrong Paradise Walk 20254F 2025 152,839
TR VG &l K Ji'nan West Railway Station Paradise Walk 20254 2025 157,514
RERIT R Wuchang Binjiang Paradise Walk 20254 2025 170,600
U BEAR R A Chengdu Yidu Paradise Walk 20265 K DIR 2026 and thereafter 101,062
WM R 1 Hangzhou Binkang Paradise Walk 20264F K DAR 2026 and thereafter 101,331
UK E Changsha Kaifu Paradise Walk 20265 B AR 2026 and thereafter 111,591
RIH K Changsha Xinyao Paradise Walk 2026%F L AR 2026 and thereafter 127,940
[EIEAWN Kunming Time Paradise Walk 20264F K DAR 2026 and thereafter 133,022
RIES BRG] Hangzhou Yuncheng Paradise Walk 2026%F K LAR 2026 and thereafter 135,046

B4t BHSER S IR & LR - 7RG FAT
BAVRRMAE ~ ML F BB
AR 2 AR R B Y A (R

47,6180

Due to the rental increase of shopping malls in operation, continuous investments
in shopping malls under construction and the development of rental housing and

industrial office and other businesses, the valuation gain of investment properties

of the Group amounted to RMB4.76 billion in 2024.
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PROPERTY SERVICE

The Group has continued to improve its service capability and service chain.
Currently, the Group’s property service business mainly comprises property
management and entrusted construction business. Property management mainly
includes five major divisions, namely residential management, commercial
property services, home decoration, selected products, and house rental and
sales, covering 13 business types, including residential, commercial, office,
industrial parks, corporate headquarters, urban services, hospitals and public
venues. Longfor Smart Construction’s entrusted construction business integrates
the Group’s full-industry development experience and digital technology
capabilities, leveraging on the synergies of the core businesses to offer customers
with full-industry, full-cycle, digital “one-stop solutions”, which mainly
comprise five major product and service modules, including positioning
planning, virtual construction, development management, urban regeneration

and digital twin.

In 2024, the total income, net of tax, generated from the property service business
of the Group was RMB13.19 billion, representing an increase of 10.4% as
compared to last year. The gross profit margin of the property service business
was 31.4%, representing an increase of 0.4% as compared to last year. As at
December 31, 2024, the area under management was 410 million square meters.
Longfor Smart Construction’s entrusted construction business has spread to
Beijing, Shanghai, Chengdu, Chongqing, Xi'an, Hangzhou and other core first-
and second-tier cities, and it has continued to focus on deep cultivation and

achieve high-quality and rapid development by relying on key-client strategy.

COST CONTROL

In 2024, benefiting from the Group’s continuous focus on organization and
business efficiency improvement and high quality talents, the Group’s share of
administrative expenses to development contracted sales and investment property
operation and property service income was 3.5%. To enhance the brand influence
of the Group, the selling expenses as a percentage to development contracted sales

and investment property operation and property service income was 3.3%.

SHARE OF RESULTS OF JOINT VENTURES

In 2024, the contribution of joint ventures was mainly from projects such as the
Group’s 49.9%-owned Suzhou Oriental Tower Project. The attributable profit

after tax of the Group in joint ventures was RMBG607 million.
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SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES

In 2024, the contribution of associates was mainly from projects such as the
Group’s 25.0%-owned Putian Shouxi Project. The attributable profit after tax of

the Group in associates was RMB239 million.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expense includes PRC enterprise income tax and land appreciation
tax. In 2024, the enterprise income tax expense and land appreciation tax of
the Group were RMBS5.05 billion and RMB1.56 billion, respectively. The total

income tax expenses for the period amounted to RMB6.61 billion.

PROFITABILITY

In 2024, the Group’s core net profit margin was 6.4%, while that of last year
was 8.7%; and core net profit margin attributable to owners of the Company was
5.5%, while that of last year was 6.3%. It was mainly due to the combined effects
of revenue, expenses, share of results of joint ventures and associates and changes

in tax expenses for the year.

LAND BANK REPLENISHMENT

As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s total land bank was 33.12 million square
meters or 24.26 million square meters on an attributable basis. The average unit
land cost was RMB4,304 per square meter. In terms of regional breakdown, the
land bank in Pan Bohai Rim, western China, central China, Yangtze River Delta
and southern China accounted for 34.6%, 27.6%, 15.0%, 13.9% and 8.9% of

total land bank, respectively.

In 2024, the Group acquired new land bank with total GFA of 830,000 square
meters or 390,000 square meters on an attributable basis. Average cost of
acquisition on an attributable basis was RMB13,285 per square meter. In terms
of regional breakdown, the newly acquired area in western China, Yangtze River
Delta, Pan Bohai Rim, southern China and central China accounted for 39.4%,
34.7%, 13.7%, 8.8% and 3.4% of the total GFA of the newly acquired land

bank, respectively.

Subsequent to the reporting period®, the Group acquired new land bank with a
total GFA of 140,000 square meters or 98,000 square meters on an attributable
basis. In terms of regional breakdown, the newly acquired areas all are located in

Yangtze River Delta.

’ As of March 7, 2025
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The geographic spread of the land bank of the Group was as follows:

Table 5: Breakdown of the land bank of the Group

A R Frflitehl MEsREEZEWIR  PRibLAl

Attributable
Hh [ Region W City Total GFA % of Total GFA % of Total
FHK FHK
Sqm Sqm
B lE  Pan Bohai Rim fEa Yantai 5,732,643 173% 5,732,643 23.6%
H Qingdao 1,281,741 3.9% 885,633 3.6%
bigea] Jinan 1,197,281 3.6% 1,057,104 4.4%
& Shenyang 1,032,403 3.1% 619,606 2.6%
Ef Changchun 584,044 1.8% 441,289 1.8%
TRiE Baoding 520,668 1.6% 520,668 2.1%
PN: Tianjin 331,976 1.0% 242,460 1.0%
AR Shijiazhuang 204,334 0.6% 138,919 0.6%
b Beijing 181,591 0.5% 51,265 0.2%
PN Taiyuan 150,236 0.5% 150,236 0.6%
L Tangshan 110,171 0.3% 55,085 0.2%
= Jinzhong 83,532 0.3% 83,532 0.3%
B Weihai 52,234 0.2% 36,564 0.2%
INGEE Subtotal 11,462,854 34.7% 10,015,004 41.2%
FE b [ Central China wE Wuhan 1,804,569 5.4% 936,353 3.9%
RN Ezhou 1,654,510 5.0% 579,079 2.4%
&Y Changsha 970,026 2.9% 804,856 3.3%
B Zhengzhou 456,724 1.4% 269,777 1.1%
M Ganzhou 69,648 0.2% 48,754 0.2%
ANet Subtotal 4,955,477 14.9% 2,638,819 10.9%
T Western China i Chongqing 2,701,883 8.2% 2,059,424 8.5%
#i5 Guiyang 1,845,942 5.6% 1,050,715 4.3%
TR Chengdu 1,210,334 3.7% 892,548 3.7%
i) Xianyang 829,952 2.5% 459,115 1.9%
fiii7s Xi'an 778,028 2.3% 628,510 2.6%
H Kunming 628,456 1.9% 426,585 1.8%
TEM Lanzhou 623,105 1.9% 498,055 2.1%
£z Yuxi 515,923 1.6% 515,923 2.1%
irsis Subtotal 9,133,623 27.7% 6,530,875 27.0%
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AR TR Pt REsRREAETIRT  PRAb LAl

Attributable
o [ Region W City Total GFA % of Total GFA % of Total

FHK FHK

Sqm Sqm
R=MMIE  Yangtze River Delta H{| Hangzhou 1,280,409 3.9% 845,023 3.5%
B Nanjing 521,487 1.6% 432,333 1.8%
[l Suzhou 483,341 1.5% 272,404 1.1%
AN Wenzhou 467,754 1.4% 244,816 1.0%
A Hefei 359,398 1.1% 299,495 1.2%
233 Ningbo 280,187 0.8% 140,094 0.6%
N Changzhou 271,735 0.8% 195,498 0.8%
i Shanghai 263,169 0.8% 177,993 0.7%
[ Yancheng 246,650 0.7% 152,052 0.6%
i3] Wuxi 229,248 0.7% 168,444 0.7%
P Nantong 152,097 0.5% 97,834 0.4%
=Rl Taizhou 48,970 0.1% 14,985 0.1%
/NgEE Subtotal 4,604,445 13.9% 3,040,971 12.5%
R Hb Southern China 1] Xiamen 567,844 1.7% 227,138 0.9%
JE N Guangzhou 410,499 1.2% 365,927 1.5%
il Foshan 254,286 0.8% 196,114 0.8%
I Haikou 240,192 0.7% 240,192 1.0%
SN Quanzhou 221,620 0.7% 134,961 0.6%
5 Dongguan 205,435 0.6% 205,435 0.8%
faM Fuzhou 195,631 0.6% 129,457 0.5%
R Zhaoqing 186,346 0.6% 130,442 0.5%
T Qingyuan 135,359 0.4% 69,033 0.3%
I Shenzhen 134,406 0.4% 86,200 0.4%
[ Nanning 130,675 0.4% 64,031 0.3%
B Huizhou 125,267 0.4% 117,472 0.5%
=R Zhanjiang 60,087 0.2% 30,644 0.1%
Rt Zhuhai 53,453 0.2% 26,726 0.1%
Hrly Zhongshan 37,914 0.1% 15,166 0.1%
NS Subtotal 2,959,014 9.0% 2,038,938 8.4%
Yt Total 33,115,413 100.0% 24,264,607 100.0%
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Table 6: Land acquisitions in 2024

o [ JHH %5 i JeA 2 MREmA MR
Attributable Attributable
Region Project Name City Interest Total GFA GFA
% Pk Pk
% Sqm Sqm
BHfhi IR BF 2 A RS [ Jent 32% 113,448 36,303
Pan Bohai Rim  Changping Life Science Park Project Beijing
s 113,448 36,303
Subtotal
il [ L 0 A B 3 E 100% 27,275 27,275
Central China ~ Hongshan District University of Wuhan
Technology Plot
/it 27,275 27,275
Subtotal
74 4 ALK 3 1R W% 60% 72,558 43,535
Western China ~ Hangtian 31 Mu Plot Xi'an
S At JIHS 55% 32,021 17,611
Jinniu Renbei 14 Mu Plot Chengdu
PR QUL Y] 30% 221,718 66,515
Southwest Sea Q Plot Kunming
/it 326,297 127,661
Subtotal

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #g 1 = & # % & R A &)
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Ml [ T H 4 1] JREAHE 7 MR SEmAR  RERS AU
Attributable Attributable
Region Project Name City Interest Total GFA GFA
% Fhk Fhk
% Sqm Sqm
REM iR ZR BT L i 50% 97,671 48,836
Yangtze River  Fengxian New Town Plot Shanghai
Delta T 48mAL L B 50% 93,989 46,994
Puyan 48 Mu Plot Hangzhou
R e SR I M 51% 95,539 48,725
Xiangcheng High-Speed Railway Suzhou
New Town Plot
INEF 287,199 144,555
Subtotal
TE R I [ o 1Ly 48 B i 70% 73,145 51,201
Southern China  Foshan Amusement Park Plot Foshan
/NGt 73,145 51,201
Subtotal
At 827,364 386,995
Total

ARG WA > A 42 ] S Sh 8 B 1 b B 48 20 A The details of the land bank acquired by the Group subsequent to the reporting

U period” are as follows:

Table 7: Land acquisitions subsequent to the period”

FL Bt Ly

Hb [ HH AW i MEMRER:  RHARRSEAR  RERRE A
Attributable Expected Attributable
Region Project Name City Interest GFA GFA
7 Tk FAK
% Sqgm Sqm
REM R ES PN plhiiky] iy 70% 65,537 45,876
Yangtze River ~ Fengxian Paradise Walk North Plot Shanghai
Delta SRR B 70% 74,706 52,294
Hoston South Plot Suzhou
A5t 140,243 98,170
Total
HEFHHE=HLHA / As of March 7, 2025
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FINANCIAL POSITION

As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s consolidated borrowings amounted to
RMB176.32 billion. Cash in hand was RMB49.42 billion*. Net debt to equity
ratio (net debt divided by total equity) was 51.7%. Liabilities to asset ratio
(ex. Pre-sale Deposits)** was 57.2%. The credit rating of the Group was BB by
Standard & Poor, Ba3 by Moody’s, BB by Fitch, and AAA by CCXR, Shanghai

Brilliance®#*,

* Of them, regulated pre-sale funds amounted to RMB16.75 billion

HE Liabilities to asset ratio (ex. Pre-sale Deposits) = (total liabilities — Pre-sale Deposits)/(total

assets — Pre-sale Deposits)

##%  The ratings given by CCXR and Shanghai Brilliance were for the rating on Chongqing
Longhu Development Co., Ltd., a major subsidiary of the Company in Mainland China.

Approximately 86.4% of the Group’s total borrowings were denominated
in RMB, while 13.6% were denominated in foreign currencies. The Group
maintains its borrowings in foreign currencies in a low proportion with all

exchange rate swap so as to control the risk in exchange losses.

Approximately RMB36.69 billion of the Group’s consolidated borrowings were
with fixed interest rates ranging from 3.0% to 4.8% per annum, depending on
the term of the loans, and the other loans were quoted at floating rates. As of
December 31, 2024, the fixed interest debt as a percentage of total debt was 21%
(December 31, 2023: 32%).

The Group’s average finance cost was 4.0% per annum. The average contract
borrowing period was 10.27 years. The unsecured debt as a percentage of
total debt was 37.9%. The debt due within one year was RMB30.24 billion,
accounting for 17.2% of total debt. Excluding regulated pre-sale funds and

restricted capital, cash to short-term debt multiple was 1.03X.

EMPLOYEES AND COMPENSATION POLICY

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had 29,738 full-time employees in China.
Of these employees, 4,443 worked in the property development business, 3,457
in the investment property operation business, and 21,838 in the services and

other business. Average age of our employees is 33.5 years old.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group determines remuneration for its employees based on their
performance, work experience, and prevailing market wage levels. The total
remuneration package includes base salary, cash bonuses, and share-based
rewards. The distribution of cash bonuses is assessed and determined by
considering multiple factors, such as the Group’s achievement of its performance
targets and the scores recorded on the balanced scorecards of its subsidiaries.
Additionally, the Group provides training programs to its employees from time
to time, including but not limited to new hire training aimed at enhancing their

skills and knowledge.

REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

In September 2024, the Political Bureau of the CPC Central Committee first
highlighted the importance of “preventing further decline and back to recovery
of property market”, and emphasized the need to address the issues of reducing
housing inventory and optimizing new housing offerings. The national new home
sales reached RMB9.7 trillion, representing a year-on-year decline of 17%. Since
the beginning of 2025, macroeconomic policies have become more proactive in
stabilizing growth and expectations, and the industry policies have entered a

phase of coordinated efforts on both supply and demand sides.

Based on the high-quality development model, the Group centers on three
business segments of property development, investment property operation
and property service and firmly pursue the synergies between five major
business divisions such as property development, commercial investment,
asset management, property management, and smart construction. Guided by
customer needs, the Group continuously iterates and upgrades its organizational

structure to enhance routine practices, operational efficiency and quality.

In terms of property development, the Group achieved contracted sales of
RMB101.1 billion for the year, with sales in tier-1 and tier-2 cities accounting
for over 90%. The consolidated cash collection rate exceeded 100%, continuing
to maintain high-quality cash collection. In 2025, the Group will maintain
its investment strategy in core cities, flexibly launch saleable resources with
consideration of market situations, focus on inventory reduction, and continue
enhancing its product offerings to create “high-quality housing” that are safe,

comfortable, green, and intelligent.

# 3% Annual Report 2024

37




38

GV RE Vi

Management Discussion and Analysis

FSESCE T > AAF IS 1 R -
AR S o MESR > FEWIRERFHER
SOME By > WK AL RIR T 2 979 - HEWITH
FHEUETHRAFRIRE ~ RTHE RS - B
FRE > 2SR I R7% 21098 A

B o 20255 FHEUHTBA 11 BERS5 » AMFERTM ~

ALEMEEEHMREEEE | HREERR
S S R W - B B’
ZHEREGG > WERMAE - EFEML - R
WA P TR T T SV
B IBEMZTT - HEMHER EE 24 TR
31SMEARE s Horp s RAAAE MM [EE s
BOATR I R4% 26 s ARME - BEFEK
e 2 BR 26 B IR LR 3 12 48R » IR A%
95.3% ©

WA BT o HE AR T RO E R
B fEE ARz MBI > BR A A
e P RBS W - RAEEBIA 42 AR
W o BAARY) AL R AECF O oK o [
BT R > MR RN 2 MR
# > EEURBHEME - B TR

AL R M MR
B > IR SE R R AR
A A Bl (3 F74

P REREF
%I%ﬂ??i ENLL K
FIHREEIEE - BB

PR B > SEB TR R AL R - U - RS
BRSO — > THWT -
TEARAR > ASE AR DL B B R D

W o ERFFERAL RIS HRNG o A B
152 o [ > 003 I i) A B R 25 SE B AL A
HBINAEAER  FHERTHE BB A KA
TERK > ST A NERE - SRR - W

Fr -

! THIEE & 2 s 1

Longfor Group Holdings Limited g 5 &= [ 2 j% 4 R

N

In terms of commercial investment, the Group successfully launched 11 new
shopping malls throughout the year, including 4 light-asset projects. By the end
of the year, Longfor Commercial has 89" shopping malls in operation with an
occupancy rate of 97%. Longfor Commercial continued to renovate and enhance
its existing projects, improving the consumer experience and strengthening
customer loyalty, leading to an annual rental income increase of 7% year-on-
year to RMB10.98 billion. The Group plans to launch 11 new shopping malls
in 2025, located in cities such as Hangzhou, Wuhan, and Chongqing, with both
light and heavy assets developing steadily.

The Group’s asset management brand, “Longfor Smart Asset Management,”
has leveraged its diverse business categories to establish a spatial asset chain
encompassing housing, employment, entertainment, medical care, and elderly
care, spanning six major businesses: rental housing, industrial office, serviced
apartment, dynamic commercial pedestrian precinct, women’s & children’s
hospital, and elderly care services. This diversification enables the Group to
provide a wider array of services. For the year, Longfor Smart Asset Management
achieved revenue of RMB3.18 billion, with rental income from the rental housing
Goyoo increasing by 4% year-on-year to RMB2.65 billion. By the end of the
year, the number of rooms in operation of Goyoo reached 124,000 units, with an

occupancy rate of 95.3%.

In terms of property management, Longfor Intelligent Living enhanced its service
quality while expanding its offerings to commercial business and urban spaces,
in addition to its residential services. The Group achieved annual revenue of
RMB11.42 billion and managed a property area of 410 million square meters
by the end of the year. Furthermore, leveraging digital technology, the Group
established an efficient intelligent space service system to refine service and

optimize the experience for property owners.

Longfor Smart Construction strategically advances key client partnerships,
leveraging its full business development experience, digital technology
capabilities, and integrated segment synergy advantages to obtain high-quality
projects and achieve high-quality and rapid development. Its business has spread

to core tier-1 and tier-2 cities, such as Beijing, Hangzhou, and Chengdu.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to prioritize high-quality development
as its core strategy, adhering to solid finance management strategy and steadily
reducing debt scale. The Group also aims to achieve endogenous growth across
all business segments through positive operating cash flow, enhancing earnings
contributions from non-development segments, which will strengthen its

business foundation and promote more robust and sustainable development.

! Number of shopping malls after the combination of separated phases of one singe project.
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Biographies of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Xuping, aged 42, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on August 25, 2021. Currently, Mr. Chen was the Chief Executive
Officer (“CEQ”) of the Group and the Chairman of the board of directors and a
member of Investment Committee and Environmental, Social and Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr. Chen joined the Group in 2008 and served as
a construction manager, project manager, regional general manager and general
manager of property development core business. Mr. Chen graduated from

Tsinghua University with a Master Degree in civil engineering in 2008.

Mr. Zhao Yi, aged 48, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on
March 18, 2015 and is currently the Chief Financial Officer of (“CFO”) the Group
and a member of the Investment Committee. He joined the Group in 2006 and
has served as the senior manager of Chongqing Longfor, the financial controller
of Chengdu Longfor, the head of the Group’s Financial Management Centre
and the general manager of the Department of Finance of the Group. Mr. Zhao
graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law ("' A A8 EL7E
KE), majoring in international accounting and obtained a bachelor degree in
business administration. He is a member of China Institute of Certified Public

Accountants. Before joining the Group, he served at Pan-China (Chongqing)

Certified Public Accountants (B & PN AR ) in China.

Mr. Zhang Xuzhong, aged 50, Mr. Zhang, was appointed as an executive
director and a member of the Investment Committee of the Company on 10
January, 2023 and is currently the president of the property division. Mr. Zhang
had served as the general manager of Zhejiang Longfor since joining the Group in
2014. Mr. Zhang graduated from Southeast University G K) in 1997 and
obtained a Bachelor degree in civil engineering majoring in industrial and civil
engineering (L[ ##). He graduated from the University of South Australia in

2004 and obtained a master degree in business administration.

Ms. Shen Ying, aged 49, Ms. Shen was appointed as an executive director
and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company on October
28, 2022, and was appointed as a member of the Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee on August 31, 2023. Ms. Shen is currently General
Manager of Human Resources Department of the Group and chairperson of
Longfor Foundation. Madam Shen obtained a Bachelor Degree in economics from
Shanghai University (LK) in July 1998 and obtained a MBA at Boston
College in May 2004. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shen worked at General
Electric and CHP.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Sun Jiahui, aged 36, Ms. Sun was appointed as a non-executive director,
a member of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and
Investment Committee of the Company on March 28, 2025. Ms. Sun obtained a
bachelor’s degree in Law from Tsinghua University of China in June 2010 and a
master’s degree in Law from Georgetown University Law Center in May 2011.
Ms. Sun was admitted to the New York State bar in March 2013, and obtained
the legal professional qualification certificate issued by the Ministry of Justice
of the PRC in March 2014. From January 2012, Ms. Sun has held positions at
several law firms and companies, including King & Wood Mallesons, Gunderson
Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian LLP Beijing Representative
Office, Beijing Shuanghu Investment Management Co., Ltd., serving as a lawyer

or a legal director.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Frederick Peter Churchouse, aged 75, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on November 1, 2009. Mr. Churchouse
is also a member of the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee and
Audit Committee of the Company. He has been involved in Asian securities
and property investment markets for more than 30 years. Currently, he is a
private investor including having his own family business, Portwood Company
Limited. He is also an independent non-executive director of Hysan Development
Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “SEHK”), stock code: 00014).

In 2004, Mr. Frederick Peter Churchouse set up an Asian investment fund under
LIM Adpvisors. He acted as a director of LIM Advisors and as Responsible Officer
until the end of 2009. Prior to this, Mr. Churchouse worked at Morgan Stanley
as a managing director and advisory director from early 1988. He acted in a
variety of roles including head of regional research, regional strategist and head
of regional property research. Mr. Churchouse gained a Bachelor of Arts degree
and a Master of Social Sciences degree from the University of Waikato in New
Zealand.
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Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on November 1, 2009. Mr. Chan is the
chairman of the Audit Committee and Environmental, Social and Governance
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Chan is the chairman of Halcyon Capital
Limited and Halcyon Securities Limited, which is engaged in corporate finance
and securities business in Hong Kong respectively. Mr. Chan graduated from the
University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor degree in Social Sciences (majoring in
Economics) and from the Hong Kong University of Science & Technology with
a Master degree in Business Administration. He worked for the SEHK and has
been an executive director of Haitong International Securities Group Limited
(formerly Taifook Securities Group Limited) and head of its corporate finance
division for 16 years. Currently he is an independent non-executive director of
Yuexiu Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code: 00405), Embry Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01388) and China Conch Venture Holdings Limited (stock
code: 00586), all of which are listed on the SEHK.

Mr. Xiang Bing, aged 62, was appointed as independent non-executive director
of the Company on November 1, 2009, Mr. Xiang is a member of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee and the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. He obtained a Doctoral degree in Accounting from the University of
Alberta in Canada. Mr. Xiang is the founding dean and professor of the Cheung
Kong Graduate School of Business in Beijing, China. Currently, Mr. Xiang
was the independent non-executive director of Sinolink Worldwide Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1168) which is listed on the SEHK, and he retired from the
position on May 31, 2023.

Mr. Leong Chong, aged 59, Mr. Leong was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on January 1, 2023. Mr. Leong is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He obtained his bachelor’s
degree in computer science from the University of California, Berkeley in the
United States of America in December 1990. From July 1997 to June 2000,
he worked as an analyst in the equity research division of Morgan Stanley Dean
Witter. From June 2000 to October 2001, he was a director of the equity research
department of Credit Suisse First Boston (Hong Kong) Limited. From June 2002
to September 2015, he worked in Morgan Stanley Asia Limited as the managing
director of the investment banking division. From December 2016 to March
2019, he was the deputy general manager of S.F. Holding Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002352.8Z). Mr. Leong
has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of JY Grandmark
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the SEHK, stock code: 2231) and Central
China New Life Limited (a company listed on the SEHK, stock code: 9983) since
November 2019 and April 2020, respectively.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased to present the

corporate governance report for the year ended December 31, 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company recognizes the importance of corporate transparency and
accountability. The Company is committed in achieving a high standard of
corporate governance and leading the Group to attain better results and improve
its corporate value with effective corporate governance procedures. During the
year, the Company had adopted, applied and complied with the applicable
code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the SEHK
(the “Listing Rules”) except for the deviations set out in the paragraph headed

“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” below.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Board currently comprises four executive directors, one non-executive
director and four independent non-executive directors and therefore has a fairly

strong independence element in its composition.

Following the appointment of Mr. Chen Xuping as the Chairman of the Board
with effect from October 28, 2022, Mr. Chen Xuping assumes the dual roles of
the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. This
deviates from code provision C.2.1 of the Code, which requires that the roles
of chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. After evaluating the development of the
Group and taking into account of the experience of Mr. Chen Xuping, the Board
was of the opinion that it is in the best interest of the Company at the present
stage for vesting the roles of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in the same person as it helps to facilitate the execution
of the Group’s development strategies. The Board will nevertheless review this
structure from time to time and will consider the segregation of the two roles as

and when appropriate.
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The Chairman of the Board should be responsible for the management of the
Board while the CEO should be responsible for the day-to-day management of

business. The division of responsibilities should be set out in writing as below:
Responsibilities of the Chairman of the Board:

1. To provide leadership for the Board; to ensure that the Board works
effectively and discharges its responsibilities; to ensure that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are established.

2. To attend annual general meeting and ensure that issues raised by
shareholders are answered by the chairperson of the Board Committees (as
defined below), or the appropriate alternate on the meeting.

3. To lead the formulation of corporate strategies, mid-to-long term plans of
development and significant organizational and structural adjustments.

4. To lead the formulation of an investment and financing decision system.
To provide leadership in respect of corporate risk and crisis management.

6. To lead the recruitment and appointment of senior management and Board
members of the Company under the recommendations of the nomination
committee; to participate under the recommendation of the remuneration
committee in decision making in respect of remuneration and bonuses of,
and share award scheme for, directors and senior management, and other
material changes and reforms in human resources management system and
remuneration system.

7. To provide leadership in respect of corporate culture.
Responsibilities of the CEO:

1. To provide leadership in the daily corporate operation, the execution of
corporate strategies formulated by the Board and achieving the objectives
of plans.

2. To establish and continuously improve the effective management system
and management team.

3. To lead the management team and continue to retain and train

management talents.
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THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises nine directors, including four executive directors
namely Mr. Chen Xuping. Mr. Zhao Yi, Mr. Zhang Xuzhong and Ms. Shen Ying,
one non-executive director Ms. Sun Jiahui* and four independent non- executive
directors namely Mr. Frederick Peter Churchouse, Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek, Mr.
Xiang Bing and Mr. Leong Chong.

* Ms. Sun Jiahui was appointed as a non-executive director on March 28, 2025, replacing Mr.
Xia Yunpeng, who resigned on the same day. On the date of her appointment but prior to the
appointment taking effect, Ms. Sun obtained legal advice as stipulated under Rule 3.09D of
the Listing Rules and confirmed her understanding of the responsibilities and obligations of

a director of a listed issuer under the Listing Rules.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and
overseeing the Group’s business, strategic decisions and performances, as well
as performing the corporate governance duties, including: (a) developing and
reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance; (b)
reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management; (c) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
(d) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and directors; and (e) reviewing the Company’s
compliance with Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules (Corporate Governance
Code). During the year, the Board has reviewed the Code of Conduct of the
Group, assessed the risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
assessed the training needs of the directors and senior management and arranged
relevant trainings accordingly, and reviewed the status of compliance with
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Board was satisfied with the effectiveness
of the Company’s corporate governance policy. The Company has in place
effective mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input are available
to the Board. The Nomination Committee, a majority of which is comprised of
independent non-executive directors, assesses the suitability and independence of
potential candidates to be appointed as independent non-executive directors and
reviews the independence of each independent non-executive director annually.
The independent non-executive directors meet with the Chairman at least once
annually without the presence of other directors and they can interact with
management and other directors including the Chairman through formal and
informal means. Independent professional advice is also available to all directors
whenever necessary. A review of these mechanisms is conducted on an annual
basis to ensure their effectiveness. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the

Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of these mechanisms.
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The Board has delegated the management the day-to-day management and
administrative functions as they think fit and provides guidance of the rights of
management. The Board will review the relevant delegation from time to time to
ensure that clear guidance and rights have been provided and the proper reporting
procedures have been complied. In addition, the Board has also established
various Board committees and has delegated various responsibilities to the
Board committees including the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the environmental, social and
governance committee (the “ESG Committee”) and the investment committee
(the “Investment Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”). All the
Board Committees perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective

terms of reference.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there are no financial, businesses, family

or other material relationships among members of the Board.

All of the independent non-executive directors are appointed for a term of
three years. None of them holds any other offices in the Company or any of its
subsidiaries. The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors a confirmation of his independence in accordance with Rule

3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-

executive directors are independent.

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition regularly to ensure
that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the

requirements of the business of the Company.

BOARD AND EMPLOYEES (INCLUDING SENIOR
MANAGEMENT) DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted the “Board Diversity Policy” on August 19, 2013, and
revised it on March 28, 2025, as the “Board and Employee (including Senior
Management) Diversity Policy” (the “Policy”).

The Policy aims to promote and maintain diversity within the Board and
employees (including senior management) to ensure the effective functioning of
the Board and the employee team. To achieve diversity, the Company considers
various factors, including but not limited to professional experience, cultural and

educational background, skills and knowledge, gender, age, and tenure.
The Board will review the Policy from time to time to ensure its continued

effectiveness. At present, the Board has not set measurable objectives to

implement the Policy.
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Our non-executive director and independent non-executive directors possess
diverse academic and professional qualifications, financial and management
expertise and bring a wide range of business and financial experience to the
Board.

The Board currently has two female directors. The Board will strive to ensure
the Board is made up of a reasonable and justifiable proportion of women. Close
to 44.5% of the overall workforce of the Group are female. Appropriate balance
of gender diversity of workforce is maintained taking into account the business

models and operational needs.

The Nomination Committee will conduct annual review of the effectiveness of
the Policy. During the year, the Policy was duly implemented and considered as
effective, taken into account of full compliance with the relevant and up-to-date

requirements under the Listing Rules and other statutory requirements.

During the year, the Company held four Board meetings and one general

meeting, the attendance of each director is as follows:

hEEEFEERRY R

A EEKY A eERY
No. of Board meetings  No. of general meetings
attended/Total no. Attended/Total no.
Y Directors of Board meetings of general meetings
HTESH Executive directors
by Chen Xuping 44 11
LN Zhao Yi 4/4 11
iR Zhang Xuzhong 4/4 11
e Shen Ying 4/4 /1
FAfTEF Non-executive directors
HEW* (R ZF A F=H = /NAFHE) Xia Yunpeng® (Resigned on March 28, 2025) 4/4 11
WAL TEF Independent non-executive directors
Frederick Peter Churchouse Frederick Peter Churchouse 4/4 1/1
[ S Chan Chi On, Derek 4/4 11
Tk Xiang Bing 4/4 1/1
i) Leong Chong 4/4 1/1
* BHEEL AR ZFZ = H = /NHEEL S * Ms. Sun Jiahui was appointed as a non-executive director on March 28, 2025, replacing Mr.

T TH AL — K BHIH R EWIE L -
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Xia Yunpeng, who resigned on the same day.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on December
29, 2021 with written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
B.3.1 of the Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board, and select and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of directors, re-appointment
of directors, succession planning for directors and assesses the independence of
independent non-executive directors. The nomination process, selection criteria
and succession plan are set out in the nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) adopted by the Board. The Nomination Committee consists of three
members, two are independent non-executive directors and one non-executive
director. The three members are Mr. Xiang Bing (being the chairman of the
Nomination Committee), Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek and Ms. Sun Jiahui*.

* Ms. Sun Jiahui was appointed as a committee member on March 28, 2025, to replace the

resigning Mr. Xia Yunpeng.
During the year, although the Nomination Committee did not convene any

meetings, the Board has reviewed the structure, size, and composition of the

Board (including skills, knowledge, and experience).
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NOMINATION POLICY

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee has been
delegated to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately responsible for selection and

appointment of new directors.

The Nomination Committee should consider the following factors as a minimum
to be required for a candidate in recommending to the Board to be a potential new

director, or the continued service of existing director:
1. the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

2. proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and the ability

to exercise sound business judgment;
3. skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board;

4. the ability to assist and support management and make significant

contributions to the Company’s success;

5. an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is required for a
member of the Board and the commitment of time and energy necessaty to

diligently carry out those responsibilities; and

6. independence: the candidates for independent non-executive directorship
should meet the “independence” criteria as required under the Listing
Rules and the composition of the Board is in conformity with the

provisions of the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee may also consider such other factors as it may deem

are in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on November 1,
2009 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out
in paragraph E.1.2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration
Committee adopted the approach under code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include evaluating
and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration system and
package of the directors and senior management, and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy. The
Remuneration Committee consists of one executive director, one non-executive
director and three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Leong Chong
(chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Ms. Shen Ying, Mr. Xiang Bing,
Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek and Ms. Sun Jiahui*.

*  Ms. Sun Jiahui was appointed as a committee member on March 28, 2025, to replace the

resigning Mr. Xia Yunpeng.
Major duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

1. To make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all directors and senior management remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing

remuneration policy.

2. To review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with

reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives.

3. To make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management. This should include
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any

compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment.

4. To consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and

responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the group.

5. To review and approve compensation payable to executive directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and

not excessive.

6. To review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with

contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

# 3% Annual Report 2024




50

B35 R o

Corporate Governance Report

7. BEMTEENOHMEE R R ER

8. WEGRTATEE AT B AR 2 Bl
SEAD T o

9. BUHAUCBLAT 3 A0 B I R R Ak
B/ SATBAE - MAETHE > ZAGHEN
TORB S EER A -

10, B K St B AR ES LR
BRI ARt B A L o

ERHMERENANT —KEH - & EFMNE
R EE N BRI R (REREE) o DT

7. To make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-

executive directors.

8. To ensure that no director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his

own remuneration.

9. To consult the chairman and/or the chief executive about their remuneration
proposals for other executive directors. The Committee should have access to

independent professional advice if necessary.

10. To review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter

17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year to conduct a

review on the remuneration of the directors and senior management (including

BET B e share incentives). The attendance of each member is as follows:

HR Bk 2k

No. of meetings attended/

EH Directors Total no. of meetings
H Leong Chong 1/1
B Efp* Xia Yunpeng* 1/1
e Shen Ying /1
[ e Chan Chi On, Derek 11

I It Xiang Bing 1/1
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* Ms. Sun Jiahui was appointed as a committee member on March 28, 2025, to replace the

resigning Mr. Xia Yunpeng.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy for the directors is determined by taking into
consideration of various factors, such as strategic objectives of the Group, results
performance fulfillment and external market conditions as well as directors’
competence, performance, value of the position and contribution to the Company.
The total remuneration includes fixed salary, allowance, bonus and share award
scheme and ensures an appropriate mixture of long term and short awards as well

as its competitiveness in the market.

Details of the remuneration of the directors are set out in note 48 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on November 1, 2009 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in paragraph
D3.3 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process
and internal control and risk management systems of the Group and nominating
and monitoring external auditors. The Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek, Mr.
Frederick Peter Churchouse, and Mr. Xiang Bing and is chaired by Mr. Chan
Chi On, Derek. In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the chairman
of the Audit Committee possesses the appropriate professional and accounting

qualifications.

The Audit Committee held two meetings with the senior management
and independent auditor of the Company during the year, to consider the
independence and audit scope of independent auditor, and to review and discuss
the risk management and internal control systems, interim and annual financial
statements of the Company and the opinion and report of independent auditor

before submitting to the Board for their approval.

The attendance of each member is as follows:

R T 2

ZHMEA Name of members No. of meetings attended/Total no. of meetings
B % Chan Chi On, Derek 2/2
Frederick Peter Churchouse Frederick Peter Churchouse 2/2
s Xiang Bing 22
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

The Company established the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee
(the “ESG Committee”) on August 26, 2020 with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the ESG
Committee include advise and assist the Board in managing matters relating
to Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), including but not limited to governance, policies,

initiatives, performance and reporting.

The ESG Committee consists of two executive directors and three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chen Xuping, Ms. Shen Ying, Mr. Chan Chi
On, Derek, Mr. Frederick Peter Churchouse and Mr. Xiang Bing. Mr. Chan Chi
On, Derek is the chairman of the ESG Committee.

During the year, the ESG Committee held two meetings to formulate the
Company’s ESG strategies and directions and approval of the publication of the
ESG report.

DA fy & 2% B Bk 8 - The attendance of each member is as follows:
HUR B, 2 R
No. of meetings attended/
ZHEA Name of members Total no. of meetings
B Chan Chi On, Derek 2/2
BT Chen Xuping 22
s Shen Ying 212
Frederick Peter Churchouse Frederick Peter Churchouse 2/2
JHI Xiang Bing 2/2
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Investment Committee reports directly to the Board and is responsible for
investment proposal (including but not limited to appraising land acquisition as
well as making land purchase decisions) submitted by the business development
department of the headquarters and the regional companies. The Investment
Committee currently consists of Mr. Chen Xuping, Mr. Zhao Yi, Ms. Sun
Jiahui*, Mr. Zhang Xuzhang and Mr. Chang Keyi.

The Investment Committee held 12 meetings during the year, to discuss and
make investment decision on several projects. The attendance of each member is

as follows:

R S A

ZEEA Name of members No. of meetings attended/

Total no. of meetings
B 7T Chen Xuping 12/12
LS Zhao Yi 12/12
I Zhang Xuzhong 12/12
HZE e Xia Yunpeng* 12/12
AR Chang Keyi 12/12

* FHEEL LN —F TR FE=H /N YEES * Ms. Sun Jiahui was appointed as a committee member on March 28, 2025, to replace the
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resigning Mr. Xia Yunpeng.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To ensure that the directors are aware of the latest development relevant to the
operation of the Group, the Company has arranged and funded suitable training
for the directors. During the year, relevant directors have attended the corporate
governance related training organized by the Company. Certain directors also
attended business seminars, and seminars organized by the accounting firm and
the independent third party institutes on directors’ duties and development in

securities laws.
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The Company has received from all directors’ records of their continuous
professional development trainings during the year, details of which are set out in

below table:

A

AR
RUZEN  HREERR
EREMEs  RESRI

Reading
regulatory Attending
updates or training on
information regulatory

relevantto  development

the Company  and directors’

or its business duties
BRITF Chen Xuping v v
#% Zhao Yi v v
RILE Zhang Xuzhong 4 4
W Shen Ying v v
HEWR =L 8 =H =1 /AHFHE) Xia Yunpeng (Resigned on March 28, 2025) v v
Frederick Peter Churchouse Frederick Peter Churchouse v v
[ ¥5%73 Chan Chi On, Derek % %
HE Xiang Bing v v
e Leong Chong v v

BATE ~ ZAE B ek

2RHEHCHALN AT IEAZEAM > A
SR MR A R A R AN > TR
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APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

All directors entered into formal letters of appointment with the Company for a
term of three years. Under the articles of associations of the Company, one-third
of the directors for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third) will retire from office by
rotation provided that every directors shall be subject to retirement at an annual

general meeting at least once every three years.

On March 28, 2025, Mr. Xia Yunpeng resigned and Ms. Sun Jiahui appointed as

a non-executive director of the Company.

The shareholders of the Company may propose a petson for election as a director
in accordance with articles of association of the Company and applicable law,
details of which are available on the Company’s website www.longfor.com set out
in the “Procedures for a shareholder to propose a person for election as director of

the Company”.


www.longfor.com
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AUDITORS REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remuneration paid or payable to Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu for its audit services and non-audit services amounted to
RMBS,408,000 and RMB1,613,000, respectively. The fees for non-audit
services include professional services rendered in connection with the review of
the Company’s interim financial statements (approximately RMB1,086,000),
tax advisory services (approximately RMB275,000), and internal control review

services (approximately RMB252,000).

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing all information
and representations contained in the financial statements of the Company which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flow for that period. The directors consider that the financial statements
have been prepared in conformity with all appropriate accounting standards
and requirements and reflect amounts that are based on the best estimates and
reasonable, informed and prudent judgment of the Board and the management.
The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The directors have prepared the financial statements

of the Company on a going concern basis.

The statements of the auditors of the Group about their reporting responsibilities
on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the section headed

“Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 88 of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the maintenance of an effective system of internal
control. The Group has established an internal audit department (the “Internal
Audit Department”) which is responsible for the independent review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system and for the periodic report
(twice a year) of the auditing result to the Audit Committee and the Board. The
Company has also engaged external professional agent annually to re-assess and

evaluate the internal control system of the Company regularly.
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During the year, the Internal Audit Department is responsible for conducting
independent and objective review of internal control and risk management of the
Company, and carried out a series of audit projects, which include routine audits
of capital management in Central China and commercial operations in East China
as well as special audits of business capturing for commercial operations, bidding
for real estate business, marketing incentive and planning of real estate business

and branding initiatives of real estate business.

The Company has engaged Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP Beijing Branch and appointed its corporate risk management
services department to assess and evaluate the internal control and risk
management of the Company in 2024. According to the overall risk and
responding plan determined at the beginning of the year, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP selected two business processes of
selected the “Longfor Smart Construction Management Collection and Marketing
Procurement” for internal control review. Its re-assessment report demonstrates
that the Company has established key internal control procedure within the

selected business processes to respond to relevant risks.

All of the above mentioned internal and external audit reports and the follow-up
measures have been reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. The Board
is of opinion that the internal control system of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 is effective and sufficient.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Effective risk management is the basic and necessary factor for achieving strategic
goals of the Group. As such, the Group has established the Risk Management
System of Longfor Group, which specifies the Group’s risk management
organizational system, detailed responsibility, overall procedures of risk

management, risk assessment method and regular risk reporting mechanism.

Risk management organizational system: The risk management organizational
system of Longfor Group consists of three basic lines of defense under the
leadership of the Board, namely the management and staff of business
departments as the first line of defense; the risk management team consisting
of the general manager of business departments of the Group with the CEO
as team leader and CFO as deputy team leader as the second line of defense;
and the Audit Committee, Internal Audit Department, Safe and Innovation
Management Department as the third line of defense. The Board shall be the
ultimate accountability body of risk management, and shall have the right to
provide guidance and make final decisions on the policy, system and responding
plan of risk management of the Group, conduct assessment on the risk appetite
of the Group and control the balance between the realization of strategic goals
and risk management. The Audit Committee, Internal Audit Department,
Safe and Innovation Management Department are authorized by the Board to
advise on and monitor the implementation of risk management of the Group
and review the annual risk management report. The risk management team is
responsible for the ongoing improvement of risk management system as well as
the implementation of management procedures including risk identification,
assessment, responding plan and risk management report, covering the annual
update of risk database, follow-up and monitoring of the implementation of
responding plan and the preparation and reporting of the risk management
report. The business departments are risk owners and shall manage and monitor

their respective risk exposure.
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R B IRAR T - R LA RN ] 365 BT Major risk management procedures: Through various interviews and
R TG Y 2 il ok SO i NI SE AL AR communications with the management members of different business units
BRERCE ~ JRBR - EBRT AL - bR K and the headquarter of the Company, the management procedures have been
B TR B R Y R o formulated and completed, which include target setting, risk identification, risk

assessment, risk response and supervision and risk reporting.
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Target setting: Target setting is the first step of risk management. The
Company shall firstly set the annual target in order to identify and assess
the risks affecting the realization of the target and take necessary action
to control such risks. The targets of the Company are set in four aspects,
namely strategic target, operational target, compliance target and financial

target.

Risk identification: The identification of risk events from the operational
activities and important business procedures of each business unit shall be
conducted in bottom-up and top-down approaches through questionnaire,
group discussion, expert consultation, policy analysis and industry
benchmarking. Risk database shall be established and updated annually.
Risk owner and responding measures shall be determined for risks
identified.

Risk assessment: The Company shall rank the risks identified through
assessment based on vulnerability and impact. Risk management team
shall conduct annual review on the risk assessment criteria (vulnerability
and effect) and report to the Audit Committee and final approved by the
Board.

Risk response: Based on the result of risk assessment, the business units
of the Group shall propose the risk management and control measures
and recommendations for the risks involved in various aspects such as
improvement of business procedures and internal control system as well as
control of key procedures, and formulate relevant responding plans. Such
management and control plans shall be implemented in daily operation in

the form of management regulation.

Risk reporting: The Company has established the systems of annual
risk management report and special risk management report. The risk
management team shall prepare the annual report and special report with

the support of the Internal Audit Department.
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In early 2024, the Group conducted the annual risk identification and assessment
and mapped out the risks faced by Longfor Group in 2024. The Group also
determined the risk and formulated the responding plan through the assessment
based on vulnerability and effect. Key risks included cash flow risk, profit risk,
old project breakthrough risk, macro-environmental risk, project delivery risk,
brand reputation risk, strategic and investment risk, resource management risks,
quality and safety risks, talent management risks. Details of risks and responding
plans were submitted by the Audit Committee and confirmed by the Board.
During the year, the Group monitored the implementation of risk management

based on the risk responding plans and prepared a report at the end of the year.

The Board is of opinion that the risk management system of the Group for the

year ended December 31, 2024 is effective and sufficient.

The Board shall be responsible for the risk management and internal control

systems of the Group and shall review the effectiveness of such systems.

The procedures by which the Company examines the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems shall include: to formulate an appraisal
proposal, to establish an appraisal team, to implement on-site tests, to identify
and control defects, to summarise and compile the appraisal results, and to
prepare an appraisal report. The Company shall authorise the Internal Audit
Department to be responsible for the specific organisation and implementation of
the appraisal on internal control. The Company shall put forward some confirmed
opinions after conducting comprehensive analysis on the defects in internal
control. Then, the Company shall make a final confirmation after it has carried
out the review pursuant to the stipulated authority and procedures and shall
classify such defects as material defects and general defects based on the degree
of the impact imposed by such defects. The Company shall timely adopt the
corresponding strategies with respect to the identified defects, and practicably
control risks within the range that the Company can undertake. In addition, the

Company shall hold the relevant department or personnel accountable.
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%A TR 5 TR S IR PR R R AT H AR Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
0 NERAN: o S £ WNIES L JI% VS achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

AL £ JER D 4 0 (RFE o assurance against material misstatement or loss.

PR 3 Bk DISCLOSURE INSIDE INFORMATION

TN T BB AR/ N (DU RTRET BT B A Inside Information Disclosure Working Group (hereinafter referred to as “Inside
N RAL I E R G N LA/ BEAL Information Working Group”) is a working group established under the Board of

A SR the Company, which is responsible for the administration of inside information
disclosure.

B P SR AN AEE D The Composition of Inside Information Working Group

. NFEHE T MR A E T - . The team leader of the Inside Information Working Group is the chief

executive officer of the Company.

o NEHEILENHBEAESE: E#FEE *  The members of the Inside Information Working Group include: the

- BERMBEE - ARRE - EATGE chairman of the Board, the chief financial officer, the company secretary,

HHLATA - ALFEHEBATA - & the officer in charge of Capital Markets Centre, the officer in charge

BEARA of Public Affairs and Media, and the officer in charge of the Legal
Department.

o REIEETLENARSE - AWE > AK o The secretary of the Inside Information Working Group is the company
NFE R TN E R G EE - -
o Inside Information Working Group and the Board.

secretary, who is responsible for communicating and reporting between the
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The Terms of References for the Inside Information Working
Group

o The Inside Information Working Group is the daily execution unit that
is engaged in the preliminary determination and handling of inside

information, whilst the Board is the decision making unit.

J The Inside Information Working Group conducts proper inquiry, confirms
fact, preliminarily assesses sensitive informations’ significant to the

Company, and timely reports to the Board where necessary.

U The Inside Information Working Group regularly review the effectiveness
and execution of the processes. It also conducts training from time to time,
so as to ensure that the staffs of the Company that may be exposed to inside
information are aware of the disclosure liability and handling principles for

inside information.

Handling Procedures that may Involve Inside Information

As to the business information that is reasonably expected in becoming inside
information (including, but not limited to acquisitions and mergers, movement

in share capital, and organizational restructuring etc.):

. The relevant staff capturing such information shall report to the Inside
Information Working Group promptly, and has the duty to keep such

information confidential;

o The Inside Information Working Group shall conduct proper
investigation and confirmation of facts for the said information. Where
necessary, it will make preliminary judgment upon consulting professional
opinions and report to the Board promptly. The relevant disclosure matters

will be conducted by the company secretary and the Legal Department;

o If the said information is involved with Safe Harbours, the Inside
Information Working Group shall supervise and ensure the confidentiality
of the information. If it is noted that the confidentiality of the information
has not been preserved, it shall report to the Board and disclose the

information as soon as reasonably practicable.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules as the guidelines for the directors’ dealings in the securities of the
Company. Upon specific enquiries of all the directors, each of them confirmed
that he/she has complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
during the year ended December 31, 2024 in relation to their securities dealings,

if any.

The Model Code has extended to be applicable to senior management and
relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of the

Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zhang Lei joined the Group in 2008 and has been an employee of the
Company since then. She was appointed as the Company Secretary on August
21, 2015. Ms. Zhang is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and an Affiliated Person of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute. She graduated from the Central University of Finance and Economics
with a bachelor’s degree in International Finance.According to Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules, the company secretary has undertaken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year to ensure that her professional
knowledge and skills meet the requirements of the Listing Rules and to

continuously enhance her ability to perform her duties.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The management of the Company believes that effective and proper investor
relations play a vital role in enhancing the corporate transparency as well as
establishing market confidence. As such, the Company has adopted a stringent
internal control system to ensure true, accurate, complete and timely disclosure
of relevant information pursuant to requirements of relevant laws and regulations
in order to ensure all investors equally access to information. The Company has a
Capital Markets Center to serve as an important communication channel between
the Company and its shareholders, investors and analysts. To strive for effective
communication and transparency of the Company, the personnel in charge have
frequent contacts with the shareholders, investors and analysts through various
channels such as social networking site, telephone and email. On-site visits to the
projects of the Company have been arranged for the fund managers and analysts
to create opportunities for direct communication with investors and to provide
the latest development of the Company as well as information of the real property

industry to the capital market in time.
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In addition, the annual general meeting also provides a useful forum for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Chairman of the Board, as
well as chairman of each of the Board Committees, or in their absence, members
of the respective Committees, and the external auditors of the Company, is
available to answer questions from shareholders at annual general meetings
and extraordinary general meetings of the Company. As such, investors’
understanding of and confidence in the Company can be enhanced. At the
annual general meeting of the Company held on June 18, 2024, the chairman
of the Board and Chairman of each of the Board Committees attended and
answered questions from the shareholders. The Company maintains a website at
www.longfor.com, where information and updates on the Company’s business
developments and operations, financial information, corporate governance and

other information are available for public access.

The Company has in place a Shareholders” Communication Policy. The
Shareholders’ Communication Policy aims to ensure that shareholders and the
investment community are provided with appropriate and timely access to
material information about the Company. It sets out the Company’s framework
for promoting effective communication with its shareholders so as to enable
them to exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner, and to
allow the investment community to engage actively with the Company. During
the reporting period, the Company has protected shareholders’ rights such as
the right to request the convening of general meetings, the right to propose
resolutions and speak etc. at general meetings and the right to make enquiries
to the Board in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Listing Rules and
the articles of association of the Company. The Company’s social networking
site, investor hotline, email and other communications are also kept open. The
Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’

Communication Policy and the results were satisfactory.

Information Disclosure

The Group discloses information in compliance with the securities regulations of
the SEHK, and publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Group
endeavours to ensure information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and
complete, thereby enabling shareholders, investors as well as the public to make

rational and informed decisions.
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Shareholders’ Rights to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting
and Propose Resolutions

The Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings.
Any one or more shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the company secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by

the Company.

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of association or the Cayman
Islands Companies Law for shareholders to propose new resolutions at general
meetings. Shareholders who wish to propose a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out

in the above paragraph.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a director

are available on the Company’s website www.longfor.com.

Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong at 15/F., 1 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong.

Constitutional documents

During the year, there is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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Report of the Directors

The Board hereby presents the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of Longfor Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in property development, commercial investment, asset management,

property management and smart construction.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating results for the year by principal
activities is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements of the

Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the

Group on page 96.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business and performance highlights of the Group during the year
and a discussion on the Group’s future business development are set out in the
“Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate
Governance Report” sections of this annual report. Description of possible risks
and uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be found in the “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are set out in
note 52(b) to the consolidated financial statements. No important event affecting
the Group has occurred since the end of the financial year ended December
31, 2024. In addition, discussions on the Group’s environment policies and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact
on the Group can be found in the section headed “Environmental Policies” and
“Compliance with Laws and Regulations” of this Report of the Directors. An

analysis of the Group's key performance indicators during the year are as follows:
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AR Contracted sales
BIFHESE AR ET) Contracted sales (RMB billion) 101.12 173.49
A B AR (P K) Contracted GFA (Sqm) 7,124,000 10,796,000
FEMBEER\REET) Key financial information (RMB billion)
PN Revenue 127.47 180.74
EH Gross profit 20.41 30.58
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1L R (B 70 O B 45 Core net profit (Excluding effects, such as

STAR it (1 45 5 488 minority interests and valuation gains) 6.97 11.35
FEMTB LR Key financial ratios
ESVIES Gross profit margin 16.01% 16.92%
YIE Y NEY YNGR ST Earnings per share (basic) (RMB) 1.58 2.07
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The Board proposed the payment of a final dividend of RMBO0.10 per share
for the year ended December 31, 2024 to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Wednesday, August 20, 2025.
The proposed final dividend shall be paid on Friday, September 26, 2025
after approval by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”). The proposed final dividend
shall be declared in RMB and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The final dividend
payable in Hong Kong dollars will be converted from RMB at the average
middle rate of RMB to Hong Kong dollars as announced by the People’s
Bank of China for the period from Tuesday, June 17, 2025 to Wednesday,
June 18, 2025.

Eligible Shareholders will be given an option to elect to receive the final dividend
all in cash or all in new Shares or partially in new Shares and partially in cash (the
“Scrip Dividend Scheme”).
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The Scrip Dividend Scheme is subject to (1) the approval of the proposed final
dividend by the shareholders of the Company at the AGM; (2) the SEHK
granting the listing of and permission to deal in the new Shares to be issued
pursuant thereto; and (3) where necessary, the whitewash waiver granted by
the Executive Director of the Corporate Finance Division of the Securities and
Futures Commission or any of his/her delegate.

A circular containing full details of the Scrip Dividend Scheme together with
the relevant form of election will be sent to the shareholders of the Company on
or around Wednesday, August 27, 2025. It is expected that the final dividend
warrants and certificates for the new Shares (in case the eligible shareholders have
elected to receive part or all their final dividend in the form of new Shares) will be
dispatched to the shareholders of the Company on Friday, September 26, 2025.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to shareholders of the
Company to be its goal and endeavours to maintain a stable dividend policy to
achieve such goal. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining
the dividend amount, the Board would take into account the Group’s results
of operations, earnings performance, cashflows, financial condition, future
prospects, as well as statutory, regulatory and debt covenant restrictions on the
payment of dividends, and other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
Whilst the Board will review from time to time for determination on proposed
dividend with the above factors taken into account, there can be no assurance that

dividends will be declared or paid in any particular amount for any given period.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, June 13,
2025 to Wednesday, June 18, 2025, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to determine
the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on Wednesday, June 18, 2025 all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, June 12, 2025.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, August
18, 2025 to Wednesday, August 20, 2025 (both days inclusive) during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. To qualify for the
proposed final dividend, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, August 15,
2025.

# 3% Annual Report 2024




68

R e

Report of the Directors

W3k ~ B Bt i

NI ~ R B i RN R AR S A
Eﬁ%i&?@ﬁﬁﬁw °

fri %
S REN IR A AR £ B et 330 o

fol
AR B B R R A B R B

SECEF A=+ H o AN A A TR R
i 5 NR%19,861,990,0007C ©

T

% 4E A TR 3 B A N R 887,212,500 0T (%
AR T BN H95,147,0000T) ©

TLAE B R
S B4 RS BB A SR 300

FHE P R

BE_F_WETHA=1T—HILFE kA
A IR R % 2 i A 45 B i 48 R 4
0.5% > T B AL B F KK T 2 it i A4 m
AR N E1.4% ©

WE-FZEL A=+ HIMEE S RAK
A5 T 5 AL R T 2 R AR AR A B A PR AR A
1.5% » 1M 1) 7% 2 [ 3K 13 2 4R M 0 1 A 4
AR IR AN E5.7% -

MEHGITN > JHHE - WEZHBN - HAE
B AT A R 5 9% 2 A I ORI 5%
FEEF RN oA TR -

ARG T — B M e s AT T W 5 A (A
BOREER > UAFS A RA L E - %4 B
JCRE G ORRIE o R E TNET A =
H AL AR AR O A [ B
BORBERHER REFBAIR -

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #g i#f & @ i i% B R 2 &)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are

set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial

statements of the Group.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year is set out in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity.

As at December 31, 2024, the distributable reserve of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB19,861,990,000.

DONATIONS

The donations made by the Group during the year amounted to approximately
RMBS87,212,500 (2023: approximately RMB95,147,000).

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five years financial summary of the Group is set out on page 300 of this annual

report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, revenue attributable to the largest
customer of the Group amounted to approximately 0.5% of the total revenue in
the year and the five largest customers of the Group accounted for less than 1.4%

of the Group’s revenue in the year.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, purchases attributable to the largest
supplier of the Group amounted to approximately 1.5% of the total purchases in
the year and the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for less than 5.7%

of the Group’s purchases in the year.

So far as the Board of the Company is aware, neither the directors, their associates
nor any shareholder of the Company which owns more than 5% of the Company’s

issued share capital had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

The Group keeps a high standard in selecting reputable and reliable suppliers
and contractors, in order to meet our own quality, safety, environmental and
product criteria. During the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date
of this report, the Group maintained good relationship with its suppliers and

contractors.
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Report of the Directors

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEE

Human resources are one of the greatest assets of the Group and the Group
regards the personal development of its employees as highly importance. The
Group strives to motivate its employees with a clear career path and opportunities
for advancement and improvement of their skills. In addition, the Group has
also adopted share award scheme to recognize and reward the contribution of the

employees to the growth and development of the Group.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in note

33 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this annual

report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Xuping (Chairman)
Mzr. Zhao Yi

Mr. Zhang Xuzhong

Ms. Shen Ying

Non-executive Directors

Mzr. Xia Yunpen (Resigned on March 28, 2025)
Ms. Sun Jiahui (Appointed on March 28, 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Frederick Peter Churchouse
Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek

Mr. Xiang Bing

Mr. Leong Chong
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In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, Mr. Zhao Yi, Ms.
Shen Ying, Mr. Leong Chong and Ms.Sun Jiahui shall retire from office and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

Each of the directors of the Company has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a period of three years. None of the directors of the Company
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory

compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that the directors shall be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which may incur or sustain by them
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty or supposed duty provided that this indemnity shall not extend to
any mactter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of said

persons.

In addition, liability insurance for directors and senior management of the
Company is maintained by the Company with appropriate coverage for certain

legal actions against the directors.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the directors and those of the five highest paid
individuals of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note

48 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Connected Transactions, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company, its parent company, its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries were a party and in which a director of the
Company or his connected entities had a material interest, either directly or

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at December 31, 2024, none of the directors of the Company are considered to
be interest in businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either directly

or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or subsisted for
the year ended December 31, 2024.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At December 31, 2024, certain of the Group’s assets with carrying values of
RMB203.7 billion have been pledged to secure certain banking and other

facilities granted to the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, at no time
during the year were there any rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company granted to any director or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, nor were there any such
rights exercised by them. Also, there was no arrangement to which the Company,
its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries is a party that

would enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKINGS BY THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS AND THE DIRECTORS

The Company has entered into the non-competition deed dated November 1,
2009 with the controlling shareholders of the Company, namely Charm Talent
International Limited (“Charm Talent”), Junson Development International
Limited (“Junson Development”), Silver Sea Assets Limited (“Silver Sea”),
Silverland Assets Limited (“Silverland”), Madam Wu Yajun (“Madam Wu”) and
Mr. Cai Kui (“Mr. Cai”) pursuant to which Madam Wu, Charm Talent and Silver
Sea have jointly and severally undertaken, and Mr. Cai, Junson Development and
Silverland have jointly and severally undertaken, not to compete with the Group.
Each of Madam Wu, Mr. Cai, Charm Talent, Junson Development, Silver Sea and
Silverland has also undertaken with the Company to procure that any investment
or commercial opportunity relating to any property business or investment or
management in the People’s Republic of China that they or any of their respective
affiliates identify or propose or that is offered or presented to them by a third
party, be first referred to the Company in accordance with the terms of the non-

competition deed.
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In March 2025, the Company has received an annual declaration from each of
the controlling shareholders of the Company and the directors in respect of their
respective compliance with the non-competition undertakings as at December
31, 2024. The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the said
declaration and are of the view that each of the controlling shareholders of the
Company and the directors has complied with their respective non-competition

undertakings during the year ended December 31, 2024.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance was entered into among the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, whether
for the provision of services or otherwise, during the year ended December 31,
2024.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

De minimis Connected Transactions

During the year ended December 31, 2024, certain directors and their close
family members, and companies controlled by certain directors entered into
transactions with the Group which are disclosed in note 49 (c) and (d) “Related
party transactions” to the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Such
transactions constituted de minimis connected transactions of the Company
which were exempt from the reporting, announcement and independent

shareholders” approval requirements under the Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as above, the other related party transactions which were carried out by
the Group during the year ended December 31, 2024, did not fall under the
definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as

the case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) adopted by the Company was expired
on October 31, 2019. After its expiration, no further share options were granted
under the Scheme. The last batch of granted share options expired on November
4, 2024, and all unexercised options upon expiration lapsed. As such, the Scheme

has been fully concluded.

AR OR T ARITH BB T -

Details of the outstanding share options during the year are as follows:

== Employees
I I
RER U REF I
—A—H AR AR REER +ZRAEt—H
TriEf AT frfes e SR MARTTHER
fH R ahr (#75) LI LG LI TR H TR
Number of Number of Number of
share options share options Number of Numberof  share options
Exercise  outstanding at exercised share options share options  outstanding at
price January 1, during cancelled during ~ lapsed during ~ December 31,
Date of grant Capacity (HKS) 2024 the year the year the year 2024
(k)
(Note)
“E-WEL-ANE EaREEAA 937 16,698,500 (5,943,500) - (10,755,000) -
November 4, 2014 Beneficial Owner
B - Notes:
1. B —E— D — H Y H 72 BERehE > #7 1. As for the share option granted on November 4, 2014, the closing price of the shares on the
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SEHK immediately before the date on which the options were granted was HK$9.37. The

options are vested and exercisable in 5 tranches from November 4, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018,
2019 to November 3, 2024, the exercisable percentage is 10%, 15%, 20%, 25% and 30%

respectively.

2. The weighted average closing price per share immediately before the dates on which the

8 7512.96W 7T options were exercised during the year was HK$12.96.
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A summary of the principal terms of the Option Scheme is set out as follows:

(@)

(i)

(111)

(iv)

Purpose of the Option Scheme

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to provide the Participants (as
defined in paragraph (ii) below) who have been granted options to
subscribe for shares of the Company under the Option Scheme with the
opportunity to acquire share interests in the Company and to encourage
Participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and the

benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Who may join

Pursuant to the Option Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, invite
any directors (including executive directors, non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) and employees of any member of the
Group and any advisers, consultants, distributors, contractors, contract
manufacturers, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners, joint
venture business partners, service providers of any member of the Group
who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group (the “Participants”) to participate in the Option

Scheme.

Total number of shares available for issue under the Option Scheme

The initial limit on the number of shares that may be issued under the
Share Option Scheme or any other share option scheme adopted by the
Company shall not exceed 10% of the total number of relevant shares in
issue as of the date of approval of the Scheme. In calculating this 10%

limit, lapsed share options shall be excluded.

As the Share Option Scheme has concluded, the Company will no longer

issue any shares under this Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted and to be granted pursuant to the Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company to each Participant in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant of the options shall

not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue.
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(ix)

B

Report of the Directors

Time for exercise of the Options

The period within which the options must be exercised will be specified by
the Company at the time of grant. This period must expite no later than 10

years from the relevant date of grant.

Vesting Period

At the time of grant of the options, the Company may specify any
minimum period(s) for which an option must be held before it can be

exercised.

Consideration for acceptance

The amount payable on acceptance of an option is HK$1.00.

Basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price per share under the Option Scheme is a price
determined by the Board and notified to each Participant and shall be
no less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets issued by the SEHK on the date of grant; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the SEHK for the five SEHK business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the

date of grant.

Remaining Life of the Option Scheme
The Option Scheme expired on October 31, 2019, and no further options

were granted thereafter. The last batch of granted options expired on
November 4, 2024, and all unexercised options upon expiration became

invalid. As such, the Option Scheme has been fully concluded.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

To provide long-term incentive for employees, assist to retain its existing

employees and attract more talents, and provide human resources protection

for the long-term strategic goals of the Group, the Company has adopted

restricted share award scheme (the “Award Scheme”), which are subject to the

administration of the Implementation Committee (as defined below). According

to the Award Scheme, the trustees (the “Trustees”) can purchase shares from the

market out of cash contributed by the Group.
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e 0 R AR T B L ) R A 19 e LA Details of the shares granted under the Award Scheme and their movements

LU during the Reporting Period are set out below:
1 #HH (1) Directors
— —
REZZ W
REZZmE AR KER AN SRR P A
—A—HE&H REREH HENEE B BAME  CREARE  RERLNEN ¥
24 Rl B AEERHYA i RibgH  RARGEE  RORGEE ROBE  dlbcET) KGR
Weighted
average
Number of Closing price closing price
Number of Number of Number of Number of granted shares immediately immediately
granted shares Number of shares granted shares granted shares unvestedasat  before the date before
Vesting unvested as at shares granted vested during cancelled lapsed during December 31, of grant  the vesting date
Name Date of grant* Period* January 1,2024  during the year theyear  during the year the year 2024 (HKS) (HKS)
iy #keskoski (Kiky 8,662,069 5,400,000 (1261,310) - - 12,800,759 945 945
Chen Xuping Batches 1-5&7-8&11 ~ (Note 1)
ilis #keskrski (k) 7,684,463 2,200,000 (1,127,969) - - 8,756,494 945 945
Zhao Yi Batches 1-5&7-8&11  (Note 1)
AL #keskrski (k) 6,870,140 2,000,000 (1,005,821) - - 7864319 945 945
Zhang Xuzhong Batches 1-5&7-8&11  (Note 1)
i #keskr-ski (k) 4,118,670 1,200,000 (595,001) - - 4,723,669 945 945
Shen Ying Batches 1-5&7-8&11  (Note 1)
27,335,342 10,800,000 (3,990,101) - - 34,145,241
* it *  Note I
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Q) AENLAREHMAL (2)  Five highest paid individuals during the year
AENALEE LA B AL =4 Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year, three
BANAHES > LSRR AR were directors of the Company, details of the shares granted to them under
VR 13 e A S o PR R B the Award Scheme and their movements during the reporting period are
B o A R ) AR R BR R T 42 B disclosed above. Details of the shares granted to the remaining two highest
AL AR R RERS XA BB T - paid individuals during the year and their movements during the reporting

period are as follows.

— —

REZZE SRR

RERZRE RER RER - ATHAERR REREAEN Ty

—~f-HE&H REREH HER B 3 U CRIKERE Wit Wit

R pg LiE] ABERHEA Rt sH RERGEH RURHER RURHER R EH (i) (i)

Weighted average

Number of Number of Closing price closing price

granted shares Number of Numberof ~ granted shares immediately immediately

unvested as at Number of Numberof ~ granted shares granted shares unvested as at before the before the

Vesting January [, shares granted shares vested  cancelled during lapsed during December 31, date of grant vesting date

Date of grant* Period 2024 during theyear  during the year the year the year 2024 (HKS) (HKS)

i1 -k UEY 14,676,488 1,800,000 (2,152073) - - 14324415 945 945
Batches 1-5&7-8&11 (Note 1)

) HERA (3) Other grantees
— —

SECNE RERONRE  REEENNH

e L3 RER AER FZAERR ¥y ¥y

B AL R RER Y WS CRIREE Wit Wit

ik EiEm ABERHYA Rf¥H BERHUA BhRHEA BhRHEA Tt A (#70) (#7)

Weighted average ~ Weighted average

Number of Number of closing price closing price

granted shares Number of Number of granted shares immediately immediately

unvested as at Number of Number of granted shares granted shares unvested as at before the before the

Vesting January 1, shares granted shares vested  cancelled during lapsed during December 31, date of grant vesting date

Date of grant* Period 2024 during the year during the year the year the year 2024 (HKS) (HKS)

it/QEN (Hf3E1) 115,230,046 42400000 (20,982,950) (18,724,864) - 117,922,232 945 9.56
Batches 1-11 (Note 1)

L i3 *  Note I
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Pt zE - Notes:
1. O B W BRI - 1. The vesting periods of the granted shares are as follows:
R H S g 01
Date of grant Vesting period
Eiin/q! “ELEEA=ETTH AHoZ— \F=A=1—HE " tLF=A=1—H
Batch 1 March 31, 2017 From March 31, 2018 to March 31, 2027
k2 “E - \F=H=1—H HoZ— =A==t —HE2 - \F=H=1—H
Batch 2 March 31, 2018 From March 31, 2019 to March 31, 2028
HEK3 ZE- A=A AoZ-FF=A=4—HEZZ=NF=A=1—H
Batch 3 March 31, 2019 From March 31, 2020 to March 31, 2039
it ZERTRAENMH—H HoZ -4 =H=t+—HE-FNTHE=H=1+—H
Batch 4 April 1, 2020 From March 31, 2021 to March 31, 2040
Hs R —FMA—H H-A A=A —H2 RN —F=]=1—H
Batch 5 April 1, 2021 From March 31, 2022 to March 31, 2041
ke “ECHFEA—R HOZ - HAAZTIE -F - HAEANA=ZTH
Batch 6 July 1, 2021 From June 30, 2022 to June 30, 2025

k7 ZERZTHERATAH HoZ T =4THTREE FN 4ELHTHH

Batch 7 May 16, 2022 From May 15, 2023 to May 15, 2042

ks CERCEFNMAAER HZF PR A /S B ZZF =4 A 75 H
Batch 8 April 17,2023 From April 16, 2024 to April 16, 2043

#tko “EC=FEA=+H A-Z-WFELH =t —AE - FN=Ft =10
Batch 9 July 31, 2023 From July 31, 2024 to July 31, 2043

#tkio ZRC=HEEA=ETH H-ZZWELA=Z—HEZFN=FL A =1—H
Batch 10 July 31, 2023 From July 31, 2024 to July 31, 2043

iR/ SN CRTMENA I H e S 5 1)y o = I e 31111 U1 ey o =
Batch 11 April 25,2024 From April 25, 2025 to April 25, 2044

BB BT Z - 5 R A s 2 8
FRT ) REEAIA - AT E 2 50
IRATRERZ A RC » BbAh  MEARAT GRS AR 4
TR T E R A S O A 4

Upon vesting of the granted shares, such shares shall become wholly beneficially owned by
the relevant Selected Participants (as defined below) without requiring any of them to exercise
such shares. Moreover, no exercise period is applicable to the granted but unvested shares

under the Award Scheme.

Eb'k? PR A AR O A A B i I I
2 EREFFECRER (L6 AR A3
E‘Jﬁ}ﬁﬁ) o

TEHAT I - RSO B B2 T I I RO

TRIAE > %% HERQET MR - A
O FR RO HBE AR W B SR AR EE L S A
HRILL 2 T B 2 R R 3R (AR S 80 ELIT
i) o

TN A AR H B AR A
SE SR A B AR O 0 T R A AR
489,088,6007C (41 AR HE8.897T)

Details of the accounting policy adopted are set out in note 3.2 “Material accounting
policy information” (under the sub heading “Share-based payment transactions”) to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

The vesting of the shares granted under the Award Scheme during the reporting period
is subject to certain performance targets, which encompass various factors such as the
market and industry conditions, the strategic goals of the Company, the achievability of the
Company’s financial results, and the benchmarks of external comparable companies (as stated

on page 80 of this report).

The estimated fair value of shares granted on April 25, 2024 amounted to RMB489,088,600
(approximately RMB8.89 per share), which was calculated based on the market price of the

relevant shares on the date of grant.

BEZFEWEF-A=+—H  CIREAEE
et 8 H £5166,391,8880

As at December 31, 2024, there were 166,391,888 shares being granted and

unvested.

78 - Longfor Group Holdings Limited g 4 & [ # jg & B 2 @)



R £ A

(1)

(i1)

(iif)

ST # H 7y

R B E RS RE T
BT GERR T GHB)E
W BT > R R I s B A 4 1R PR
HBARE KRG ELEHNA
T Ty B A N A1 B A 45 0T B
W A — A R 25 o

BIF REAHI B )57

RS EE# > AT ZAE (RA
REFEIR  HFMEEG LR
AN ERPATE ~ AL FE
BB RAL RN TG IR AL )

(TATZ B & ) iR RHE H A W
TR B8 A 4 AL Ao i B 2 A S
AR AT 2 e AR B (645 (R BRI A
FMAMRB A FANATESR)
A SR AT T 1 B 2 A R BT
L RMATR B e LB HE T
132 B T A U] B 88 ) A A 0 A
(THEWAL]) » Hh B AR
ErE 3 UL [EASUSENE:S
SESHE ) o HZ W R BIE TR
TSR 1 A AT T -

it LR

52l NARHR IO BB 1 300 v A
et b BRANAR R AN WA IRF 5
TIREAR 2 59 ([51E) L RRD) - 3%
ERTWEF A=+ —HIE
AT E AT IR AR £5.6,888,163,276
J > 9 0k FTE b BB £ 344,408,163
I 5 L E B T AR S %

B

Report of the Directors

A summary of the principal terms of the Award Scheme is set out as

follows:

(1)

(i1)

(ii1)

Purpose of the Award Scheme

The purpose of the Award Scheme is to recognise and motivate the
contribution of certain Eligible Persons (as defined in paragraph (ii)
below) and to provide incentives and help the Group in retaining
its existing employees and recruiting additional employees and to
provide them with economic interests in attaining the long-term

business objectives of the Group.

Eligibility of participants and payment for accepting award

share

Pursuant to the Award Scheme, the implementation committee
(comprising the chairman of the Board, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, the chief executive officer of the
Company, the chief financial officer of the Company and the
general manager in charge of human resources of the Company)
(the “Implementation Committee”) may, from time to time, at
its absolute discretion, select any full-time employee employed
by any member of the Group (including without limitation any
executive director of any member of the Group), non-executive
director of any member of the Group and any individuals who the
Implementation Committee may in its absolute discretion select
subject to the Listing Rules (the “Eligible Person(s)”) after taking
into account various factors as it deems appropriate for participation
in the Award Scheme (the “Selected Participant(s)”). No payment
of purchase price is required for the acceptance of an award share

granted under the Award Scheme.

Scheme Limit

The maximum number of shares which the Trustees may purchase
under the share award scheme shall not exceed 5% of the total
issued share capital of the Company from time to time (the “Scheme
Limit”). As at December 31, 2024, the issued share capital of the
Company is 6,888,163,276 shares, pursuant to which the Scheme
Limit is 344,408,163 shares, representing 5% of the total issued

share capital.
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(iv)

(v)

(vi)
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(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Maximum entitlement of each Selected Participant

The maximum number of shares which may be granted to a Selected
Participant under the Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the
total issued share capital of the Company as at the adoption date of

the Award Scheme.

Vesting period and performance targets for vesting

The Implementation Committee may from time to time at its
discretion determine the vesting periods and performance targets
for vesting in respect of the shares granted. In determining the
performance targets, various factors such as the market and industry
conditions, the strategic goals of the Company, the achievability
of the Company’s financial results and the benchmarks of external

comparable companies shall be taken into consideration as a whole.

Duration of the Award Scheme

The Award Scheme shall be effective from the respective adoption
date and shall continue in full force and effect until the aggregate
number of shares purchased under the Award Scheme reaches the
Scheme Limit or the Award Scheme are otherwise early terminated

by a resolution of the Board.

If the Scheme Limit is reached or the Award Scheme are terminated,
the Trustees shall not purchase any shares pursuant to the rules of
the Award Scheme (the “Scheme Rule”), but the existing shares
purchased and held by the Trustees pursuant to the Scheme Rule,
including shares not yet granted and granted shares which are not
vested in accordance with the Scheme Rule, shall remain in full force

and effect in all other respects.
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REZS PR iR DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
EE Y EX TSI IN-P&i I+
AR A St —H > K EHE AN
FEATHON B A R R FLAE A o D G 2
TS TR ([ 385 BT B e 1] ) S5 XV )
BEA AR 5 T B 015 3 5 2 e o ZH A 7
BB BT SR I A3 5 T R
AE (TR T ) 55 A (7 L riAR )
Wk C3 b HT AT AE ST 75 5558 ) O HE e <
) (T RS ) 1) 2600 6 AR 2 ) S W g A o 2
TRty ~ A B0 B fEHE s 2 HERR I F

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests

As at December 31, 2024, the interests of the directors and chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register which were required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”) pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) contained in Appendix C3 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the SEHK (the “Listing Rules”) were as follows:

A2 m A (5P ) Interest in the Company (long position)
REF4E
TR 1A
ARG RS
HRRL LUVE i T H BEATE 2 b

Approximate %

of interest in

the Company as at

Name of director December 31, 2024

Capacity/Nature of interest Number of ordinary shares

B 7F A A 1,168,761 0.0170%
Chen Xuping Beneficial Owner
B et % g A (e 12,800,759 0.1858%
Beneficial of a trust (Note)
i A A 2,251,460 0.0327%
Zhao Yi Beneficial Owner
fartza A () 8,756,494 0.1271%
Beneficial of a trust (Note)
RIBE A A 1,273,313 0.0185%
Zhang Xuzhong Beneficial Owner
fartz s A () 7,864,319 0.1142%
Beneficial of a trust (Note)
e it 2PN 555,776 0.0081%
Shen Ying Beneficial Owner
vt g A (3T 4,723,669 0.0686%

Beneficial of a trust (Note)

B {2 HE i 29,000 0.0004%
Interest of spouse
Frederick Peter Churchouse B A A 456,467 0.0066%
Beneficial Owner
PR % G2 ZUN 305,000 0.0044%
Chan Chi On, Derek Beneficial Owner
HE Haa A 10,507 0.0002%
Xiang Bing Beneficial Owner
2 [ i 200,000 0.0029%
Leong Chong Interest of spouse
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BFRE

%5 BRI R Dragon Dynasty Asset Limited ([ Dragon
Dynasty ) A fRrbEA A - Dragon Dynasty AP AT
JB X FR TME Trust (HK) Limited A Dragon Dynasty Share Award
Trust3Z sE AN B2 EHEA © Dragon Dynasty Share Award
Trusth) % 4 (G0 45 T 44 8 2 A 21 vl 7 6 0D
E B R o

B b SCRT s B A - 5 T IR AL R R
O3 ) TR PR B 2 R BEAT RO AR R OB 4 > REIG 0
I

Lo BRFFPIBAEAE LU fr e 2 m] R B 2 )
BRI A S AT PR 7] ([ B RE W
S D) TE P B B ERAT O SR T A R

f -

() ROFEZFENHLABTHER
Al S (BT R AR 10/ 0T
LT M 2% 4.30% ) PHEA AR 130
EICHRES » ME R A R &
f0.13% 5

() WMEF-—FE—ALHBEITHNER
NEfE S TR AR B0
ST M % 4.40% ) A AR 150
HITIHER > ME R AT R
190.15% °

2. BEEREAAARN R T NFEHT
1 18 S SRR (AT RS 3E 0 - FEIE R %
4.5%) PHEE 1008 UM ESS o AHE A EE
TEM0.20% °

Longfor Group Holdings Limited g 5 &= [ 2 j% 4 R

Notes:

Such number of shares are held on trust by Dragon Dynasty Asset Limited (“Dragon Dynasty”). The
entire issued share capital of Dragon Dynasty is wholly-owned by TMF Trust (HK) Limited as the
trustee of the Dragon Dynasty Share Award Trust. The beneficiary objects of the Dragon Dynasty
Share Award Trust are certain selected employees and directors of the Group as participants of the

Award Scheme adopted by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, certain Directors are also interested in the bonds issued by

the Company and an indirect subsidiary of the Company, details are as follows:

1. Mr. Chen Xuping is interested in the following bonds publicly issued in
China by Chongqing Longhu Development Co., Ltd. (“Chongqing Longhu

Development”), an indirect subsidiary of the Company:

(1) Owning RMB1.3 million of interest in the domestic corporate
bonds with a principal amount of RMB1.0 billion at a coupon rate
of 4.30% issued on August 7, 2020, representing 0.13% of the total

principal amount of the bonds; and

(i)  Owning RMB1.5 million of interest in the domestic corporate
bonds with a principal amount of RMB1.0 billion at a coupon rate
of 4.40% issued on January 7, 2021, representing 0.15% of the total

principal amount of the bonds.

2. Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek owns US$1 million of interest in the senior
notes with a principal amount of US$500 million at a coupon rate of 4.5%
issued by the Company in 2018, representing 0.20% of the total principal

amount of the notes.
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3. The spouse of Mr. Leong Chong owns US$2 million of interest and
US$2.5 million of interest in the senior notes with a principal amount of
US$500 million and US$850 million, respectively, at a coupon rate of
4.5% and 3.95%, respectively, issued by the Company in 2018 and 2019,
respectively, representing 0.4% and 0.29% of the total principal amount

of the respective notes.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, none of the directors or chief
executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the shares of the Company, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register which
were required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the SEHK pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at December 31, 2024, the interests of persons, other than the directors or
chief executive of the Company in the shares and the underlying shares of the
Company representing 5% or more of the nominal value of shares comprised in
the relevant share capital of the Company as recorded in the register kept by the

Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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BRI
+ZA=1+—H
A F R
WEAE 4
Approximate %
of interest in

the Company as at

AR ) iR AR (B A INTEREST IN THE COMPANY (LONG POSITION)
JBe R bk 4 UiV N T

Number of
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Ordinary shares*

December 31, 2024

HSBC International Trustee

Charm Talent

DS
Madam Wu Yajun
TR L
Madam Cai Xinyi

Silver Sea

AL
Mr. Cai Kui

Junson Development

Silverland

Jumbomax Investments Limited

SLIE

Woo Kwong Ching, Peter
(2GR

Pao Pui Yung, Bessie

ZREAN(BfF5EL ~ 2/3)
Trustee (Notes 1, 2 and 3)

ERCHEA A (EED)

Registered owner (Note 1)

SREHA I 2 et (R

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)

REEFEADIA (HED)

Founder of a discretionary trust (Note 1)

STV B 2 s (kL)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)

G FEAIEA (Fif5E2)

Founder of a discretionary trust (Note 2)

ERCHEA A (5E2)

Registered owner (Note 2)

ZREHE I 2 e (k)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2)

ZRENEE 2 R As (ME4)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4)

ZRENRE 2 R As (ME4)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4)

e 11 2 W 4 (B sE4)

Interest of spouse (Note 4)

4,473,471,603

3,074,932,676

3,074,932,676

3,074,932,676

3,074,932,676

1,398,395,127

1,398,395,127

1,398,395,127

426,172,500

426,172,500

426,172,500

64.94%

44.64%

44.64%

44.64%

44.64%

20.30%

20.30%

20.30%

6.19%

6.19%

6.19%
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Report of the Directors

According to the disclosure of interests filing submitted (dated October 2, 2024), these
shares are held by Charm Talent. The entire issued share capital of Charm Talent is wholly
owned by Silver Sea, the entire issued share capital of which is in turn indirectly wholly-
owned by HSBC International Trustee Limited (“HSBC International Trustee”) as the trustee
of the XTH Trust. The XTH Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Madam Cai Xinyi
(“Madam Cai”) as settlor and HSBC International Trustee as trustee on October 22, 2018.
Madam Cai as settlor of the XTH Trust is taken to be interested in the shares held by Charm
Talent pursuant to Part XV of the SFO. Madam Wu Yajun (“Madam Wu”) has received an
undertaking from Madam Cai, the settlor of the XTH Trust, pursuant to which Madam Cai
has undertaken to procure Charm Talent to exercise the voting rights of the shares held by
Charm Talent in accordance with Madam Wu's instructions. As Madam Wu is entitled to
control the exercise of the voting power of the shares held by Charm Talent, Madam Wu is
taken to be interested in the shares held by Charm Talent pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Madam Wu does not have personal interest in the shares.

According to the disclosure of interests filing submitted (dated October 2, 2024), these shares
are held by Junson Development. The entire issued share capital of Junson Development is
wholly owned by Silverland, the entire issued share capital of which is in turn wholly-owned
by HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Cai Family Trust. The Cai Family Trust
is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Cai Kui (“Mr. Cai”) as settlor and HSBC International
Trustee as trustee on June 11, 2008. Mr. Cai as settlor of the Cai Family Trust is taken to be

interested in the shares held by Junson Development pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

According to the disclosure of interests filing submitted (dated October 2, 2024), these shares
are held by HSBC International Trustee as trustee for XTH Trust, Cai Family Trust and other

crusts. These other trusts are independent from XTH Trust and Cai Family Trust.

According to the disclosure of interests filing submitted (dated July 12, 2021), these shares
represent the corporate interest of Jumbomax Investments Limited through a number of
its wholly owned subsidiaries. Mr. Woo Kwong Ching, Peter is interested in these shares
through the interest of corporation controlled by him while Ms. Pao Pui Yung, Bessie is

interested in these shares through the interest of spouse.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, the trustees of the Restricted Share Award Scheme purchased on
the SEHK a total of 20,441,659 shares at a total consideration of approximately
RMB197,217,000 pursuant to the terms of the trust deed under the Restricted
Share Award Scheme; in addition, the Company and a subsidiary of the Company
purchased senior notes issued by the Company in an aggregate principal amount
of USD274,500,000 on the open market.

Other than the aforesaid, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including
sale of treasury shares (as defined under the Listing Rules)) during the year. The

Company did not hold any treasury shares as at December 31, 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association, or the law of Cayman Islands being the jurisdiction in which the
Company is incorporated under which would oblige the Company to offer new

shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholder.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is subject to a number of laws and regulations concerning overall
environmental protection, impact to the environment, noise pollution and

environmental protection for development projects.

We place high emphasis on complying with relevant environmental laws and
regulations. We require our own staff and construction contractors to comply
with the relevant laws and regulations including environmental, labour, social
and safety regulations, as well as our own standards and specifications. Please refer
to the “2024 Sustainability Report” which published in April 2025 of the Group

for details.

We believe that we are in compliance in all material respects with the relevant

laws and regulations.

SIGNIFICANT SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Group has no significant subsequent events after December 31, 2024 as of

the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the

applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance standards adopted by the Company are set out in

the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors as at the date of this report, the directors confirm
that the Company has maintained the amount of public float as required under

the Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the above sections headed “Share Option Scheme” and “Share
Award Scheme” in this section, no equity-linked agreements were entered into

during the year and subsisted at the end of the year.

AUDITOR

The Company has not changed its auditor for the past three years. The
consolidated financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution for the reappointment of Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

For and on behalf of the Board

Chen Xuping

Chairman

Hong Kong, March 28, 2025
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Deloitte.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF LONGFOR GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Longfor Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 96 to 299, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including

material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

I A BRI 7 IR G f i L ) 4 O
Valuation of investment properties
Evd 7 EKTEEN

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with the estimation
associated with determining the fair value.
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TH -

The investment properties of the Group mainly comprise
shopping malls and apartments located in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”). As disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements, the investment properties are carried at
RMB210,924 million as at December 31, 2024, which represents
32% of the Group’s total assets. Change in fair value of investment
properties of RMB4,759 million were recognised in profit or loss
for the year then ended.
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All of the Group’s investment properties are stated at fair
value based on valuations performed by independent qualified
professional valuers (the “Valuers”) and directors. Details of the
valuation techniques and key inputs used in the valuations are
disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
The valuations are dependent on certain key inputs that involve
management estimation, including term yield, reversionary yield
and reversionary rental for completed investment properties,
gross development value, developer’s profit and discount rate
for investment properties under development, discount rate and
reversionary rental for investment properties under sublease.
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the investment
properties included:

T AT B B WIS AG (BRI RE 7 L4

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the Valuers and directors;

PG (BT S S 2 A B E ~ A OB

o Obtaining an understanding from the Valuers and
directors about the valuation methodology, the
performance of the property markets, significant
assumptions adopted, key inputs and data used in the
valuation and how the Valuers and directors justify the
methodology and assumptions used,;

A (LA R B T ARG (735 ~ T IR B~ B
R TR B o = S AR A (D S
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o Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs and
source data used in the valuations by the directors and
the Valuers by comparing them, on a sample basis, to
rentals and prices for similar neighbourhood properties;
and
T 5 S50 A (B 7 (1 56 9 2 i A B A e
RBRRY & BEME - S b SEU (DR [ B 4 S AL 2 B £
RRHEAT LS 5

o Involving our internal valuation expert, on a sample
basis, to evaluate the appropriateness of the valuation
techniques and reasonableness of the key inputs and data
used in the valuation by the Valuers and directors.
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Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRATI i {0

Assessment of net realisable value ("NRV”) of properties held for development (the “PFD”), properties under development for sales

(the “PUD”) and properties held for sales (the “PFS”) under inventories of properties
AP SEAF R N AR R SE (TR R SRR ]) ~ SRR 28 (TSR RR R 436 ) SR A th 3 (T AR W3 ) A T

ST A (T S BLEHE )

We identified the assessment of NRV of the Group’s PFD, PUD
and PFS (collectively referred to as the “Properties”) as a key audit
matter due to the estimation involved in the determination of
the NRV of the Properties and the estimation of future costs to
completion of the Properties, where applicable.
TSP AR B FRF B R ~ SR P R SRRt i
W3 (MG [ %36 ) 2 vl 4 B T o B s kSR >
P T A % 5 ) SR ] A B (B DAt R S W S R A S8 T A
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The Group had PFD of RMB10,115 million, PUD of
RMB159,229 million and PFS of RMB51,651 million as at
December 31, 2024. As set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management of the Group determined
the NRV of the Properties by reference to the estimated market
prices and estimated future costs to completion, if applicable,
of the Properties, which takes into account a number of factors
including the recent prices of similar property types in the same
project or by similar properties, and the prevailing and forecasted
real estate market conditions in the PRC. Besides, as set out in
note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the management
estimated the future costs to completion of the Properties, where
applicable, by reference to the actual development cost of the
Group’s completed projects, adjusted by certain current market
data.
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of NRV of the

Properties included:

A BURT A% S5 Wy A0 o] 5 BT (PR IUR R 7 L4

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
costs to completion of the Properties, where applicable,
on a sample basis, by comparing it to the actual
development cost of similar completed properties of
the Group and comparing the adjustments made by the
management to current market data;

LA 1 5 S TSN 52 T4 2 0 I B B A B 2
JIE 3B T 30 AR AT 1 O A BB AEEAT B A 52 PG
SR MG FHRACA (B ) B & 24

J Assessing the appropriateness of the NRV of the
Properties, on a sample basis, estimated by the
management by comparing the estimated market price
that derive the NRV to the market prices achieved in
the same project or comparable properties, based on our
knowledge of the Group’s business and the real estate
industry in the PRC; and
AR T A S 5 4 R £ S5 DA o B s b 7 A7 S 1 0
k> BT Aokt T A B (A A T i 357 (A B ] I
I BCAT E e SE B T S AR AT L > AP A B
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o Assessing the accuracy of the estimation of the
market price that derive the NRV and future costs to
completion of the Properties by comparing the previous
estimation to the actual amounts.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZE i TiE R FRAM It IR G o A At
Revenue recognised from sales of properties
HERR & W 2E A

We identified revenue recognised from sales of properties at
a point in time as a key audit matter as it is quantitatively
significant to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and there are judgments involved in
determining the appropriate point at which to recognise revenue
from sales of properties.
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Revenue from sales of properties is recognised when a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the properties
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customers as disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements. Control of the properties is transferred to the
customers at a point in time.
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Our procedures in relation to the appropriate point at which
to recognise revenue from sales of properties by the Group
included:

FRAM L B R 72 e 4 0 A 2 9 5 0 S A BRI 7
15

o Evaluating the terms set out in the relevant contracts
and obtaining evidence, on a sample basis, to assess
whether the control of the properties underlying the
particular performance obligations is transferred to the
customers at a point in time;

SR AT AR B 5 4 P B R I RIS RE o DLRR A
R L A0 A AR P 0 S 2 o IR 1 7 R — g ]
HWHEEF

o Assessing management’s process and control over the
appropriate point in time at which revenue from sales of

properties is recognised; and

A L S 0 SRR A D R O R I
e 5 R
o Evaluating the terms set out in the relevant contracts

and inspecting the property delivery notices or other
appropriate evidence for a sufficient period before and
after year-end, on a sample basis, to determine whether
the performance obligations identified in the sales and
purchases agreements as disclosed in revenue from
contracts with customers to the consolidated financial
statements are satisfied and revenue from sales of
properties are recorded in the correct reporting period.
A AR £ A 7R A IW@EW%RE%%W
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not exptess any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by IASB and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, ot have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions

of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment

and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

U Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

U Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.
U Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the

directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

U Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business units
within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s

report is Lam Chi Hong.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

March 28, 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income

RE-ZOWETZAST—HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2024

i3 “EOUE —F =
NOTES 2024 2023
ANR¥EFL ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
A Revenue S 127,474,948 180,736,575
S A Cost of sales (107,063,877) (150,152,727)
EF Gross profit 20,411,071 30,583,848
HAbA Other income 6 1,080,056 1,508,598
HoAbu 35 Kls g Other gains and losses 7 738,477 819,202
HEAEEN Lease liability charges (777,884) (792,734)
R 2 BRI A T R Fair value gain upon transfer to investment
properties - 13,254
PG N EET Change in fair value of investment properties 4,758,637 1,998,986
HAb AT SR T B THEE) Change in fair value of other derivative
financial instruments 456,906 (40,919)
Y R B Selling and marketing expenses (4,233,593)  (5,262,817)
ATH B Administrative expenses (4,463,910)  (5,502,495)
R A Finance costs 8 (84,836) (149,479)
MEAG B N w24 Share of results of associates 238,798 134,835
JEIL S B L Share of results of joint ventures 606,802 1,419,023
BRBL Al 1 Profit before taxation 18,730,524 24,729,302
Fr S BB Income tax expense 9 (6,605,449)  (7,596,752)
B i A Profit for the year 46 12,125,075 17,132,550
AR BEAG R A Profit attributable to:
K/NTIE: 2PN Owners of the Company 10,401,171 12,850,011
T RE 4 Non-controlling interests 1,723,904 4,282,539
12,125,075 17,132,550

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #E 4 = B # % 5 R A &)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income
D A e T

For the year ended December 31, 2024

W CEWE Fos
NOTES 2024 2023

ARWTFE  ARWTT
RMB000  RMB'000

A Y Profit for the year 12,125,075 17,132,550
HAb AT - Other comprehensive expense:
ARG E R E 7 HE - Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

N AR A A AT R ZS ([H%7Y  Fair value losses on investments in
STAEFEA A A S 1) RE S equity instruments at fair value through
THEEZ A THEEE other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") (707,333)  (1,417,318)

HENTBEEH R w2 HE ©  Items that may be reclassified subsequently

to profit or loss:

S TR AT I R A Net fair value gains on hedging instruments 786,194 899,539
AR RGN LR Losses on hedging instruments reclassified
AR to profit or loss (538,742) (929,886)
247,452 (30,347)
A 4 i B S AR Total other comprehensive expense (459,881)  (1,447,665)
AT A AR Total comprehensive income for the year 11,665,194 15,684,885
DATR A 4 17 i o A - Total comprehensive income attributable to:
EN/NGIE SN Owners of the Company 9,941,290 11,402,346
FerEbIfE & Non-controlling interests 1,723,904 4,282,539

11,665,194 15,684,885

BRAA (NRETT) Earnings per share, in RMB
BN Basic 11 1.58 2.07
g Diluted 11 1.57 2.06

£ # Annual Report 2024 -~ QF
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BHEFZNETFZA=1—H
At December 31, 2024

I

Fif SROuE —EF =
NOTES 2024 2023
ANR#EFLE AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B EE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
B Investment properties 12 210,924,077 199,751,631
W B Kk Property, plant and equipment 13 2,284,187 2,200,305
MG E Right-of-use assets 14 599,452 579,569
kS Goodwill 15 3,834,757 3,834,757
IR G Intangible assets 17 1,804,514 2,009,314
NS TR S Interests in associates 18 14,459,115 15,399,336
BN Interests in joint ventures 19 18,313,904 16,052,277
Fe O FARRE AT A TS £ 1Y Equity instruments designated at FVTOCI
s LA 20 5,446,521 6,639,807
firem I A Derivative financial instruments 32 434,163 358,577
WAL Deferred taxation assets 34 12,534,350 11,389,985
270,635,040 258,215,558
B CURRENT ASSETS
WERE Inventories of properties 21 220,995,189 254,779,161
Hinfr & Other inventories 22 50,119 61,519
TR SRR Y EN AT R 2 Deposits paid for acquisition of properties
held for development 2,166,354 4,488,522
TR &,HJ’[EWEIUI KIH -~ Ha Accounts and other receivables, deposits and
NFER R prepayments 23 23,924,771 28,645,379
BHINA Contract cost 1,805,967 1,680,381
%4&#%%’”‘%5#@5 Amounts due from non-controlling interests 24 65,234,520 61,589,422
TENC IG5 N B A Amounts due from associates 24 3,514,750 4,215,911
RE & 2 IE Amounts due from joint ventures 24 12,715,315 13,166,780
ﬂll&[ﬁlﬁtlﬁ Taxation recoverable 14,627,951 13,039,789
AN TERARS ([EAFE Financial assets at fair value through
HM%E@J ZEmERE profit or loss (‘FVTPL”) 20 = 2,000
fiEemT R Derivative financial instruments 32 555,741 99,723
CARIERIT AR Pledged bank deposits 25 1,464,493 1,198,327
SRATH B R BL & Bank balances and cash 25 47,951,575 59,224,403
395,006,745 442,191,317
RSN CURRENT LIABILITIES
JREASTRRTE ~ A M 3K I Accounts and other payables
S and accrued charges 26 59,902,852 67,598,945
BHBEE Contract liabilities 27 91,847,431 102,785,977
JREAF FE 428 I HE %5 2K 0E Amounts due to non-controlling interests 28 16,916,556 23,403,687
JE AT Y 2 7?}( Amounts due to associates 28 7,313,549 9,173,004
JEAT G Amounts due to joint ventures 28 8,736,311 7,692,958
JEATRLIE Taxation payable 24,166,248 27,539,502
A THF AR 4 2 el A R Financial liabilities at FVTPL 35 56,229 50,705
HEA H——FREY Lease liabilities — due within one year 29 1,541,078 1,666,987
SRAT S LA S B — — 4 R E A Bank and other borrowings — due within one year 30 30,244,198 26,840,905
it TR Derivative financial instruments 32 13,579 8,990
HoAbATA 4 m TR Other derivative financial instrument 30 139,369 227,767
240,877,400 266,989,427
LB & TR NET CURRENT ASSETS 154,129,345 175,201,890
AR W B A TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 424,764,385 433,417,448

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #E 4 = B # % 5 R A &)




A B 2 5K 0 AR

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

St

At December 31, 2024

i3 e 11 S
NOTES 2024 2023
ANR#EFLE AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
G A CAPITAL AND RESERVES

ii&N Share capital 33 601,435 574,477
s Reserves 33 160,829,627 151,392,232
AN T NREAGHE £ Equity attributable to owners of the Company 161,431,062 151,966,709
FE IR Non-controlling interests 84,045,749 84,491,558
SR A TOTAL EQUITY 245,476,811 236,458,267

B A NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
JREAT IR HEAX A Deferred consideration payable 26 1,268 1,268
A PHF AR i 2 A Financial liabilities at FVTPL 35 18,200 56,983
HE&E——FERINY Lease liabilities — due after one year 29 12,400,041 13,165,227
AT BHAAE R — —FEEM Bank and other borrowings — due after one year 30 136,561,264 154,501,113
B e — — AT Senior notes — due after one year 31 9,516,516 11,303,543
it amT A Derivative financial instruments 32 116,097 375,278
HAbfrd: 4/ T A Other derivative financial instruments 30 108,038 513,557
FEFTE & K Deferred taxation liabilities 34 20,566,150 17,042,212
179,287,574 196,959,181
424,764,385 433,417,448

FICFE209H 2 A M MER - HE=A
T\ B E A KA - W LLTEA

LR

B
CHEN Xuping
HH
DIRECTOR

on its behalf by:

Lol s
ZHAO Yi

HH
DIRECTOR

£ 3% Annual Report 2024

The consolidated financial statements on pages 96 to 299 were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on March 28, 2025 and are signed
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RE-ZOWETZAST—HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2024

I

TR —E =
2024 2023

AR#FE ARETT
RMB000  RMB'000

REGE)
R L e
LT %
B A
HEAREM
W~ B ST
i e E A 85
e T M
R BUE YIS P AR
BRSNS E)
HoAh A7 A 45 b TR T (B 5
3 A YNTES
AL 78 A SE A
HEE - s B
(et ) s HH
FE A
HE S 4R

LBy 25 R B 5k B S

i ] B SR SR I AR i A
5 B 2 B P A A B Y
i FNSES ROl S P
=t

T IR /B ST (k]
VE V& i

HEESRIMNAERENE

HAbfr & wm»

BT

BN (B2 E S SN DS
b ()

TSR B LA R R ~ Feds
A SR

AT AR B HL A B 5 kTR
JERT B

BRARED

REEErN S
EAF i A RALAIE (T )
P

AR TEB B &

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Lease liability charges

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of intangible assets

Fair value gain upon transfer to investment properties
Change in fair value of investment properties

Change in fair value of other derivative financial

instruments
Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

(Gain) losses on disposal of property, plant and

equipment
Interest income
Net exchange loss

Share-based payments expenses

Gain on repurchase of senior notes and bonds
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries and

remeasurement gain on previously held

interest in an associate

Provision for write-down of PUD and PFS

Operating cash flows before movements in

working capital
Decrease in other inventories

Decrease in inventories of properties

Decrease (increase) in deposits paid for acquisition

of properties held for development

Decrease in accounts and other receivables,

deposits and prepayments

Decrease in accounts and other payables

and accrued charges

Decrease in contract liabilities

Cash generated from operations
The People’s Republic of China
(The “PRC”) income tax paid

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

18,730,524 24,729,302

84,836 149,479
777,884 792,734
118,380 221,084

33,109 49,089
204,860 204,167

- (13,254)

(4,758,637)  (1,998,986)

(456,906) 40,919
(238,798) (134,835)
(606,802)  (1,419,023)

(12,735) 119,008
(556,502) (874,358)
23,976 27,538
545,732 194,270

(858,493) (889,734)

(144,634) (109,343)

992,477 1,013,782

13,878,271 22,101,839
11,400 372,604
36,299,621 62,393,825
591,268 (562,870)

3,897,807 373,276

(5,765,822)  (22,937,536)
(10,298,735)  (16,522,968)

38,613,810 45,218,170

(8,868,190)  (12,210,455)

29,745,620 33,007,715

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #E 4 = B # % 5 R A &)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

Wtk Sl —F"=
NOTES 2024 2023

AR#EFE ARETT
RMB000  RMB'000

BHEE) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Era=CUE S| Additions to investment properties (5,838,360)  (8,518,263)
HEREY Disposal of investment properties - 867,410
T G R Additions to intangible asset 17 (60) (17,060)
BRI B A A S M A Acquisition of assets and liabilities through
acquisition of subsidiaries 36 (240,850) (36,036)
SRR A R R AT B Settlement of consideration payable for
N TR I I B R A 2 A acquisition of assets and liabilities through
acquisition of subsidiaries in prior year - (132,682)
BRI A DA Z RUE Settlement of consideration payable for
business combination (246,743) (246,871)
B B A ) Disposal of subsidiaries 39 (85,826) (744,616)
i /NI Capital reduction from associates 36,630 55,793
WESEENRE Investments in joint ventures (445,633) (63,064)
B AT E R A A A2 Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments
e B R i LB BT 0 designated at FVTOCI 549,695 -
W B NPT A A A Purchase of equity instruments designated
W Y RE SR T2 at FVTOCI (4,472) -
HELATHEFI ARG 2 Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
SR I T R at FVTPL 2,000 32,933
S el OE e -y Investment in an associate (14,000) (10,946)
Sl A E R R Dividend received from joint ventures 9,099 807,872
B WA A R A R Dividend received from associates 306,040 136,512
I B ) AR Advances to associates (914,232)  (1,037,802)
e S/NTIE 4 Repayments from associates 2,090,199 4,133,807
] A A SR Advances to joint ventures 2A471,464)  (3,644,284)
RN Repayments from joint ventures 2,922,929 6,175,778
1) JF P2 A 4 TR Advances to non-controlling interests (14,410,573)  (21,390,765)
FE P2 IR 4 2 K Repayments from non-controlling interests 6,527,468 11,873,730
TEA TR RIT 7K Placement of pledged bank deposits (973,792) (944,987)
FEIE SRR AR R Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 707,626 275,546
MEE Y - BE Kt Purchase of property, plant and equipment (336,567) (849,792)
R Interest received 556,502 874,358
HAE AN T R IR Proceeds from disposal of associates 533,934 -
FRA T E R A AL 2 T i Capital distribution from equity instruments
W TEEE at designated FVTOCI - 51,400
WA - WS B TR IR Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment 138,851 740,069
PG L B AT B 4 i A NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (11,601,599) (11,611,960)
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e —

Bt “RIOUE CEF =4
NOTES 2024 2023
AR#FFL  ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BN <eiT FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Wi B A o 4 v AR A M £ Acquisition of additional interests in
subsidiaries 37 (3,267,500) (2,815,166)
HEE R A B R 4 Disposal of partial interest in subsidiaries not
(RS HEHIHE) resulting in losing control 38 591,700 124,956
(BB ERAT R Fo M fE 2k Repayment of bank and other borrowings (79,948,130)  (66,508,764)
SAALE Interest paid (7,670,758)  (8,800,441)
A RAT B AR New bank and other borrowings raised 84,777,438 61,397,895
BITIE SR P52 E Proceeds from issue of bonds = 2,300,000
&R fEA Repayment of bonds (11,712,110)  (9,666,413)
BT B Expenses on issue of bonds = (6,900)
TER G A Repayment of asset-backed securities (7,237,775) (27,715)
R & A & Repayment of lease liabilities (828,725) (647,167)
S E AR Lease liability charges paid (777,884) (792,734)
PR Capital injection from non-controlling
shareholders 1,464,930 1,716,380
Rt 2 ) Bl Capital reduction of subsidiaries (207,588)  (1,113,999)
AT P 3K TE Proceeds from issue of shares 50,775 _
FUARR I b 5 1 0 8 5 e Payment for purchase of shares under the share
EORREe award scheme (197,217) (311,136)
CATIRE Dividend paid (1,166,021)  (1,762,222)
T FF 122 S E 25 S ARG IR Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (559,602) (574,643)
k- NI Advances from associates 572,296 2,184,846
I B A R 2 2K Repayments to associates (2,431,185)  (4,618,836)
BRI Advances from joint ventures 1,878,835 7,595,101
] A A SRR Repayments to joint ventures (835,366)  (6,978,455)
I P2 Tl 4 R Advances from non-controlling interests 4,922,902 8,298,432
o) JE P HIRE 5 1 X Repayments to non-controlling interests (5,015,823) (11,696,722)
s [ i S 2 g Repurchase of senior notes (1,199,253)  (1,385,680)
1 [l {5 %5 Repurchase of bonds (620,788) (177,378)
AT B BT B R AR NET CASH USED IN FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (29,416,849)  (34,266,761)
4 M B4 (B W 3 4R NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (11,272,828) (12,871,006)
ERI B RO &R CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 59,224,403 72,095,409
EARMB A R ESEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
END OF THE YEAR 47,951,575 59,224,403
Bl BB &5 EYAE ST ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
ATH B N Bl Bank balances and cash 47,951,575 59,224,403

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #E 4 = B # % 5 R A &)
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

GENERAL INFORMATION

Longfor Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated on
December 21, 2007 as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the
Company are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “SEHK?”). The address of the registered office of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The addresses of the principal
place of business of the Company in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) and Hong Kong are Beijing Longfor Blue Engine Industrial Park,
Building 6, No. 8 Beiyuan Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing, and 15/F, 1
Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 54(a).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi

(“RMB”), which is the functional currency of the Company and its major

subsidiaries.
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Amendments to IFRS 16

I P YR R 1 SR B AT A

Amendments to IAS 1

I g YR RS 1 SR B AT A

Amendments to [AS 1

I % 06 555 7 5% [ o 5 o Y )
HTIRERTA

Amendments to IAS 7 and TFRS 7
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on January 1, 2024 for

the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

G ilEPAi TSN

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

M A TR SR TR

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
Bl 55 < IR I ) A £

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

4 2
Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

statements.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

(a) Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 1 Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current

Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the

current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as

current or non-current, which:

U specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the classification
should not be affected by management intentions or

expectations to settle the liability within 12 months.

U clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer of
cash, goods or services, or the entity’s own equity instruments
to the counterparty. If a liability has terms that could, at
the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these
terms do not affect its classification as current or non-current
only if the entity recognises the option separately as an
equity instrument applying IAS 32 Financial Instruments:

Presentation.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

(@ Impacts on application of Amendments to TAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to IAS 1 No#n-
curvent Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that only
covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or before
the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
date, even if compliance with the covenant is assessed only after
the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments also specify that
covenants with which an entity must comply after the reporting
date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect the classification of a
liability as current or non-current at the reporting date. However,
if the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to
the entity complying with covenants within twelve months after
the reporting period, an entity discloses information that enables
users of financial statements to understand the risk of the liabilities
becoming repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period. This would include information about the covenants, the
carrying amount of related liabilities and facts and circumstances,
if any, that indicate that the entity may have difficulties complying

with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has applied
the new accounting policy to the classification of liability as current
or non-current retrospectively. The application of the amendments
in the current year had no material impact on the consolidated

financial statements.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to

IFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

ST HEABE G RINET

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of

Financial Instruments’

WA AR REIRAEE B a4

Contracts Referencing Nature— dependent Electricity’

BEH EHBE AR E B R M EE SR E

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture'
R 5 o Ut YR R B 47 B RO — B 11
Annual Improvements to [FRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11°
AR S
Lack of Exchangeability?
SR B AR ) 2 31 B4

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2026.

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards
mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

(a) Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the

Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments

The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify the recognition and
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability and add an
exception which permits an entity to deem a financial liability to be
discharged before the settlement date if it is settled in cash using an

electronic payment system if, and only if certain conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment of
whether the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are consistent
with a basic lending arrangement. The amendments specify that
an entity should focus on what an entity is being compensated for
rather than the compensation amount. Contractual cash flows are
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement if they are indexed to
a variable that is not a basic lending risk or cost. The amendments
state that, in some cases, a contingent feature may give rise to
contractual cash flows that are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement both before and after the change in contractual cash
flows, but the nature of the contingent event itself does not relate
directly to changes in basic lending risks and costs. Furthermore,
the description of the term “non-recourse” is enhanced and the
characteristics of “contractually linked instruments” are clarified in

the amendments.

The disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 in respect of investments
in equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are amended. In particular, entities are
required to disclose the fair value gain or loss presented in other
comprehensive income during the period, showing separately those
related to investments derecognised during the reporting period and
those related to investments held at the end of the reporting period.
An entity is also required to disclose any transfers of the cumulative
gain or loss within equity related to the investments derecognised
during the reporting period. In addition, the amendments introduce
the requirements of qualitative and quantitative disclosure of
contractual terms that could affect the contractual cash flow based
on a contingent even not directly relating to basic lending risks and

COst.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

(a) Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
(Continued)

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2026, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and performance of

the Group.

(b) Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of

Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures deal
with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically,
the amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss
of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a
transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for
using the equity method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that
associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from
the remeasurement of investments retained in any former subsidiary
(that has become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for
using the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the former
parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’

interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the

Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

(c)  IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

IERS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which
sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in financial
statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
This new IFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many
of the requirements in IAS 1, introduces new requirements to
present specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement
of profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-defined
performance measures in the notes to the financial statements
and improve aggregation and disaggregation of information
to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some
IAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Minor
amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IAS 33 Earnings

per Share are also made.

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group
is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of IFRS 18 on the

Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

3.2

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB.
For the purpose of preparation of consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
SEHK (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for the investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values, at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out

below.

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the Company:

o has power over the investee;

U is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

U has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of

the three elements of control listed above.
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ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,

including:

J the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the

size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

U potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders

or other parties;

U rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

U any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,

including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group losses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when

the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit

balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the

Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets

of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing

subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity including reserves and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests

in the subsidiaries.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing

subsidiaries (Continued)

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of

the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable IFRS Accounting Standards). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in

an associate or a joint venture.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all of the
fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross
assets under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred
taxation assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred

tax liabilities.

If the concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets is

determined not to be a business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that
do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to investment properties
which are subsequently measured under fair value model and
financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the other
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair
values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise

to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of business (see the accounting

policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or group of CGUs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating

segment.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication

that the unit may be impaired.

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a
CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed
of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or
the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of
CGUs) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an

associate and a joint venture is described below.



A

Ao B 2 R M R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 1 VU5 0 e A SRR e e K
b BORER a0

3.2 BEREFIEORER 4)

FRARBA

A5 T S R A0 B AR R - BB
R T A0 A A R 7 i A
[Pt | MR =R P > MR I
i

B 40 AR F 4 ) & RS (R —
AL A ERS ) B — AR SR B ]
Z@E'Jféf hEURS o

AT s B RS ) S EE R
XBRELHESL > WARKEFE
BEE TR > AA%ME
L 75 B2 5 ORI AR AT A i el £
{E R ifERE. -

A9 30T R ) 6 42 T HE Y
ESEEI Y e R 2 E SN
T& IR 7 SR T K
femEsd i o BRI LI G
AR - BRAFEEALERC K
& FAUE (S M AESR) m & P
RS B i B S  25 -

E2)IRYESERIN NN E SL YT T
FRUCA > 52 BB #0351 Y 1 AR 2
AR BMRIRIE S 5 1L F
TR MBS AR ] R sk Y
T 5 I 5 1 fEE (4% e - A Y
RO > fie HE S B A 4 A WS i
B HIRE DT WA B A1 DL -

TER BTk > MALEES
AT 2 R > AU 2 &3
BASE IS B bR RBUEE
FLHAMIB > RS B 4 A HER B
RN SHERDIA

3.

BEZRIET A=A IR

For the year ended December 31, 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the

particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or

services that are substantially the same.

For property development and sales contracts for which the
control of the property is transferred at a point in time, revenue is
recognised when the customer obtains the control of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and the

collection of the consideration is probable.

For property development and sale contracts for which the control
of the property is transferred at a point in time, deposits and
instalments received from purchasers prior to delivery of the
properties to the customers are recognised as contract liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position. A contract liability
represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to
a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an

amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

For property management, entrusted construction and consultancy
fee income, the progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output method, which
is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining services promised under the contract, that best depict

the Group’s performance in transferring control of services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in
an amount that corresponds directly with the value of the Group’s
performance completed to date, the Group recognises revenue in the

amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation (including properties under construction for

such purposes).

Investment properties also include leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under

operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude

any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they

arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the

investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. A leased
property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is derecognised
if the Group as an intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as
a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit

or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair

value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost
less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

£ 3% Annual Report 2024
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3.2 HEARGFERER @) 3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or
joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
joint venture and associate), the Group discontinues recognising its

share of further losses.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the

period in which the investment is acquired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of

disposal) with its carrying amount.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the
retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
of the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate
or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon

disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.
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ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in

the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Changes in the Group’s interests in associates and joint

ventures

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in

ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related

assets or liabilities.

Acquisition of additional interests in associates or joint

ventures

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if there is excess of the
consideration paid over the share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associates or joint ventures
acquired. Any excess of share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associates or joint ventures
acquired over the consideration paid are recognised in the profit or

loss in the period in which the additional interest are acquired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Inventories of properties

Properties held for/under development which are intended to be
sold upon completion of development and properties for sales
are classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land
element which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties held for/
under development/held for sales are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value (“NRV”). Cost is determined on a specific
identification basis including allocation of the related development
expenditure incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs
capitalised. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for the properties less estimated cost to completion and
costs necessary to make the sales. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-

incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Properties held for/under development are transferred to properties

held for sales upon completion.

The Group transfers a property from property held for sales to
investment property when there is a change in use to hold the
property to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than
for sale in the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by
the inception of an operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and its

previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required

to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation,
the part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other parties
is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the

consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Contingent liabilities (Continued)

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable.
If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits
will be required for an item previously dealt with as a contingent
liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change in
probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances where

no reliable estimate can be made.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a settlement date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by

regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial

recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting

contractual cash flows; and

U the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income
(“OCTI”) if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business

combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

(@)

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in

the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and

has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the

asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(ii)

(1if)

Equity instruments designated at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in OCI and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are
not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain
or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of
the equity investments, and will be transferred to retained

earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other income” line item in

profit or loss.
Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being

measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated at
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or

losses recognised in profit or loss.
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HRTEORE R ) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 BEREFBORER ) 3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
SR T H (%) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including accounts and other
receivables, amounts due from non-controlling interests, associates
and joint ventures, pledged bank deposits and bank balances) and
other items (representing financial guarantee contracts) which are
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit

risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the

reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debt as with
significant balances and/or collectively using a collective basis with

appropriate groupings.
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3. HAMBEBERGWEHEKETKRK 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

Bt R R ) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 HEREFBRER @) 3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
ST H %) Financial instruments (Continued)
BRIEE () Financial assets (Continued)
55 A (L % ZEUAR 4 I R Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
55 15 1 T 28 o B A Tl (E R R AL impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)
AT H (42)
iAo A M TR > REBFEY For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
s SR 4 S i 128 A TR B equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
o BRIE A E KRR A (G SR e increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
R > RIAE RIS T A4 [ A R Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
B BEIE B o AR R ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
WERR A TR (5 B R T 5 B likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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G)  [FERFE KR (i)  Significant increase in credit risk

AN AG SRR B KRR In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
DABRA 5 K 35 5 > A 4R since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
B L 4 i T EL i ity H 3 a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
b B 2 A B JL o B e i T reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
HRAHE RS H A BLE &) financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
()R B o fF M RP Al IR > A SR In making this assessment, the Group considers both
B &5 8 A A B S R quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
e & RE R S and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
e 48 B K B JE T B N 0 B looking information that is available without undue cost or
AR g BV AT R A Y i S effort.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit

spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor; or

J an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on the Group’s financial assets has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial assets
are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
A financial asset is determined to have low credit risk if 1) it
has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a financial asset to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of

‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of
assessing impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
for financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on

the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in

credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

£ # Annual Report 2024 - ]33




134

B B U 5 R MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE-ZOWETZAST—HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2024

3. EIEWERAHRIERRETEKR
fratBORYERH a0

3.2 HEARGFERER @)

ST H 4

BB E (47)

45 Al E U1 I ZE AR R R

5 0 Y R 5 O SR AR A T 0 (B T A

W EALIEH (47)

G EHER
A A R B BT
i PR A B A1 AR TR B
(ENN< VN v PN N
e EREA (B ALE) T
BT ORFE B A B R 1
AT i ) B > AR 6
HEBEEL S -

M b R A A G
oA v L E L A
QOR A i B4 o A4 [
A B AT SRR BB A
ERAARKENEEERS
AR -

Longfor Group Holdings Limited &g #f & @ % % B R 2 &)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by

the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more

appropriate.
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3. HAOMBRESMWIHEKETELA 3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
Rt EORE R ) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Ek@%f&%féﬂ (%) 3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
S TR (4) Financial instruments (Continued)
BRI () Financial assets (Continued)
<55 TR (L % ZEAR 4 I R Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
Bk e HI B o SR A AT (54 impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)
Y HAIE E (4)
(i) [FEBEHERE (iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets
o —TA B & TR 4 g Al A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
F R 2 B 4 L A B T of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
HIELFMBER > SRS future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
EHEGERE SREE Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
B B I B Y A8 0 45 observable data about the following events:
B AR SR ] s g
@ BT NSRS B (a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
GigNLE 73T borrower;
(b)  HEA > QA aE (b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
1t event;
© fERAHEZRANER (c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
L 2O B R AT contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
E% 488 3% B A & DA financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
1) i 3 N7 7 B concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
N 5547 %5 g 1 1 consider; or
s m
@ &AW e T (d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
78 A A B bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
HA -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.

Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default

occurring as the weights.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in

measuring the lease receivable in accordance with IFRS 16.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated

based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of
the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to

receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that are
specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that,
the risks are taken into account by adjusting the discount rate

instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivable are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information. For collective
assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following

characteristics when formulating the grouping:

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit

risk characteristics.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with exception of account and other receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss

allowance account.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also

recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is

transferred to retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability

and an equity instrument.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the

Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including accounts and other payables,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, associates and joint
ventures, deferred consideration payable, senior notes and bank and
other borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,

using effective interest method.

Financial liability at FVTPL

Financial liability is classified as at FVPTL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an
acquirer as part of a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies;
(ii) held for trading or (iii) it is designated at FVPTL.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is

subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with IFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee

period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.
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32 HEREFEORER 4 3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
ST H (45) Financial instruments (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends

on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial
asset hosts within the scope of IFRS 9 are not separated. The entire
hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured in its

entirety as either amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are not
financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are treated as separate
derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their
risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host

contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedges for foreign

currency and interest rate movements exposure (cash flow hedges).

At the inception of the hedging relationship the Group documents
the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged
item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy
for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at
the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item

attributable to the hedged risk.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Hedge accounting (Continued)
Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers whether the
hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or
cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, which
is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge

effectiveness requirements:

U there is an economic relationship between the hedged item

and the hedging instrument;

J the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes

that result from that economic relationship; and

o the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as
that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging
instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge that

quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness
requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same,
the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e.

rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

For changes made to the hedged risk, hedged item or hedging
instrument required by interest rate benchmark reform, the Group
amends the formal designation of a hedging relationship to reflect
the changes by the end of the reporting period during which the
relevant changes were made. Such an amendment to the formal
designation of the hedging relationship constitutes neither the
discontinuation of the hedging relationship nor the designation of a

new hedging relationship.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Hedge accounting (Continued)
Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in hedging reserve
limited to the cumulative charge in fair value of the hedged item
inception of the hedge. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss and is included in

the ‘other gains and losses’ line item.

When a hedged item in a cash flow hedge is amended to reflect the
changes that are required by the interest rate benchmark reform, the
amount accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve is deemed to be

based on the alternative benchmark rate on which the hedged future

cash flows are determined.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (hedging reserve) are reclassified to profit or
loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the
same line of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as the recognised hedged item.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively only
when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet
the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This
includes instances when the hedging instrument expires o is sold,
terminated or exercised. Discontinuing hedge accounting can
either affect a hedging relationship in its entirety or only a part
of it (in which case hedge accounting continues for the remainder
of the hedging relationship). Any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transactions is
ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction

is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in

equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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BEZRIET A=A IR
For the year ended December 31, 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract s, ot contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange

for consideration.

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases
with similar characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from individual

leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease building
components, unless such allocation cannot be made reliably. Non-
lease components are separated from lease component on the basis of
their relative stand-alone prices are accounted for by applying other

applicable standards.
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fralBORYE R ) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
32 HEREFEORER 4 3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
ME () Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of lands and buildings that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over

the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of the initial

measurement of lease liability.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the

lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-
of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property
and inventory are presented within “investment properties” and

“inventories of properties” respectively.
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BEZRIET A=A IR
For the year ended December 31, 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is

not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance

fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value model.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are

recognised as income when they arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course

of business are presented as revenue.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative stand-

alone selling prices.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the

underlying asset.

The Group uses the discount rate used for the head lease (adjusted
for any initial direct costs associated with the sublease) to measure
the net investment in the sublease if the interest rate implicit in the

sublease cannot be readily determined.
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BEZRIET A=A IR
For the year ended December 31, 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred

income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred taxation is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred taxation liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
taxation assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which these deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred taxation assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not

give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

In addition, deferred taxation liabilities are not recognised if the

temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and interests
in associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred taxation assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the

foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at each
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

The measurement of deferred taxation liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or

settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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BEZRIET A=A IR

For the year ended December 31, 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption
is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale, except for freehold land, which
is always presumed to be recovered entirely through sale. If the
presumption is rebutted, deferred taxation liabilities and deferred
taxation assets for such investment properties are measured in
accordance with the above general principles set out in IAS 12
(i.e. based on the expected manner as to how the properties will be

recovered).

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets
and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether
the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the

lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12 requirements to
the lease liabilities and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred

tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same

taxable entity by the same taxation authority.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred taxation are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred taxation are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred taxation arises from the initial accounting for
a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting

for the business combination.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at

the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of options
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity

(share option reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options or shares expected to vest based on
assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates during the vesting
period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding

adjustment to share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in

share option reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Share awards granted to employees

The fair value of service received, determined by reference to the fair
value of awarded shares granted at the date of grant, is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding

increase in equity (share award reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of the awarded shares that are expected to ultimately
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates during
the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a

corresponding adjustment to share award reserve.

When awarded shares are vested, the amount previously recognised
in share award reserve and the amount of the relevant awarded shares
(presented under the shares held for share award scheme) will be

transferred to retained earnings.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, contract costs,

right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
contract costs and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine

the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually, when it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the

asset belongs.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, contract costs,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporates assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under IFRS 15, the Group assesses
and recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to
the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards.
Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract
costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to
receive in exchange for related goods or services less the costs which
relate directly to providing those goods or services that have not
been recognised as expenses. The assets capitalised as contract costs
are then included in the carrying amount of the CGU to which they

belong for the purpose of evaluating impairment of that CGU.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of

future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, contract costs,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a
CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUgs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata
to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from

these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies
Control over certain entities

Certain entities (the “Subsidiaries”) have been accounted for as subsidiaries
by the Group (note 54) although the Group has only held less than 50%

equity interests in them.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group has
control over the Subsidiaries based on whether the Group has the practical
ability to direct the relevant activities of the Subsidiaries unilaterally.
In making the judgment, the directors of the Company considered the
Group’s voting power in making decision over the relevant activities of the
Subsidiaries at different times throughout their lives, such as the approval
of the operation plan and budget, the status of the property projects of the
Subsidiaries, pre-sale of property projects and the extent of workforce in
place and the right of appointing, remunerating and terminating the key
management personnel or service providers of the relevant activities. After
assessment, the directors of the Company concluded that the Group has
sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities of the

Subsidiaries and therefore the Group has control over them.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies (Continued)
Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the directors of
the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios
and concluded that the Group’s investment properties are held under
a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather
than through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s deferred taxation
on investment properties, the directors of the Company have determined
that the presumption of investment properties measured using the fair
value model are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the
Group has recognised deferred taxation for PRC Enterprise Income Tax

(“EIT”) on changes in fair value of investment properties.

Contractual arrangements

The Group conducts a substantial portion of the value-added
telecommunications business and medical institution through Ample
Chaser Limited and Chunshan Wanshu Health Industry Development
Co., Ltd., (collectively the “PRC Investment Holding Companies”) and
their wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively the “Consolidated Affiliated
Entities”) in the PRC due to regulatory restrictions on the foreign
ownership in the PRC. The Group does not have any equity interest
in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The directors of the Company
assessed whether or not the Group has power over the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, has rights to variable returns from its involvement
with the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. After
assessment, the directors of the Company considered that the Group can
direct the relevant activities and the effective interest in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities through the contractual agreements, and concluded that
the Group has control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities as a result
of the contractual agreements and accordingly the financial position and
their operating results of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities are included

in the Group’s consolidated financial statements throughout the year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical judgment in applying accounting policies (Continued)
Contractual arrangements (Continued)

Nevertheless, the contractual agreements may not be as effective as direct
legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control over the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities and uncertainties presented by the PRC
legal system could impede the Group'’s beneficiary rights of the results,
assets and liabilities of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The directors
of the Company, based on the advice of its other legal counsel, consider
that the contractual agreements among the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and their equity shareholders are in compliance with the relevant

PRC laws and regulations and are legally enforceable.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Certain of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The Chief Financial Officer of
the Company determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs

for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs
are not available, the Group engages third party qualified valuers to
perform the valuation. The Chief Financial Officer of the Company works
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The Chief Financial Officer
reports the findings to the board of directors of the Company every half
year to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and

liabilities.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of investment
properties and certain types of financial instruments. Notes 12 and 52(f)
provide detailed information about the valuation techniques, inputs and
key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of various assets

and liabilities.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Properties held for development (“PFD”), properties under
development for sales (“PUD”) and properties held for sales (“PFS”)
under inventories of properties (collectively referred to as the

“Properties”)

As explained in note 3, the Properties are stated at the lower of cost
and NRV. The directors of the Company make significant judgments
in determining the estimated selling prices of the Properties and
the estimation of future costs to completion of the Properties, where

applicable.

Based on the experience of the directors of the Company and the nature of
the subject properties, the directors of the Company determine the NRV of
the Properties by reference to the estimated market prices of the Properties,
which takes into account a number of factors including the recent prices
of similar property types in the same project or by similar properties, and
the prevailing and forecasted real estate market conditions in the PRC.
The directors of the Company estimate the future cost to completion of the
Properties, where applicable, by reference to the actual development cost of

the Group’s completed projects, adjusted by certain current market data.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in selling
prices, this may result in write-downs for the Properties. Such write-
downs require the use of judgment and estimates of the directors of the
Company. As at December 31, 2024, the carrying amounts of PFD,
PUD and PFS were RMB10,114,544,000, RMB159,229,379,000
and RMB51,651,266,000, respectively (2023: RMBS,518,159,000,
RMB185,912,853,000 and RMB60,348,149,000, respectively).

A write-down of the Properties amounting to RMB992,477,000 (2023:
RMB1,013,782,000) has been made in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT is levied on properties developed by the Group for sale in the PRC,
at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including the cost of land, sales charges, borrowing costs and all relevant
property development expenditures.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Land appreciation tax (“LAT”) (Continued)
The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. Significant judgments are

made by the directors of the Company in estimating the amounts of land
appreciation and the applicable land appreciation tax rate due to the
uncertainty of proceeds of sales of properties and deductible expenditures

for the whole project.

The Group recognises LAT in its consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income when properties are delivered
to the buyers. However, the LAT calculation and payments with local
tax authorities in the PRC for the year will not be finalised until the
appreciation amount of the whole property project is confirmed with local
tax authorities. The final tax outcome could be different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, and these differences will impact the income
tax expense and the related income tax provisions in the period in which

such tax is finalised with local tax authorities.

Deferred taxation assets

As at December 31, 2024, deferred taxation assets of RMB12,534,350,000
(2023: RMB11,389,985,000) mainly in relation to tax losses, land
appreciation tax provisions, unrealised profit on intra-group purchases and
related lease liabilities have been recognised in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position, after offsetting certain deferred taxation
liabilities as set out in note 34. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient taxable profits will be available
in the future or taxable temporary differences are expected to reverse in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
differences, which is a key source of estimation uncertainty. The directors
of the Company determine the deferred taxation assets based on the best
knowledge of profit projections of the Group for coming years during
which the deferred taxation assets are expected to be utilised. The directors
of the Company review the assumptions and profit projections by the end
of the reporting period. In cases where the actual future profits generated
are more or less than expected, an additional recognition or a reversal of
deferred taxation assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which such a recognition or reversal takes place.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on internal reports
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker (‘CODM”) (i.e., the executive directors of the
Company) in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its

performance.

The Group is organised into business units based on their types of
activities, based on which information is prepared and reported to the
Group’s CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
performance. The Group'’s operating segments under IFRS 8 Operating

Segments are identified as three main operations:

o Property development: this segment represents the development
and sales of office and commercial premises and residential
properties. The Group’s activities in this regard are carried out in
the PRC.

J Investment property operation: this segment represents the lease of
investment properties, which are self-developed or under subleases
by the Group to generate rental income and to gain from the
appreciation in the properties’ values in the long term. Currently the
Group’s investment property portfolio mainly comprises shopping

malls and rental housing and are all located in the PRC.

o Property service: this segment mainly represents the income
generated from property management and entrusted construction
and others. Currently the Group’s activities in this regard are carried
out in the PRC.

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Company’s executive directors
monitor the revenue, results, assets and liabilities attributable to

each operating segment on the following basis:
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5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible assets and
current assets directly attributable to each segment with the
exception of deposits paid for acquisition of properties held for
development, interests in associates and joint ventures, equity
instruments designated at FVTOCI, deferred taxation assets,
taxation recoverable, derivative financial instruments, financial
assets at FVTPL and other corporate assets. Other corporate assets
are not allocated to the operating segments because they are head
office assets or assets which are managed centrally by the Group.
The investment properties included in segment assets are stated at
cost when assessed by the CODM.

Segment liabilities include accounts payables and accrued
expenditure on construction, lease liabilities, contract liabilities,
deferred consideration payable and financial liabilities at FVTPL
but exclude taxation payable, deferred taxation liabilities, bank and
other borrowings, senior notes, derivative financial instruments,
other derivative financial instruments and other corporate liabilities.
Other corporate liabilities are not allocated to the operating
segment because they are head office liabilities or liabilities which

are managed on a group basis.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the operating segments with
reference to sales generated by those segments and the expenses

incurred by those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is adjusted earnings
before interest, other income, other gains and losses, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation, share of results of associates and
joint ventures, change in fair value of investment properties and
upon transfer to investment properties, change in fair value of
other derivative financial instruments and finance costs (“Adjusted
Earnings”), where “interest” includes investment income and
“depreciation” includes impairment losses on non-current assets.
To arrive at Adjusted Earnings of each segment, the segment
earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed
to individual segments, such as directors’ emoluments, auditor’s
remuneration and other head office or corporate administration

COSts.
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5.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the measurement of segment assets and results, property, plant
and equipment and certain right-of-use assets are allocated to
segments while their corresponding depreciation and amortisation

are not allocated to segments.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning segment
profit, management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment sales) and additions
to non-current segment assets used by the segments in their
operations. Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to prices

charged to external parties for similar service.

Information regarding the Group’s operating and reportable

segments is set out below.

BEZZCWEFZAS—HIEEE
Year ended December 31, 2024

BT B TR it
Investment

Property property Property
development  operation service Total
ARBFLE  ARKTL AREFT  ARKFL
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

(k1) (Wak2) (ik3)

(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3)
KAMREF A Revenue from external customers 100,766,610 13,522,270 13,186,068 127,474,948
Vi ON Inter-segment revenue = = 6,194,632 6,194,632
JHEIA Segment revenue 100,766,610 13,522,270 19,380,700 133,669,580
AR (R A Segment profit (Adjusted Earnings) 1317707 7,891,088 6,190,799 15,399,594
D& Segment assets 233,383,707 172,298,236 11,630,110 417,312,053
bR Segment liabilities 118,332,866 23.910,772 4,299,332 146,542,970
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(a)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

BE-F-SHHoASt-HILEY
Year ended December 31, 2023
WESEE  EEEE R At
Investment
Property property Property

development operation service Total

ARETFL  ARKTT ARETT  ARKTT
RMBU00  RMBU00  RMBU00  RMBU00O

(f3E) (Hf7¥2) (Hfzk3)
(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3)

KASMREF A
AR

ViE ION
7 bt ) (A R )

Segment revenue

Revenue from external customers

Inter-segment revenue

Segment profit (Adjusted Earnings)

155,897,211 12,935,821 11,943,543 180,736,575
- - 6,193,627 6,193,627

155,857,211 12,935,821 18,137,170 186,930,202

12,078,240 7,451,041 4,999,016 24,528,297

AR Segment assets 272,006,481 166,678920 10,798,562 449,483,963
A Segment liabilities 132,783,344 24,273,272 3,484,337 160,540,953
BFRE - Notes:
1. AR AR B8 AHR 4y BB SE TS I A 1. Substantially all of the Group’s revenue from property development is
B BT LATERR. o recognised at a point in time.
2. I A 4 A SE S O WD A B8 IR 7 DA 2. All of the revenue from investment property operation is recognised over
PR time.
3. BWE-Z-_NE+ZA=+—H 3 During the year ended December 31, 2024, the amount of revenue from

IRAEHE o JIRBS SE 5 I IR ] 6 e
WA B AR 2,073,090,000
(R =T A=+
N\ % 2,948 498,000 G ) > T AR5
SET T IR ) AR R A N R
11,112,978,0007C ( — &~ =4+
H=+—H : AR%8995,045,000
J6) e

property service recognised at a point in time and recognised overtime
are RMB2,073,090,000 (December 31, 2023: RMB2,948,498,000)
and RMB11,112,978,000 (December 31, 2023: RMB8,995,045,000)

respectively.
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5. AER @) 5.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
@ ¥ BEKAE @R (a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)
Hph sy EE R Other segment information

MR EERE WK st
Investment
Property property Property
development operation service Total
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARG R 2 H Amounts included in the measure of

segment assets:

“RIE 2024
IR (W) Additions to non-current assets (Note) 266,050 7,178,261 3875 7479,186
“ECERE 2023
INERREGE () Additions to non-current assets (Note) 476,082 10,248,855 95,856 10,820,793
Wk - SEARTEREYE V%K Note: Amounts represent additions to investment properties, property, plant and
7 Rt B T AR equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets.
o
IR 8 H A B 3 S Y 2 R In addition to receiving segment information concerning segment
Sh o ERMEEIORNIER OB A profit, the CODM is provided with information concerning the

LHGEIHENER > a0 E
RGN FIROHE 45 K% A A B
B BB ERE L KRG
FI - BRI R BRI
R PSS - KRS TH
NFEEE - KA ~ Hoffas

Group’s consolidated amount of interests in associates and related
share of results, interests in joint ventures and related share of
results, change in fair value of investment properties and upon
transfer to investment properties, change in fair value of other

derivative financial instruments, other income, other gains and

FEHE ~ B SARE A - 1 losses, finance costs from borrowings, depreciation and amortisation
oG DL R NI SR T 2 B A T Y and impairment losses (if any) which are not allocated to operating
BAEEE (fF) o segments.
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5. JHEER @

b) WA - HiE - BEKA

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Reconciliations of segment revenues, profit or loss,

T R assets and liabilities
2024 2023
ARWEFE  ARBETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
A Revenue
N Segment revenue 133,669,580 186,930,202
3 A A 2 8 Elimination of inter-segment revenue (6,194,632)  (6,193,627)
FAIA Consolidated revenue 127,474,948 180,736,575
i Profit
43 vk A Segment profit 15,399,594 24,528,297
HAbg A Other income 1,080,056 1,508,598
HAthliess K ks1R Other gains and losses 738,477 819,202
LLeENP g -¢/ EAUNS L & Fair value gain upon transfer to investment
propetties - 13,254
WEY N EEE Change in fair value of investment properties 4,758,637 1,998,986
HAATE S it T B FE S E) Change in fair value of other derivative
financial instruments 456,906 (40,919)
R A Finance costs (84,836) (149,479)
[ - AEIE 3 Share of results of associates 238,798 134,835
FEAG A 2R 4R Share of results of joint ventures 606,802 1,419,023
P8 K48 6 Depreciation and amortisation (184,191) (302,276)
R Unallocated expenses (4,279,719)  (5,200,219)
SR BRBLHT A Consolidated profit before taxation 18,730,524 24,729,302

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #E 4 = B # % 5 R A &)
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SRR )

(b)

AN~ 1R - B KA

BEZFZNEHZA = IR

For the year ended December 31, 2024

5.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Reconciliations of segment revenues, profit or loss,

EIEE ) assets and liabilities (Continued)
CEROE E =
2024 2023
ANRWETIL AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B Assets
A Segment assets 417,312,053 449,483,963
BB AT BT Cumulative change in fair value of
investment properties 48,493,665 43,668,837
TN A AR £ Interests in associates 14,459,115 15,399,336
NEEA N Interests in joint ventures 18,313,904 16,052,277
8 78 #e A FAHRE A AL 2 i 4 Equity instruments designated at FVTOCI
e d T H 5,446,521 6,639,807
TR R N O AT 5 Deposits paid for acquisition of
properties held for development 2,166,354 4,488,522
TR TE & Deferred taxation assets 12,534,350 11,389,985
fitEem TR Derivative financial instruments 989,904 458,300
AT el BEIH Taxation recoverable 14,627,951 13,039,789
AT ERF ARG 2 S RE E Financial assets at FVTPL = 2,000
A B 4 R A e Unallocated head office and other assets 131,297,968 139,784,059
ARG AME Consolidated total assets 665,641,785 700,406,875
FifH Liabilities
Sy ip e Segment liabilities 146,542,970 160,540,953
JREABLIE Taxation payable 24,166,248 27,539,502
IEIEFITE A 1A Deferred taxation liabilities 20,566,150 17,042,212
$RAT B H A 3K Bank and other borrowings 166,805,462 181,342,018
et Senior notes 9,516,516 11,303,543
fitt4m T A Derivative financial instruments 129,676 384,268
HAbfTAE 4R TR Other derivative financial instruments 247,407 741,324
R EE AR R oAt A Unallocated head office and other liabilities 52,190,545 65,054,788
ZEA A A Consolidated total liabilities 420,164,974 463,948,608

£ 3% Annual Report 2024
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5. ER )

(0 FEEmR BB RFBRA

AL AR EYE - AERRESR
W BUE 2 W3 bR SRS 750

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(¢) Revenue from major product and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its

properties sold, properties self-developed or under subleases for

NGB investment and services provided:
e——

ZEROE E =
2024 2023
ANREFLE AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEaEa Property development segment 100,766,610 155,857,211
IR Property service 13,186,068 11,943,543
KEAHRA Revenue from contract with customers 113,952,678 167,800,754
FHAUA Rental income 13,522,270 12,935,821
M Total revenue 127,474,948 180,736,575

d ME (d) Leases
2024 2023
AREFLE AR¥TE
RMB’000 RMB’000
Wt For operating leases:
18] 2 T B AR (LR AR I T Lease payments that are fixed (including
R ERIA) those under subleases) 12,815,752 12,386,428
A — 8 Bl L i Variable lease payments that do not depend

1) A S B 2 E on an index or a rate 706,518 549,393
LB 2R i 405 Total revenue arising from leases 13,522,270 12,935,821

168
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5. JHEER @ 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
() HEER (e) Geographical information
TREI N EYE - SR S The following table sets out information about the Group’s revenue
2 W3 T B IR i 7m0 3 i from external customers by cities in the PRC, based on the location
SR B A AR B AN F A at which the properties are sold, properties are invested or under
EORL o JE D R R R BT A subleases and services are provided. Information about its non-
IR BT - current assets is analysed by geographical location of assets.
KESNBE F A Jeim

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets

SERONE SRR RO E SRR
2024 2023 2024 2023

ARITFL ARETT AREFL ARETT
RMB000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB000  RMB000

(i Xizheng 16,660,168 16,297,229 4,218,817 3,832,219
B Husu 16,139,743 18,468,646 39,227,236 37,700,332
A Chengdu 16,049,369 20,298,566 29,855,186 27,896,930
Bl Chongging 14,870,298 17,981,985 43,492,918 41,108,607
A Hening 11,725,184 17,601,093 18,623,539 16,829,520
e Jinbei 10,939,268 15,073,662 7,144,846 6,126,686
EE] Huanan 10,519,940 11,138,124 13,746,328 10,256,234
Jes Beijing 10,380,101 11,669,112 31,369,838 27,807,257
RN Zhejiang 9,886,495 30,498,036 34,237,543 30,147,813
I Shandong 7,731,056 9,179,939 6,480,220 5,962,797
o B L Ak Other cities in the PRC 2,573,326 12,530,183 23,823,535 32,158,794

127,474,948 180,736,575 252,220,006 239,827,189

Mt @ JEEVEE AEIEL R T H BB Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred taxation
ﬁﬁrﬁ\ﬁé °© assets.

HIF 48 B B8 — AN I8 % B 44T 22 5 (i No revenue from transaction with a single external customer

NEEARAEE A 1008 L o amounts to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue.
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6. BB 6. OTHER INCOME
I,
TEROUE CF =
2024 2023
AREFLE AR¥TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FE A Interest income 556,502 874,358
R R (Bt ita) Government subsidies (Note a) 144,898 171,438
AN (FEED) Penalty income (Note b) 121,280 105,251
BN ) Consultancy income (Note ¢) 255,071 276,052
HEIE A Sundry income 2,305 81,499
At Total 1,080,056 1,508,598
B 5E Notes:
(a) 524 RS R T o R R e o B A S b I AR (a) The amount represents the grants received from the relevant PRC government
R R T 3 A A o to encourage the investments in specific regions and rental housing market
By AR B A TR T A A e T AR 4R development. The subsidies are unconditional and granted on a discretionary basis to
o the Group during the year.
(b) R T N EE S RN (b) It represents penalty received from property buyers who did not execute sales and
R T A R4 R AL T kA AL P S A purchase agreements on property sales and from tenants who early terminated
& o tenancy agreements.
(© e RRIE A B 2 PR B TE A [ AR SE [ (c) The amount represents the consultancy services provided to the Group’s joint
BB AR S O R OB LA = R A Y ventures and associates and independent third parties in relation to the property
Al RS o development projects.

170 © Longfor Group Holdings Limited g 5 £ & 4% i 5 [
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Jf o gt B dls 42

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

BEZFZNEHZA = IR

For the year ended December 31, 2024

I

TEROE SR =
2024 2023
AREFLT  ARWTL
RMB’000 RMB’000
B RS - RUE BRI ILEE Gain (loss) on disposal and written-off of property,
(E1R) plant and equipment 12,735 (119,008)
B 5 s 18 e A (f ) Net exchange loss (Note) (538,753) (933,783)
EES o it e 2B 0SS e LY Reclassification of fair value gains of hedging
TR instruments from hedging reserve 538,742 929,886
[0 1 1 S M i i Gain on repurchase of senior notes and bonds 858,493 889,734
R E R A R Remeasurement gain on previously held interest
BRI RE A 0 in an associate and net gain on disposal of
5 G 2 1 s i T subsidiaries 144,634 109,343
Hoth Others (277,374) (56,970)
738,477 819,202
WFRE < R i DLAMEE T (T e |) s 38 e (2 Note: It represents exchange difference arising from the translation of bank balances, bank

6 )) UM BRAT A5 8% ~ BT R Ak RS 2R
TR A Y REE O

YA

borrowings and senior notes denominated in foreign currencies of Hong Kong Dollar

(“HKD”) or United States Dollar (“USD”).

8. FINANCE COSTS

I

—EOUE —F =
2024 2023
AR AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
SRAT R HL A S 2 ) S Interest on bank and other borrowings (7,041,168)  (8,288,757)
B BRI RIS BA S Interest expense on senior notes (449,844) (538,459)
(7,491,012)  (8,827,216)
W BRI EYERE R Less: Amount capitalised to properties under
BRI EA L EH development for sales and investment
properties under development 7,406,176 8,677,737
(84,836) (149,479)

BEAAL (8 B AR B A4 0 — i fif
FE > MEEFNFE - HA=+—H
AR FE AR 4.009% ( ZF 2 =4F 1 4.24%)
MEARLRGE > GTAR B EEN
%o

Borrowing costs capitalised arose on the general borrowing pool of the

Group and were calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 4.00%

(2023: 4.24%) per annum for the year ended December 31, 2024, to

expenditure on the qualifying assets.

£ 3% Annual Report 2024
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172

Longfor Group Holdings Limited

Bt R SE T B E SEAL > BEAT I
AR B ST BN AR AR
A B AR (R SE T BB LB« B

FoNERFZEFF AR IR
B AT A B A ) C R BT R
BUARFHRALE R BREPTGB > EH A
AR SE A BUAT th R AR

by  ETYREH N TS EHT TlEE LG
TYEEH SR RO BT B
AERT Al T oI A (B 42 P A6t ) 3

9.  PifdBthIX 9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
TR TJUE R EF
2024 2023
ARWEFE ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RPHARL A Current tax
AR ZESRRH EIT (2,426,160)  (4,105,477)
F AR Hong Kong Profits Tax (57,782) (96,056)
B IRE A B TR Withholding tax on distributed earnings (386,824) (404,891)
j:ﬂb,i%‘?{ﬁﬁﬁ LAT (2,625,085) (2,626,249)
(5,495,851) (7,232,673)
P ST HIT A FEE 1Y) R AR A4 - Overprovision in prior years:
TR (M 3Ea) EIT (Note a) 136,111 175,175
LA B (B 5ED) LAT (Note b) 1,063,522 1,490,584
1,199,633 1,665,759
TRIERLIA (FFik34) Deferred taxation (Note 34)
A Current year (2,309,231)  (2,029,838)
(6,605,449) (7,596,752)
B 5E Notes:
(a) o THA % T T8 H A 8 A & G (a) The assessment and computation of EIT payable in respect of certain subsidiaries

which held completed property projects were finalised which differed from the
management’s estimation on EIT in prior years, resulting in an overprovision of
EIT in respect of prior years. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
preferential tax rate has been granted to certain PRC subsidiaries for calculation of

EIT in prior years, resulting to an overprovision of EIT in respect of prior years.

The actual appreciation amount of certain property projects had been finalised and
the development plan for certain property projects had been revised in which the

revised estimated or final appreciation amount was different with the appreciation

AR > 34 1 b 398 (5 Bl W0 R amount made in prior years, resulting in an overprovision of LAT in respect of prior
ffi o years.
vk R BB F A = AL A B9 16.5% 5 Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable

B oo

R B A SRR ([ RS F ik ])
B A 3 B 43 BLIE BRG] > 7% 7 4 4F
A BB A B F25% o

A A A A T 8 S B AR

AR G A T {1 A B A o R 3T AR
B o

EHEBEZERER

profits.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years.

Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC are eligible for
exemption from PRC EIT for both years.

YN
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Pt BB 3 (an)

AF BB B R 4R S A A T i R A
R R A1 RN T -

BEZRIET A=A IR
For the year ended December 31, 2024

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income as follows:

TERIOE CF T EF
2024 2023

AR#TFE  ARETT
RMB000  RMB'000

W i i ) Profit before taxation 18,730,524 24,729,302
25% ARG R EIT at 25% (4,682,631) (6,182,326)
JREAL T 2 ] ZE AR B i 2 Tax effect of share of results of associates 59,700 33,709
159%&%%@E’Jﬁﬂ%ﬂ’% Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures 151,701 354,756
ﬁ’jﬁmlﬁﬁﬁ NRIATBR B Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
Biws 2 (Wfika) tax purposes (Note a) (835,503) (831,625)
SUBEI S BB AR BISR.2 Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes 189,373 247,405
R LAT (2,625,085)  (2,626,249)
T M (BRI BT R 2 Tax effect of LAT 656,271 656,562
AR R A Overprovision in prior years 1,199,633 1,665,759
RAEFBATHEAN G R 2 BB 2 Tax effect of deductible temporary differences
not recognised (19,338) (253,446)
ﬂiﬁﬁﬁ B R AR i 2 Tax effect of tax losses not recognised (531,093) (546,076)
IR MR BUEER MBS Tax effect of recognition of tax losses previously not
recognised 9,611 1,941
R Sl R HERR A BLIE S 1R Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognised 34,329 28,109
AT PRI A R R BLE R Effect of tax exemption and preferential rates
R B BRI granted to certain PRC subsidiaries 118,069 155,631
ARG B BRI FEABL (B 5Eb)  Withholding tax on retained earnings to be
distributed (Note b) (402,861) (338,616)
N HA FlE M I AR 2 (& A 7@ ] Bffect of different tax rates applicable to
AN R 2 subsidiaries operating in other jurisdiction 21,730 33,989
S B IR BB PO R T R Tax exemption on reinvestment of
dividend previously declared 50,645 3,725
EER L Tax charge for the year (6,605,449)  (7,596,752)
WfsE Notes:
(@ 4 F AT R A A 3 B S A (a) The amount mainly comprises the tax effect of non-deductible corporate expenses and

(b)

WA A A o RSO 4 T R
SEL 8L B B T BRI 2~ ) B Sk A B B
TEHUE KRB BB -

AR R 3 75 A A T B B 2 e 7%
3 o B FBE N B L MR B 9 2 R ) S
BLi%2008112%% » 5% % B FEHIRL B2 38
B A A R A B 259 1) B v
JE BT o w% BB 42 R A T b I B
7 ) AR 43R T A T 488 0 P A B o

fair value surplus of certain assets acquired through acquisition of subsidiaries of the
Group and the expenses of certain subsidiaries in excess of the allowable deduction

limits in accordance with the relevant tax regulations.

(b) According to the “Arrangement between the Mainland of China and the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the
Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income” and Guoshuifa 2008
No. 112, where the Hong Kong resident company directly owns at least 25% of the
capital of the Mainland company, 5% dividend withholding tax rate is applicable.
The amount represents the withholding income tax provided on the undistributed

profits of certain PRC subsidiaries during the year.

£ 3% Annual Report 2024




174

)f:'

T

CLE £ &N

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BREZZOEL A= —HIREE
For the year ended December 31, 2024

10.

I11.

Longfor Group Holdings Limited

JBe & 10. DIVIDENDS
“EOyE R =
2024 2023
AR#FE ARWTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AENHER IR, Dividends recognised as distribution during
the year:
R — 2 USRS Interim dividend recognised in respect of
A RR0.2270 (CF =4 2024 of RMB0.22 (2023: RMB0.32)
ANR#0.3270) per share 1,515,396 2,109,362
RA = F = ER RIS Final dividend paid in respect of 2023 of
R N R HE0.23 70 (—F — =4F RMBO0.23 (2023: in respect of 2022 of
ZER R RRARK.807T) RMB0.80) per share 1,559,579 5,073,364
3,074,975 7,182,726

AHEE—_Z -+ A =T —HIEE
RS > ANR¥531,797,0007CE LA
B > RIERHAE R —F T IWENA
T T H A T)114,933,082 BT AT A
B g e

WEE PN A =+ H IR
JB B = AR H A B 4 LLBL 4
T4 LAAS S R A R4 o

RIS AL > AN A E R ERIREER
FEOECNEF A=+ HIEEERE
WS 688,816,000 7T > Mk A R HE
0.107C (R ZFWFE+—H =+—H
MEBTRMEE) (ZF =4 BE
CECEEL A= HIEEERNAY
BN R #1,516,104,0007C > 45 R #

0.2370) > PHEZELT A SR B Jee e AR 3 4F
it o
(52

AN TR N B A R A I S Y
AT TSR LU B

11.

In respect of the final dividend for the year ended December 31, 2023,
RMB531,797,000 has been paid in cash and the remaining portion has
been settled by way of 114,933,082 new fully paid shares of the Company
on August 22, 2024.

The interim dividend for the period ended June 30, 2024 will be settled
partially in cash and partially in shares of the Company on April 8, 2025.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend of
RMB688,816,000, representing RMBO0.10 per share, based on the
number of shares in issue as at December 31, 2024, in respect of the year
ended December 31, 2024 (2023: final dividend of RMB1,516,104,000,
representing RMB0.23 per share, in respect of the year ended December
31, 2023) has been proposed by the directors of the Company and is
subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to
the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

“EROE X =
2024 2023
AR¥TFT AR¥TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
PR A IR AR R Y Earnings attributable to the owners of
B /NGIE ZE DN PR the Company for the purposes of calculation of
basic and diluted earnings per share 10,401,171 12,850,011

EHEBEZERER

YN
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11. BRER ) 11. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

2024 2023
TR TR
‘000 ‘000
liigh g Number of shares
TS A AR A 28 ) 5 4 Weighted average number of ordinary shares
TS for the purpose of calculation of
basic earnings per share 6,595,311 6,221,419
BLDLR 45 TEUAH BH 2 35 R B 1 Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
L2 in respect of
— R R REE R B 17 5 — Share options and share awards 13,951 12,984
R PR R A L e Weighted average number of ordinary shares
T 28 for the purpose of calculation of
diluted earnings per share 6,609,262 6,234,403

12.

T T A PR A 8 8 P R
F) 0 T AR T2 BT A AT R 7 44 B S %
RENARGEAS 2 5] e 48 B T ] DA SEE X
RARFAFHIAREES -

BE ZWE+FZH=+—HIEERE
5 T AR B DT 3 5 P Sl A 409 A I 7
BRFHEZ A -

BHYE

AEEREEEHE WS A E LT EE
> A S - HERHRPIR—
fec ks L8 A 2204 - ZEEHMHEQS
1819 % 309 #4515 1 1 YA AT AR AR
A B 2 1 B R AF BEA ATk

7% 55 8 DRI REL 8 2 DR oA T B O e o TR
BITAREYUERTRS ANIER
WA o FH S 400 MR 51 R AR e £
B/ SRR LA 45 e 8 5 1 S 1
o

12.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares adopted in the calculation
of basic and diluted earnings per share for both years have been arrived
at after deducting the shares held in trust for the Company by two

independent trustees under the share award scheme of the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, certain share award scheme are

not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various apartments and retail stores under operating
leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 1 month to 20 years. The leases of retail stores contain variable
lease payment that are based on 1% to 30% of sales or minimum annual

lease payment that are fixed over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease
arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective functional
currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain residual
value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end

of lease term.
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12. $EWE @) 12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
(B899 B
BEY% BEWE A5t
Investment
Completed properties
investment under
properties development Total
AR#TFL AREFLT ARWFFL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
INFE FAIR VALUE
N oE T ZE—~A—H At January 1, 2023 161,515,873 26,155,187 187,671,060
NE Additions 1,753,706 8,200,235 9,953,941
HERE AT (FE39) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) (360,900)  (1,495,441)  (1,856,341)
R B EY) Transfer from PFS 2,171,277 - 2,171,277
AW RS Kk Transfer from property, plant and
(FffsE13) equipment (Note 13) 338,306 - 338,306
B AHEEE (MiE14)  Transfer from right-of-use assets (Note 14) 543,158 - 543,158
g Transfer 7,329,738 (7,329,738) -
R PR Z A TER Net increase in fair value recognised in
iy lipE profit or loss 973,073 1,025,913 1,998,986
RRLHE Early termination of leases (124,146) - (124,1406)
R TE Disposal (944,610) - (944,610)
WoE=F+"H=+—H At December 31, 2023 173,195,475 26,556,156 199,751,631
B Additions 1,051,148 6,091,411 7,142,559
HEE A (FEE39) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) (278,586) - (278,586)
WAL (H5514)  Transfer to right-of-use assets (Note 14) (52,992) = (52,992)
(L g Transfer 14,514,200  (14,514,200) =
B R AN TER Net increase in fair value recognised in
VR %A profit or loss 79,490 4,679,147 4,758,637
LS Early termination of leases (282,620) = (282,620)
HAE TR Disposal (114,552) = (114,552)
WoEWEF"H=+—H At December 31, 2024 188,111,563 22,812,514 210,924,077
BE-ZE+ A Unrealised gain on property revaluation
=+ —HIHEEFIAELZ  included in profit or loss for the year ended
PSEEAL R B December 31, 2024 91,195 4,679,146 4,770,341
BE_E =41 2A Unrealised gain on property revaluation
=+ —HIHEEFIAEL 2 included in profit or loss for the year ended
YT LR R B IR December 31, 2023 1,352,062 1,025,913 2,377,975

Note:

WEE LA =T AL B O G > BURY)
EMEC U MARKELEDE -
S~ R B A D B P AR R A
HE o

The transfer from PES, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to
investment properties were made since there was a change in use as evidenced by the

inception of operating leases to third parties.
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12.

BEZRIET A=A IR
For the year ended December 31, 2024

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The investment properties are all situated in the PRC. The completed
investment properties which are stated at fair value as at the reporting date
included properties developed by the Group and properties leased from

third parties for sub-lease purpose.

The fair values of the Group’s self-developed completed investment
properties, certain leasehold land and investment properties under
development at the reporting date have been arrived at the basis of
valuation carried out by Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited (“Savills”), a firm of independent qualified professional valuers not
connected to the Group, who have appropriate qualifications and recent
experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.
The fair values of PES, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets transferred to investment properties during the year have also been
arrived at the basis of valuation carried out at the dates of transfer by
Savills.

The fair values of the Group’s remaining leasehold land and investment
properties under development at the reporting date have been arrived on
the basis of valuation carried out by the directors with reference to the basis

of valuation carried out by Savills or based on recent transaction prices.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use. The fair values of certain investment
properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid on accrued operating lease

income to avoid double counting.

The fair values of the investment properties were determined by the valuers

on the following basis:
Completed properties — arrived at by capitalising the net rental income

derived from the existing tenancies with due allowance for reversionary

potential income of the respective properties.

£ 3% Annual Report 2024

177




178

B B U 5 R MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BREZZOEL A= —HIREE
For the year ended December 31, 2024

12.

BHWE )

BRI 2E — LA B S AR R Bt
JRE B S R BB (> MR ST
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12.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Properties under development — valued on the basis that they will be
developed and completed in accordance with the latest development
proposals and taken into account the construction costs that will be
expended to complete the development as well as developer’s profit margin

to reflect the quality of the completed development.

All of the Group’s property interests in leasehold land and buildings to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair

value model and classified and accounted for as investment properties.

Lease liabilities of RMB13,072,436,000 (2023: RMB14,133,694,000)
are recognised with related investment properties under subleases
of RMB13,124,917,000 as at December 31, 2024 (2023:
RMB14,823,669,000). The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor and the relevant leased assets may not be used as security for

borrowing purposes.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

techniques and inputs used).

The Group’s investment properties are grouped under Level 3 fair value
hierarchy and there were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during both
years. The following table gives information about how the fair values of

these investment properties are determined (in particular, the valuation

TR & BREMRENE
Completed investment  Investment properties under
properties development
I

ZEROE ER-=E ZRONE Rk

2024 2023 2024 2023

AR AREFr  ARETLE  AREFr

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

w7 3 — O Western China - Shopping malls 57,796,345 55,842,900 6,251,175 5,856,557
HB TR — A Western China — Apartments 4,310,824 3,597,549 197,000 803,000
R - A E Western China — Apartments under sublease 1,960,844 2,100,278 = -
R P RAE Western China - Office 102,200 - - -
B - WO Pan Bohai Rim — Shopping malls 25961360 23441500 1,257,587 2,974,294
BRI — A Pan Bohai Rim — Aparements 546,000 215,200 138,000 329,000
R E - EHAE Pan Bohai Rim — Apartments under sublease 3,584,364 3,705,142 = -
RIL=AM Mt Yangtze River Delta — Shopping malls 63,060,120 56,888,460 6,262,038 7,539,140
RIT=MAM -8 Yangtze River Delta — Apartments 6,324,500 5,846,200 2,172,930 932,000
RIL= AN -EHAE Yangtze River Delta - Apartments under sublease 3,042,921 3,809,078 = -
RI=AN-HAZ Yangtze River Delta - Office 694,100 705,200 100,000 -
Eep g — b0 Central China - Shopping malls 8,130,100 8,067,400 2,095,690 1,708,690
- AF Central China — Apartments 1,585,600 1,513,400 206,619 143,000
bR - A Central China — Apartments under sublease 937,875 1,110,982 = -
R - B Southern China — Shopping malls 4,201,100 130,200 4131475 6,270475
E -\ Southern China - Apartments 1,896,300 1,748,700 = -
HE R - EAAE Southern China — Apartments under sublease 3,598910 4,098,186 = -
HERE - A E Southern China — Office 371,600 375,100 = -
st Total 188,111,563 173,195,475 22,812,514 26,556,156

£ 3% Annual Report 2024




W RS R B R
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BREZZOEF-H=

T HIEE

For the year ended December 31, 2024

12. BHEWED) 12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
DERREENEARTRE S AN
Significant unobservable inputs for completed investment properties
% ikE G 37t Enie TS
Term yield Reversionaty yield Discount rate Monehly term rental Reversionary rental
(Hita) (Htp) (He) (ko) (Hite)
(Note a) (Noteb) (Note ¢) (Note d) (Notee)
I I I I I
CRONE CFocE CZOWE CRCCE CRCNE CZocE CRCNE SRk CRONE SRk
204 23 204 123 2024 2123 024 0123 024 pi\l}
(# (5 (# (5
Pk BFIX EEK HFE
AGlir) ARE) AR ARE)
(RMB (RMB (RMB [RMB
persqm. persgm. persgm. persym.
permonth)  permont)  permonth)  per month)
WRE BT Western China - Shopping malls ~ 35%-65%  3%-65% 375%-7%  35%-1% = - 8409 31399 142-811 98-777
AT -AE Western China - Apartments 45% 45% 5% 5% = — 4-99 36-100  37-102 28-120
TR -BAAT  Western China - Apartments under
stblease - - - - 0% 5.5% - - T80 70-85
HRET-HAE  Western China- Office 45% - 5% - = - 46 - 75 -
SFHEAE-BARL  Pan Bohai Rim
- Shopping mall 350-6%  3%-6% 375%-65% 3.5%-63% - - 00-34 56-395 209-60 207617
REGHE-AT  PanBohai Rim - Apartments 45% 45% 5% 3% - - 53-65 3§-63 58-68 38-79
TRl —BHAE  PanBohai Rim - Apartments under
stblease - - - - 0% 0% - - 8B-I 36-182
RILZfM -0 Yangte River Delta - Shopping malls 33%-6% 3% -6%  3.75%-065% 3.3% -6.5% = - - -%3 0 162-45  213-509
RIZAK-AE  YongueRiver Delta- Apartments — 33%-5% 33%-45%  4%-5%  4%-5% - - By -1 47-B4 H-nd
RIZEM-ERLE  Vangue River Delra - Apartments
under sublease - - - - 5%-65%  5%-65% - -85 80-217
RI=EN-BA%  Yangue River Delta- Offce 305%-4% 325%-4% 375%-45% 3.75% -45% - - TI-14 B-13 0 97-106 67-106
EPUE-BPL  Cenral Ching - Shopping malls 0-6%  A%-6 45%-65% 45%-65% - - A= 8-166  204-436  200-4%
EPHE-AE  Cenal China- Apartments 45% 45% 5% 5% - N 2 N |
FBE-EANT  Central China - Apartments under
sublease - - - - 0% 0% - - 44 D)
ERHE-BI0  Southemn China- Shopping malls  3.75%-5.25% - 4250-575% - - - 102 - 9 -
EUHE-AE  Southemn China - Apartments % 0 45%-5% £5% - - - B-sT -9 d0-%
FHME-HAAE  Southemn China - Apartments under
stblease - - - - 0% 6%-65% - - WI-13 41150
EHHE-HAZ  Southem China- Office 35% 35 % i% - - 4 i 62 62
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12.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

B TR RS\ M

Significant unobservable inputs for investment properties under development

MR SR A A K
Gross development value Developer’s profit Discount rate
(Hrite) (Hitg) (Hith)
(Note ) (Note g) (Note h)
SRWE EE | AWE AR EWE R
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ARNEET  ARFAET
RMB'million  RMB'million
PRI Westem China—Shopping mall 07301 HHT-2630  S%-10%  5%-15% 435%  45%-475%
i BN Western China - Apartments 478 210-480 10% 5% - 10% 435%  435%-5%
REHHE B0 Pan Bohai Rim - Shopping malls 2,082 2,065 10% 10% 435% 475%
RiEE-AE Pan Bohai Rim - Apartments 150 142-265 5% 5% - 10% 435% 435%
U= fM-RED  Yangtze River Delta — Shopping malls 4702940 468-2,695 5% - 15% 8%-15% 435%-475%  4.35% -4.75%
RI=ZAN-AE Yangtze River Delta - Apartments 148 - 1,043 136-425 5% - 10% 5% - 10% 435% 435%
RIZAN-HAZ Yangtze River Delta - Office 443 468 20% 3% 475% 435%
PR~ L Central China — Shopping malls 1,598-1,743  1423-1,624 10% 10% - 15% 4.75% 475%
EE- A Central China - Apartments 37-129 46-129 5% 15% 435% 475%
ERHE - L Southern China - Shopping malls 938 - 1,741 845-3912 5% -15% 10% - 15% 4.35% 435%
MsE Notes:
(a) AEMAI AR R T B T T B AT (a) Term yield has taken into account of yield generated by market average selling price
T 4 A A kAR A and the market average rental from comparable properties and adjustment to reflect
s D) AR AR (AR B T A R o 4E the lower market risk for the term value. The higher the term yield, the lower the fair
B SR o APEBIE - value.
(b) A BEE R A 25 R X 8 B i (b) Reversionary yield has taken into account of yield generated by market average
Nn e T R A A R s R > selling price and the market average rental from comparable properties and
G AE AR LR MR PO A B R adjustment to reflect the conditions of the shopping malls and apartments. The
W o AR E T A A2 SRl AT higher the reversionary yield, the lower the fair value.
i
(©) RGBSR G S AR R R o B SR > (c) Discount rate has taken into account of the net profit margin and inflation. The
S TR - higher the discount rate, the lower the fair value.
(d) R AR A e 4K B BA R d) Monthly term rental for each unit is derived from the rental as stated in the existing
HATFIN S - B H EPHe M > AT rental agreements. The higher the monthly term rental, the higher the fair value.
(e) ] A T AR A T He) S T 85 L 40 R (e) Reversionary rental is derived from the market rentals from comparable properties or
A 19 % BT 5 W9 A 4 o A RE R ET AL 4 b the rental as stated in the latest rental agreements. The higher the reversionary rental,
o TR - the higher the fair value.
() DA Ty Rk Y 48 2% o A (% R 3 T L)) () Gross development value on completion basis has taken into account of location
SRR BRI E R > QI Ak and individual factors such as frontage and size, between the comparables and the
IN o BB RAB(E R » A TEME o property. The higher the gross development value, the higher the fair value.
(g) BH 5% 77 A 1) 5 B 3 T b R R G (g) Developer’s profit has taken into account of the comparables land transactions and
P A JEE o B I A R T > AT E progress of the property. The higher the developer’s profit, the lower the fair value.
& o
(h) R R 2% 8 2T 35 BLAT AR o BB R (h) Discount rate has taken into account of the prevailing market interest rates. The
o A TEBE - higher the discount rate, the lower the fair value.
(i) (i) The fair value of remaining investment properties is based on recent transaction

BT BUEYI SR PR3 5 8
HEMIE

price.
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13. 0% ~ W Bt i 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

W
Rl il
WEKE W KT REEE  RERER 5t
Structure Leasehold Equipment
and leasehold Hotel  land and Motor and
improvement  properties  buildings vehicles  furniture Total
ANHFE  ARRFE ARRFE  ARRT ARWEE  AREFT
RMBOO)  RMBUOG)  RMBUGO  RMBUGO  RMBUWO  RMBUOO
i COST
RoZ-ZF—A-H At January 1, 2023 27,603 992,85 1,772,560 56,775 79,00 3348883
hE Additions - - 830,746 1,041 18,005 849,792
HERE A (B3E9) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) - - - (4 (3,306) (4,299)
EREREE () Transfer to investment properties (Note 12) - Q07,713 (158,047) - - (363,760)
ik Disposals (53,683 025,633 (@01,62) (7938) 90767 (1,079,648)
RoE-=EF-A=4-0 At December 31,2023 173,920 259509 2,043,632 49451 mae 348974
e Additions 044 - 309,128 2741 24,048 336,567
BRICEIE A G Acquisition of assets and liabilities through
R (3E36) acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) - ; ; 37 3 )
thE R (Witsg) Disposal o subsidiries (Note 39) (8530) - - (513) 0 76)
i Disposals (48,647) = (87,627) (12,330) (19,054 (227,664)
R A= 1R At December 31, 2024 117,387 259309 2,265,133 39,380 006,759 3,348,174
ZitE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
RoE-ZE-f-0 At January 1, 2023 2,171 96,774 307,272 47116 609550 1,078483
R Charge for the year 20,599 24218 90,313 2,656 83,298 201,084
HERE AR (H39) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) - - - (159) @) (2873)
BREEGENE (D) Transfer to investment properties (Note 12) - (18,235) (9.219) - - (27 454)
HERTH Eliminated on disposals (8,000) 87487) (114,367 (5,540) 6,177) (220570)
S Y [y At December 31, 2023 3,770 15,270 273,999 40,074 084956 1,048,669
R Charge for the year 16522 7014 03,594 2,89 28354 118,380
HEREAR (H3E39) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) (33) - - 61) @) (514
BRI Eliminated on disposals (11,975) - (19,616) (7,594) (62,363) (101,548)
RERBEFZA=1-R At December 31, 2024 37,992 086 39M BA6E 650210 1063987
e CARRYING VALUES
BRI ZA=1-R At December 31, 2024 1395  BINS 1941156 39 16489 2,284,187
REEZ=EFTA= TN At December 31,2023 140,150 UED39 1,769,633 8771 37506 2,200,309
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(LA & By i)

L ERT 20%
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BEZRIET A=A IR
For the year ended December 31, 2024

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated using
the straight-line method after taking into account of their estimated

residual values at the following rates per annum:

Hotel properties Over the estimated useful lives of 40 years
Leasehold land and Over the shorter of the lease terms of the land on
buildings which buildings are erected, or 5%

Structure and leasehold ~ Over the shorter of the lease term or estimated

improvement useful lives of 10 years
Motor vehicles 20%
Equipment and 33%

furniture

The hotel properties and buildings are all situated on lands in the PRC.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

14. MEHREE E 14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
I
T iiNEEUES e
Leasehold Leased
lands properties Total

ABBTL  ARETE  AREFL
RMB000  RMB000  RMB’000

A COST
WoE-=4E—H—H At January 1, 2023 605,551 962,364 1,567,915
e B BOE 2 (T 12) Transfer to investment properties (Note 12) (140,918) (523,048) (663,966)
HAE Disposal (210,446) - (210,446)
WoE =4+ H=+—H At December 31, 2023 254,187 439,316 693,503
W A BRI (H5E12) Transfer from investment properties
(Note 12) = 52,992 52,992
WZZ - UEFZH=+—H At December 31, 2024 254,187 492,308 746,495
ZEHT e ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
WoE - =FE—H—H At January 1, 2023 43,623 174,620 218,243
FEREBR Charge for the year 19,611 29,478 49,089
R (H5E12) Transfer to investment properties (Note 12) (15,481) (105,327) (120,808)
HE Disposal (32,590) - (32,590)
RZF A ZH=+—H At December 31, 2023 15,163 98,771 113,934
HEREFIRR Charge for the year 11,613 21,496 33,109
AR PUEF " H=+—H At December 31, 2024 26,776 120,267 147,043
T CARRYING VALUES
PR ZPFEFZH =+—H At December 31, 2024 227,411 372,041 599,452
PoEZFEFH=1+—H At December 31, 2023 239,024 340,545 579,569
—EoNE —E
2024 2023

ARWTFE  ARWTT
RMB000  RMB'000

BUREEEERE R EMHEAEN  Expense relating to lease of low-value assets and

Fa short-term leases 77,549 90,374
RWEEERN > AEEHRESERAER For both years, the Group leases various offices for its operations. Lease
R HAEE o B & X LUE € R A 1200 A contracts are entered into fixed term of 12 months to 20 years. Certain
F200FRT L o A THATEM THE office spaces were sub-leased to the tenants to earn rental income.
BHESWKA -

WA > AR TS Y - AL In addition, the Group owns several hotel properties. The Group is the
SN R (B A B ) 5T registered owner of these properties interests, including the underlying
A A - leasehold land.

184 = Longfor Group Holdings Limited #E 7 £ [ {2 j% 45 & A &)



15.

16.

Ao B 2 R M R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

Lk 4 15. GOODWILL
At
Total
ARMEFTE
RMB’000
WA COST

E/‘*§::$*H —H s ZEEER At January 1, 2023, December 31,

“ECFEFTZHA=Z+—H 2023 and 2024 3,834,757

A Tl TR (L e R PR R 1 G -

A0 L AE 8 2 R R B B
2 DRAEL T,

RIETTRBEN S > HEEILES
AR I B3 4 A LRIV g B 0 B
Al > EEAERR AR IR - BR
il B B M RS ) o B A B AR
RAGEE e B E i A A 2 R
JEWK

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in

note 16.

16. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocated
to several individual CGUs (being subsidiaries, engaging in provision of
property management service, data technology and medical/healthcare
service, acquired). The CGUs represent the lowest level within the Group

at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

TR TPYE e
2024 2023

ARWTFE  ARWTT
RMB000  RMB'000

b T B A PR )
(Memt 2 3 )

TR ARES

EEMHE

R

=R

ey AR 2 HoA bR 2 ]

Beijing Xingruitong Management Consulting

Company Limited (“Beijing Xingruitong”) 221,831 221,831
Kineer Service 717,267 717,267
Yida Service 652,074 652,074
Baiyou Technology 863,666 863,666
Chongging Youyou 161,658 161,658
Other subsidiaries engaged in property

management business 1,218,261 1,218,261

3,834,757 3,834,757

W Lok pgsh > AR RN K In addition to goodwill above, property, plant and equipment, right-of-

T ~ MRS D S K
HBRT RN A% BB A R
W -

use assets and intangible assets that generate cash flows together with the
related goodwill are also included in the respective CGU for the purpose of

impairment assessment.
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16.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL
LIVES (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections primarily based
on the respective financial budgets of the CGU covering a five-year period
estimated, including the growth rates in revenue, the pre-tax discount
rates, estimated revenue, estimated gross profit, estimated operating
expenses, approved by management.

The discount rates reflect specific risks relating to each CGU. The growth
rates within the five-year period have been based on past experience and
management’s expectation of market development.

The following table sets out the key assumption on which management has
based on in its cash flow projections for the purpose of impairment testing
of goodwill arising on acquisitions at December 31, 2023 and 2024:

T R R LT B2
Growth rate
within the Pre-tax

five-year period discount rate

REZF =4+ ZA=+—H

At December 31, 2023

36 B Beijing Xingruitong 2% 17%
REMR S Kineer Service 8% 15%
[ s Yida Service 7% 17%
TR Baiyou Technology 41% 22%
R Chongqing Youyou 11% 21%
WHEY EE IR 2 HALME  Other subsidiaries engaged in property

/N management business 1% -11% 16%
R EZAES =40 At December 31, 2024
AU B HiE Beijing Xingruitong 7% 14%
FEMR RS Kineer Service 9% 16%
{2 A s Yida Service 9% 14%
AR Baiyou Technology 25% 22%
R Chongging Youyou 17% 23%
WY EE IR 2 AP Other subsidiaries engaged in property

/N management business 0% —10% 14%

Longfor Group Holdings Limited &g #f & @ % % B R 2 &)

8 A (A LA T B (R BBt AR
BOA BB AR A0 B 8 B A A
B A BRI IR TR R B SR U
i 55 R AT -

AR b A ST B B (AT A4 O
fgR > AEEMER T =F R
B+ = H I A R
EL o AT o] 3 e SR T (i o A 2L F
R% S R A5 BT R A A e
Hpie -

Other key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations relate to
the estimation of cash flow forecast included budgeted revenue and
gross margin, such estimation is based on the past performance and
management’s expectations for the market development.

Based on the results of the above assessment evaluated by independent
professionally qualified valuers, the Group determines that there is
no impairment on goodwill as at December 31, 2023 and 2024. The
recoverable amounts are higher than its carrying amounts. Management
believed that any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions
would not result in impairment.
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

WEEHEH
KEFRG  FTREA KR gt
Property
management
contracts and
customer Licenses Software
relationship ~ and patents  and others Total
ARMFL  ARWTT  AR#TT  ARMFZ
RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000

A

RZZZ=F——H

RE
REFZ=FFZA=4H
RE

AZEZWEFZA=T—R

COST

At January 1,2023 2,154,495 319,800 69,001 2,543,296
Additions - 17,060 - 17,060
At December 31, 2023 2,154,495 336,360 69,001 2,560,356
Additions = = 60 60
At December 31, 2024 2,154,495 336,360 69,061 2,560,416

s B AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT

RZEZ=—H—H At January 1, 2023 293,817 35,301 17,757 346,875

PR Charge for the year 172,064 29,530 2573 204,167

REFZ=EFZA=4—H At December 31, 2023 465,881 64,831 20,330 551,042

L2l Charge for the year 172,158 29,246 3,456 204,860

BEZZNEFZAZ1—H At December 31, 2024 638,039 94,077 23,786 755,902

] CARRYING VALUES

REZFZME+ZA=1—H At December 31, 2024 1,516,456 242,783 45,275 1,804,514

e Sich g e e At December 31, 2023 1,688,014 272,029 48,071 2,009,314
bl T A R AR o A B A The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible assets
TEERE A T-8 28 1 547 4 B A0k o are amortised on a straight-line ranging from 8 to 15 years.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

18. WG 2 v AR 4

18.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

I

“ECUE  —F A

2024 2023

ANR¥EFL ARETFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

BERA Cost of investments 11,891,520 12,666,770

[k Goodwill 1,337,050 1,337,050
RS AR A - F0BR E YU R Share of post-acquisition profits,

net of dividend received 1,230,545 1,395,516

14,459,115 15,399,336

ATENEF TSt —H 2 FEES
A TR FERE R B E S 4(o) ©

WEZFIEF A= —HILEE

AR DU 4 A AE N R 533,934,000 70
HEMEBERETREREEARAA
KB EEEARAT » AN EER
LR L A B AR A EEN S
WAREK

RZFZWEFZH=+—H o REE
N ) O RE 25 A0 45 — P A W W 2 T b il
ZHE AT > HRIE R ATES R A A
R #2,160,096,0007C (= F =4 AR
#2,171,701,00070) B A R #H1,045,086,000
Jo(ZF =4 0 ANRH773,137,00000) ©
HATETIEE R 3R 8 e AR A |
2 R A MR (B LA TR Y 2 IR A
SEMETAER - RZFZZFRZF
TR A = H R A AR
IR A I EHAT

Longfor Group Holdings Limited &g #f & @ % % B R 2 &)

Details of the principal associates as at December 31, 2024 are set out in
note 54(c).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group disposed two
associates Qingdao Wan Yi Real Estate Company Limited and Qingdao
Wan Ying Real Estate Company Limited at a total cash consideration of
RMB533,934,000, the directors of the Company consider the difference
between the carrying amount and its consideration is not material to the

Group.

At December 31, 2024, the interests in associates include an associate
which is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with carrying amount
and fair value of RMB2,160,096,000 (2023: RMB2,171,701,000) and
RMB1,045,086,000 (2023: RMB773,137,000), respectively. It’s fair
value is determined based on the quoted market bid price and the directors
of the Company consider the difference between the carrying amount
and its fair value is not material to the Group. The remaining balances of
interests in associates are all unlisted companies at December 31, 2023 and
2024,
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TR 2 vl IR 40) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continucd)

HORIE Ay F) BB OB Summarised financial information of material associates
BERBEA R REERERERARAT Summarised financial information of Wuhan Qinglongxinrong Real Estate
(Tﬁﬁ?%?%ﬁ'é%%ﬁ&%ﬂﬂ%?ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ Development Company Limited (“Wuhan Qinglongxinrong”) and Putian
(BT ) (CF =4 REHHER Zhaoyu Real Estate Development Company Limited (“Putian Zhaoyu”)

BACRUR T E A R A ([ RRET )
() BB BB RS AN T o LUF IR R
MR 2B AR [ o B o S )
ERHEAR R BRI 2 &5

(2023: Wuhan Qinglongxinrong and Beijing Chenxuan Real Estate
Development Company Limited (“Beijing Chenxuan”)), which are the
material associates, is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the associates’ financial statements

prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.

B AR NI PR RS RN S e e A Pt The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these
HMFERALE o consolidated financial statements.
BEZUES A=t —HIFERE For the year ended December 31, 2024
I
REH SR kT
Wuhan Putian
Qinglongxinrong Zhaoyu
ARM T ARM T
RMB'000 RMB’000
T E Current Assets 3,583,619 3,345,440
B EE Non-Current Assets 1,467,052 72
TE A Current Liabilities (2,615,265) (1,342,894)
BB & Non-Current Liabilities (24,875) =
A Revenue 2,578,560 3,730,571
AP Y ) B A T i AR Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 188,339 624,840
FEEMRKRE Dividend distributed during the year = -
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

18. A2 B Ry R AR (40) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
RS AR B ERHEE () Summarised financial information of material associates
(Continued)
BB ORI B SRR B B W R Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
MR B R 28w R MR (LA S5 - carrying amounts of the interests in the material associates recognised in

the consolidated financial statements:

REEHRES HHkF
Wuhan Putian

Qinglongxinrong Zhaoyu

ANR#FTFE  ARETT
RMB000  RMB'000

BENRIZ HEE Net assets of the associates 2,410,531 2,002,618
ARSE B A N 7 2 T R Proportion of the Group’s ownership interests
45 LU A in the associates 49% 49%
AL B REA G N w) R A AR The Group’s share of net assets of the associates 1,181,160 981,283
A5 AT 2 W Y T&ﬁ‘ﬁﬂ’] Carrying amount of the Group’s interests
R A in the associates 1,181,160 981,283
BEZ=Ft+_HA=t+—HILFE For the year ended December 31, 2023
I
REHHER AR
Wuhan Beijing
Qinglongxinrong Chenxuan
AREFL  ARWFI
RMB’000 RMB’000
W E Current Assets 5,751,398 1,384,162
FEnE G Non-Current Assets 30 70
nE A Current Liabilities (3,481,254) (659,614)
B E A Non-Current Liabilities (400,000) -
A Revenue 2,256,234 2,144,614
A i ) A TR W SRR Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 87,483 711,422
AL M IRIRCR Dividend distributed during the year = -

Longfor Group Holdings Limited

EHEEERERAR
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18. AW A B MR AR (47) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
RS AR B ERHEE () Summarised financial information of material associates
(Continued)
Al B R B o A AT TR R R Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
B B KB ) HEE 2 1) R T (LA 3B carrying amounts of the interests in the material associates recognised in

the consolidated financial statements:

RIEFREER S92V i
Wuhan Beijing

Qinglongxinrong Chenxuan

ANRHFTFE  ARETT
RMB000  RMB000

/NPt Net assets of the associates 1,870,174 724,618
AR B A 2 A RE Proportion of the Group’s ownership

4 Ll interests in the associates 49% 30%
AN B EAG T vl i IR The Group’s share of net assets of the associates 916,385 217,385
T RTIHT A — [ A ) Remeasurement gain on previously held

Fra RS s interest in an associate 172,651 -
AR A J R RERR 1Y Carrying amount of the Group’s

W THI(E interests in the associates 1,089,036 217,385

A1 30 i A TR B 4 ] B 4 R Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material
2024 2023

ABBTL  ARKTL
RMB000  RMB'000

AL AL 1Y 1R The Group’s share of loss and total

2T B AR comprehensive expense (159,659) (129,549)
AL AT E A T Carrying amount of the Group’s interests

HE i ) R T (L in the associates 12,296,672 14,092,915
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19. REBEENHELR 19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

e 0000000
“EOE SR =
2024 2023

ARWTFE  ARWTT
RMB'000  RMB'000

BEMA > LT
FERE WA A > ERCIUBE

Cost of investments, unlisted 14,902,653 13,200,742

Share of post-acquisition profits,
net of dividend received 3,411,251 2,851,535

192

18,313,904 16,052,277

ATECEF AZS B2 TEAS
A ZER R R M5 4(b) ©

EIWNCY-Ehe SUp/ 30T ]

SR K AR SN Y B A
R (TRRMEEM ) (2% = =4 -
HE L R A LA A B AT TR (A
ARERHS 1) B A HEA ) 0B R B
BN o LT BB SRR RO A2
TR i U T A S
BREIRZ S -

BN STl ik £y Nvas S
BREANE -

Longfor Group Holdings Limited &g #f & @ % % B R 2 &)

Details of the principal joint ventures as at December 31, 2024 are set out
in note 54(b).

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

Summarised financial information of Suzhou Huahu Real Estate
Development Company Limited (“Suzhou Huahu”) (2023: Chengdu
Longquanyi District Yidu Rail City Development Company Limited
(“Chengdu Yidu”) and Suzhou Huahu), which are the Group’s material
joint ventures, is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts shown in the joint ventures’ financial statements

prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.
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19. INMEBEEWHELR @) 19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
BERGBMEMHERE ) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(Continued)
BEZZ-WE+ZA=+—HILEE For the year ended December 31, 2024

LN E

Suzhou

Huahu

ARWFIT

RMB’000

TEE Current Assets 2,852,846
e B G Non-Current Assets 3,017,468
TE A Current Liabilities (814,514)
I E Non-Current Liabilities (364,023)

R KA B The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:
UTIEE -

IS <L7/F 3 Investment property 3,002,340
BEREYE PUD 494,821
FHEH &Y PFS 833,161
B4 LS5 EY) Cash and cash equivalents 434,567
HoAth 7 3 4 i Other current financial assets 620,065
kA W= Current financial liabilities (499,883)
ARAR Contract liabilities (309,065)
A Revenue 779,244
A 8 i ) A TR W SRR Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 619,807
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RE-ZOWETZAST—HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2024

19. NEBEEWHELR @) 19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
BERGBMEMHERE ) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(Continued)
BE_Z-NEF_A=t—HILEE For the year ended December 31, 2024 (Continued)
(%)
gt B S R T LA A A S TR R R Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
A B R 2 HE 25 1) R T (RO 3B carrying amounts of the interests in the material joint ventures recognised
in the consolidated financial statements:
FR N FETH)
Suzhou
Huahu
AR T e
RMB’000
AENEZIFEE Net assets of the joint ventures 4,691,777
REBENAESEZ AR H  Proportion of the Group’s ownership interests in the joint ventures 50%
A G A S R R i ) TR T Carrying amount of the Group’s interests in the joint ventures 2,345,889

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #E 4 = B # % 5 R A &)
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

(Continued)

For the year ended December 31, 2023

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

JRCH B HE R
Chengdu Suzhou
Yidu Huahu
AR#TT  ARWTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

HEEE
FiEEE
SN
B R

HEEERARERERE
DITIEH

e
RIEFRENE

FHE B
BeRReFEY
HtwisemeE

B EMAR

RHAR

oN

B B R T an A

Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities

The above amounts of assets and liabilities

include the following:
Investment property
PUD
PES
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current financial assets
Current financial liabilities
Contract liabilities
Revenue

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

3,806,403 5,374,082
813,303 132
(3,586,243)  (1,302,085)

(408,200) -

764,489 -
3,048,771 3,273,853
449,698 764,524
285,499 474,366
22435 707,539
(2,401,617) (507,076)
(972,386) (795,009)

2,270,091 5,661,686

448,967 1,071,629
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RE-ZOWETZAST—HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2024

19. NEBEEWHELR @) 19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
BERGBMEMHERE ) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(Continued)
BE_Z=HE+_A=1t—HIEE For the year ended December 31, 2023 (Continued)
(#)
Al B R LA A A AT TR A R Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
B B K A8 A 2 o5 A BR T (A BB carrying amounts of the interests in the material joint ventures recognised

in the consolidated financial statements:

JRAREEAR JiR M =)
Chengdu Suzhou
Yidu Huahu

ANR#FTFE  ARETT
RMB000  RMB'000

REMELTER Net assets of the joint ventures 625,263 4,072,129
AEERAELEL Proportion of the Group's ownership 66% (Fi5E)
i e Ll interests in the joint ventures (Note) 50%
AEMR A ESENELR Carrying amount of the Group’s interests
IR in the joint ventures 412,674 2,036,065
MEE © P A B IS B 3 E A A B o — SR & Note: All the relevant activities require approval by unanimous consent of all its
e > PRI E B B — T A A2 - shareholders and thus the entity is regards as a joint venture.
A0 SIS TR 2 A 2 4 ) Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not

individually material

TR —E =
2024 2023

AR#ETFE  ARETT
RMB000  RMB'000

7 AJE ] R A 3 ) B A T i A The Group’s share of profit and total
comprehensive income 296,898 586,890

AREE R A 2E I R 45 1 B T Carrying amount of the Group's interests
in the joint ventures 15,968,015 13,603,538

196 = Longfor Group Holdings Limited #E i £ [ {2 j% 45 f& 2 &)
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Wi TR 4N AR
Z A E

BEZFZNEHZA = IR

For the year ended December 31, 2024

20. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI/FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT FVTPL

TR —E =
2024 2023

AR#ETFE  ARETT
RMB000  RMB'000

BT RE AT At 2 T s Y

Equity instruments at FVTOCI

MR TH
bR - Listed investments:
— N LT 2 MR R (FTa) — Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (Note a) 237,454 26,795
LG : Unlisted investments:
—MEfE RS (kD) — Equity securities (Note b) 5,209,067 6,613,012
At Total 5,446,521 6,639,807
FifaE Notes:
(a) bt B R BERR A ETT R 2 (a) The above listed equity investments represent ordinary shares of entities listed in

I o AR B TR T
Ry RIS B AT HEA o

by LRI L TRESR B AR R LR
PR AEE o

H A2 ) S R A R AR O RERE % B
BNHE B AL A RE R
A 2R R EBUHRERBIE ) 25K
WA > HECEEI SRR TARE
$RE B AR A b 2R -

O ERE A 6 1SS E R SR
BTN R M IRE -

Hong Kong. These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held for

long-term strategic purposes.

(b) The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group’s equity interest in the

private entities.

The directors of the Company have elected to designate these investments
in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-
term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not
be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for
long-term purposes and realising their performance potential in the long

run.

Financial assets at FVIPL represents investments in financial products

issued by financial institutions.

£ 3% Annual Report 2024
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LIE Yyt 21. INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES

“ERONE —EF T EF
2024 2023

ARWTFE  ARWTT
RMB'000  RMB'000

FrERE R PFD 10,114,544 8,518,159
HRPEY¥E PUD 159,229,379 185,912,853
FrE B PFS 51,651,266 60,348,149

220,995,189 254,779,161

BEZZZIES A== HIEEE During the year ended December 31, 2024, there are additions to
fﬁ% R A A R 16,990,376,000 76 leasehold lands amounting to RMB16,990,376,000 (December 31, 2023:
CERCEFETZA=ZT—H 0 ARY RMB9,109,677,000).

9,109,677,00071:)

AR ZEF = —H s R As at December 31, 2024, the provision for write-down of PUD and
TREY) 3 RAFE B Y 2 Ao 2 n] PFS to net realizable value amounted to RMB1,668,216,000 (2023:
BB AR W 1,668,216,0007C (% RMB1,013,782,000).

T4 NE%1,013,782,00000) ©

22. HAbfERR 22. OTHER INVENTORIES
I 4000000000

TR U —E =
2024 2023
AREFE AR¥TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
feie Yo s Construction materials 26,931 40,737
TH 2 5 S HoAth Consumables and others 23,188 20,782

50,119 61,519

198 = Longfor Group Holdings Limited #E i £ [ {2 j% 45 f& A &)



Ao B 2 R M R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
=W = — H IS

For the year ended December 31, 2024

JE WO ok B AB RE W KT ~ $% 23. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

& KA AND PREPAYMENTS
"R OE R
2024 2023
ANEHTE AR¥TL
RMB’000 RMB’000
Z 5y MEWCH I (FffTa) Trade receivables (Note a)
—RBPEH — Contract with customers 4,704,800 4,497,620
—H4% — Rental 94,330 98,041
4,799,130 4,595,601
HAMMENCEIE - R IR Other receivables, net of allowance
(P 3ED) for doubtful debts (Note b) 6,380,180 6,683,449
i) R 7 Advances to contractors 2,154,044 3,086,071
FE A RO (EL R B oA B TE Prepaid value added tax and other taxes 10,572,425 14,270,154
AT A Sk 1 4 Prepayments and utilities deposits 18,992 10,044
23,924,771 28,645,379

FfF 2k - Notes:

(a) B O RENGRIE A B e - (a) Trade receivables are mainly arisen from sales of properties, investment property
B B 25 o A R I R & operation and rendering of services. Considerations in respect of sales of properties
ﬁfﬁﬁ%*ﬂ?ﬁﬁ%fﬁ%{%ﬁiﬁ AR are paid by customers in accordance with the terms of the related sales and purchase
B & S AL R H R agreements. For investment property operation, rental income are paid by tenants
mE A W'fﬁﬁ*ﬂ%{%ﬁiﬁ I e Wi within two months from invoice date in accordance with the terms in the tenancy
AR AH BRI i sl A R - agreements. Service income is received in accordance with the terms of the relevant

service agreements.

REE-=ZF—H—H  KAXFEHN As at January 1, 2023, trade receivables from contract with customers amounted to
B3 BRI s N R HHS,165,101,0007 RMBS,165,101,000.
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23, MEWCHR K B HEfb MEWCakJE ~ % 23. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

& BB () AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
Mtk (4F) Notes: (Continued)
(a) (#4) (a) (Continued)
PR B A2t & B ) R scm o The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables presented based on dates of
25010 E 5 RENCHR IR AR 234 o delivery of goods and dates of demand notes.
I 20000000
ZRUAE ZEZ=4E
2024 2023
AREFIL ARWETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
60H Within 60 days 3,346,340 3,183,144
617180 H 61 — 180 days 882,905 878,144
1814365 H 181 - 365 days 359,562 341,124
1524 1 -2 years 168,043 155,347
25 34F 2 - 3 years 30,960 28,069
I Over 3 years 11,320 9,833
4,799,130 4,595,661
o FENEF A=+ —H > AEH As at December 31, 2024, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance
MEW S Gy R B A IS IR T A N R are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of RMB2,790,464,000 (2023:
1 2,790,464,000 6 ( = F =4 : AR RMB2,632,608,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
% 2,632,608,000 JC ) A JHE W HE k> A balances, RMB569,886,000 (2023: RMB534,373,000) had been past due 90 days
HEHWE @ o NEmsitsh > AR or more and are not considered as in default as those balances are mainly with those
569,886,000 6 ( & =4« NR¥ property owners with satisfactory payment records for property management fees and
534,373,0007C ) L@ 90 H 8 L _EH A those banks with good credit quality and pending for completing their mortgage
BB > FRAZEERTEEAY procedures.
SEE I AT A NN T R
fE R R RAFH AT B ARS8 Bsics T4 -
(b) oAt RSO T B AR A R - Rl (b) Other receivables mainly comprise rental deposits, receivables of refund of the
HAAE S B R - BETRIES - B deposits for land auction, deposits for construction work, temporary payments and
bk K B AHE A —4F A AT 3R AR Y & JETE B miscellaneous project-related deposits paid which are refundable within one year.

HBR 4 -

200 = Longfor Group Holdings Limited 3 i % B §& 5 £ 2 A
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24. ME W B A AR B A

25.

EVg:50e T L]

ACECNERSF I =FT A=t
H oo SR8 OR B R RS B0 IR O IH (422 7 3
F ARG B0 A T SRR SN DA R W5t
{6 o BT A AEIR S5 BR/EE ZOR M2 - MBI
7 ) B I T 5 1) e 2 B SR A
e RECH o 7 B A Sk R U
JE R M2 B A T E A

ASEEE R - %5 AR s
ARE12MHH REE > BB RE &
7 o

TG BT AR A% BT & B R
Bl

@  CIRIERITE R AREEHE > &
BRI TRATIOE R TR AR
AR I AR o R ZF U4
ToA=T—H o 73 %‘“Fﬁiﬁifw
HATF0.1%21.05% (—F =
0.2%%1.73%) 7T R °

b MZFZWEFZA=Z+— EI :
HRAE I BUR R F R =%
1l §1 Tﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁiﬁﬁi‘k@%ﬁkaﬁé‘
9,550,295,0007C (=&~ =4F + AR
#7,953,052,0007C) > %45 R AT
RAEEWEERIEE » KA KH
SR RHEIEA B RIEZ
WA & LB &S EY - 556
TR FER RN T FE135% (—F
TEAE RE161%)5HE -

24.

25.

BEZRIET A=A IR
For the year ended December 31, 2024

AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS/ASSOCIATES/JOINT VENTURES

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the amounts are denominated in RMB
which is unsecured, interest-free, except for certain amount which bear
interest at commercial rates. All of the outstanding balances are repayable
on demand. The amounts due from non-controlling interests mainly
represented the advances to non-controlling shareholders and the amounts
due from associates and joint ventures result from the land costs paid on

their behalf for properties held under development for sales.

In the opinion of the directors of the Group, the amounts are expected to be
repaid within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and therefore

classified as current assets.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND
CASH

(a)  Pledged bank deposits are denominated in RMB which mainly
represent deposits pledged to banks to secure the mortgage
guarantees provided to customers. The deposits carry interest at
market rates ranging from 0.1% to 1.05% (2023: 0.2% to 1.73%)
per annum at December 31, 2024.

(b)  As at December 31, 2024, bank balances that are placed in
restricted bank accounts in accordance with the applicable
government regulations amounting to RMB9,550,295,000 (2023:
RMB7,953,052,000), such balances can only be applied in the
designated property development projects, of which most of the
balances are held for meeting short-term cash commitments and are
included in cash and cash equivalents. The balances carrying interest
at variable interest rates ranging from nil to 1.35% (2023: nil to

1.61%) per annum.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

25. CILIET RS BAT4i8R K 25. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND

Bl

©  BATHG IR SOEAEER A
Bl RFEBIR A =8 A ST

CASH (Continued)

() Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and

demand deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

WG AT o SRAT I IR & A7 34 A The interest rates on cash placed with banks ranged from nil to
EREE175% ( ZF - ZF  EE 1.75% (2023: nil to 1.89%) per annum.
1.89%) °

I

“ERONE —EF T EF
2024 2023

ARMTFE  ARWTT
RMB'000  RMB'000

EWIHT I AR R T AR R
ﬁﬁﬁﬁé‘@%&fﬁﬁ :
— DL ARWFHE
— IS TCHHE
—DIFEIeEHE

An analysis of pledged bank deposits and bank

balances and cash by currency:

— Denominated in RMB 48,417,927 59,797,743
— Denominated in HKD 478,656 382,310
— Denominated in USD 519,485 242,677

49,416,068 60,422,730

26. REAFMRK ~ Uil Ak B e ME
w2 H

26. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUED CHARGES

TR —E =
2024 2023

AR#ETFE  ARETT
RMB000  RMB'000

B 5 BEAT 0 B IR R B 5L
(Pt iEa)

JEAT B S

AR AT 3R B2 (D)

FEAH I (L

LT OF AT AU

W FEE AR — R E

Trade payables and accrued expenditure on

construction (Note a) 40,560,546 42,482,145
Dividend payables 1,514,840 2,109,362
Other payables and accrued charges (Note b) 13,337,202 15,189,228
Value added tax payables 4,372,087 7,486,549
Consideration payable for business combination 119,445 332,929

59,904,120 67,600,213

Less: consideration payable due after

JEAHCIE one year shown under non-current liabilities (1,268) (1,268)
B AR N2 08 Amount due within one year shown
under current liabilities 59,902,852 67,598,945
Longfor Group Holdings Limited #E i & E 2= p& 5 R 2 7
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26. MEATME 2k R MEAT =95 - HfBBE 26, ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

£ = .

ok O B Mt 2 ) ACCRUED CHARGES (Continued)

MfsE Notes:

() B A T T SR B S A (a) Trade payables and accrued expenditure on construction comprise construction
F A TE B MBI > TR AL R costs and other project-related expenses which are payable based on project progress
RH (1 TE TR RE AT o AN ] M B S L certified by the Group. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
W FLBOK - DLRECR BT A REAT R IEE I ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.
BEIRFRR A -
DLR BN IR > 58 5 e BOB g 2 The following is an aged analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date and
A R 25 SRR 8T R0 RS AT issuance date of each bill, at the end of the reporting period:

e 0000
e 111 RS
2024 2023

ARHTF AR T

RMB’000 RMB’000

60H Within 60 days 7,400,145 7,273,996

612180 H 61 — 180 days 6,273,556 6,428,339

181%365 H 181 — 365 days 5,469,068 5,546,300

1524 1 -2 years 4,559,787 4,575,440

2534 2 -3 years 989,784 1,024,799

I3 Over 3 years 528,918 539,735
25,221,258 25,388,609

(b) Hoft AT T R et B EEAREE R (b) Other payables and accrued charges comprise mainly tax received and payable to the
F U R S AT BUR R BLIE ~ RERT 4 government on behalf of customers, accrued salaries and accrued staff welfare.

BHERE B TARR -
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27

28.

Longfor Group Holdings Limited &g #f & @ % % B R 2 &)

ARIA

AHAEFEIRY RN S HEIGHIE - A%
A 2 T S ik R — R 1 & P OB 4
EHNI30% E100% 1F F %4 o ARUEMES
& WETAREERERNE TYENY
SERAE T DL B 7R A R e M A
W RERT RIS o T 2RI R A B HERR
SR 40 B B BRI Wik 658 -

27

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The contract liabilities mainly represent the receipt in advance from
property sales. The Group normally receives 30% — 100% of the contract
value as deposits from customers when they sign the sale and purchase
agreement. For certain properties sold to the contractors of the Group,
pursuant to the written offset agreement, the consideration of properties
is settled against the payables of construction service provided by
the contractors. The following table shows how much of the revenue

recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

2024 2023

ARWEFE  ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000
FIAF AR BRI E RIS Revenue recognised that was included
in the contract liabilities balance at

the beginning of the year 72,252,393 62,969,739

WoZ = —H—H o ARAESEE
N #5125,176,251,0007C

MR FEYEN S > AEBBTILE
5 15 5 0 S A ) 48 B ) 6
FrER PR IR > T 4% fR & AL 10 2 ) S A i
RIEA70% o QAR R I7 R ORI TR AR RE 0
BRAEAE > ARG I 8RAT AT e & 2R A
A B R ) R M 2 O B S Y
FEATRER AR, o FEBLIBIT > ASE MR
WO 5 B 48 4001 400 3 Hh B AW ] 4 T
AR ST RATHIRIA © BRIF B E T %
309 > A5 A G T8 R SR
RZARK

WA b BB A
il /BRI

ZEHIEL AR FHE - B EHE
A G0 R EORIFEIR -

28.

As at January 1, 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
RMB125,176,251,000.

For properties under development for sales, the Group typically provides
guarantees to banks in connection with the customers’ borrowing of
mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties for an amount up
to 70% of the total purchase price of the property. If a purchaser defaults
on the payment of his/her mortgage during the term of the guarantee,
the bank holding the mortgage may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding amount of the loan and any accrued interest thereon. Under
such circumstances, the Group is able to retain the customer’s deposits and
sell the property to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the bank.
Unless the selling price would drop by no less than 30%, the Group would

not be in a loss position in selling those properties.

AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS/ASSOCIATES/JOINT VENTURES

The amounts are denominated in RMB which are non-trade in nature,

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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29. REEHHE 29. LEASE LIABILITIES
I 20000000
ZROE R =
2024 2023
AREFE AR¥TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEATAL 5 £ 1% - Lease liabilities payable:
—ER Within one year 1,541,078 1,666,987
ZIR 4 (BRI Within a period of more than one year but
not more than two years 1,847,081 1,760,907
ZIRMAE > (BB A Within a period of more than two years but
not more than five years 5,323,765 5,361,634
B AR Within a period of more than five years 5,229,195 6,042,686
13,941,119 14,832,214
W WE A TR 128 A N E) Less: Amount due for settlement within 12
AR IE months shown under current liabilities (1,541,078)  (1,666,987)
B A E IR 1218 A &2 Amount due for settlement after 12 months
4 ZH shown under non-current liabilities 12,400,041 13,165,227
T A EUE 2 i T 2 s R e AR The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease
FEA T 4.88% % 834% (T =4 : liabilities range from 4.88% to 8.34% (2023: 4.88% to 8.34%) per
4.88%%8.34%) ° annum.
30. BT BB % 30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
B S 1! - SS— S
2024 2023
ANREEFE ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HATESK > A Bank loans, secured 103,759,980 70,289,130
SRATE - Bank loans, unsecured 42,749,305 70,908,273
% LA Bonds, unsecured 14,465,396 32,906,840
B A Bonds, secured 5,830,781 _
BRI TR Asset-backed securities = 7,237,775

166,805,462 181,342,018
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30. BT B ILABAR K (42)

5 R T (4% 5 5 ol P o 3

B ORI

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the above borrowings are repayable, based on

scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, as follows:

"R TPYE R ZAF
2024 2023
AREFE ARWTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
iV Analysed into:
AR TN Bank loans repayable:
—4ER Within one year 16,690,120 12,682,464
ZIRN—4F > (HAN A A Within a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years 14,743,461 38,905,559
ZIRRAE - (HAE I T4 Within a period of more than two years
but not exceeding five years 42,890,623 49,013,512
LA Exceeding five years 72,185,081 40,595,868
146,509,285 141,197,403
W B AR — SRR R0 Less: Amount due within one year shown
under current liabilities (16,690,120)  (12,682,464)
— AR E I FOR Amount due after one year 129,819,165 128,514,939
JR B AL K Other borrowings repayable:
—5E R Within one year 13,554,078 14,158,441
ZIR 4 s (BRI R4 Within a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years 5,999,810 16,875,803
LW > HAHR A Within a period of more than two years
but not exceeding five years 742,289 9,110,371
20,296,177 40,144,615
B B A TR — A B O Less: Amount due within one year shown
under current liabilities (13,554,078) (14,158,441)
— AR E A Amount due after one year 6,742,099 25,986,174
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30 SRAT RIABAT K ) 30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
ARSE ) $RAT B LA A 2R T4 N B & M The Group’s bank and other borrowings are denominated in the following
{f currencies:
2024 2023

AR#ETFE  ARETT
RMB000  RMB'000

A BT An analysis of borrowings by currency:

— AARHHE — Denominated in RMB 152,270,452 158,606,146

— D orEtE — Denominated in HKD 14,535,010 22,735,872

166,805,462 181,342,018

7% B T ST A < 0 R 3 6 The exposure and the range of effective interest rates on the Group’s bank
T borrowings are as follows:
R CERCEF
2024 2023
ARH T BEFI%E  ARNTIT BRI

Effective Effective
RMB000 interest rate RMB'000  interest rate

ERSTER Fixed rate bank loans 6,885,850 437% 6,173,030 4.45%
FRETER Variable rate bank loans 139,623,435 4.01% 135,024,373 4.39%
TR B Y b A R SRAT B DA B 5 The above secured bank loans at the end of the reporting period were

AR L A T IR o secured by the pledge of assets as set out in note 42.
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30. BAT R IABAE K ) 30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
(@ AEER-FUEFTH=1— (@)  The Group’s other borrowings comprised the followings as at
H i H A fE SR EIEAT December 31, 2024:
BT RY#ATHE O
ezt W RmAE REAY folm ERAE AEERY ERENY K& TN R AP
Principal
amount of
Term of Effective  Date of entitlement to ~ Date of investors to bond
Name of bond Parvalue  Couponrate  Issue date thebond interestrate  adjust the coupon rate exercise the option redeemed Fair Value as at
L
e 3 %
+ZH=1-H
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
NRHTT (Hiets) (Hiets) NEfFT  ABEFT  ARETT
RMBO00 (Notea) (Notea) RMBO0O RMBO00 RMBO0O
SRR
Domestic Corporate Bonds
ERRAE R ARBRENAD G - Qe ZE-AE §fF 6 TRTEE Rk 669,900 - 667890
(2R ) ) At 8 years Y o o X AT (Hfzkb)
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu January 25, 2016 December 25, 2020 January 25, 2021 (Note b)
Development (‘(ii) form of 2016 First Tranche Bonds”)
BRI AR AR 147,000 s ZERE 105 0% “EE v S 3 RER 137,840 88,199
([=F-NEB - i) ZAmA 10 years ~JimA ZAmA NA
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu March 4, 2016 February 4, 2021 March 4, 2021
Development (‘(ii) form of 2016 Second Tranche
Bonds”)
RO R ARSI A A S - 3509 EE 5 pIGI A St - o St 2 100,000 - 97979
(== i) i 5 years —~J=FH o (Hrt)
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu February 20, 2019 January 20, 2022 February 20, 2022 (Note b)
Development (“(i) form of 2019 First Tranche Bonds”)
EERAEERARBSENAA G - A% ZE-NE 7 ime ZEZE 2 500,000 - 495255
(2 NEs - ) ) ZHZHE 7 years Sime ! “HZFH (ko)
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu February 20, 2019 January 20, 2024 February 20,2024 (Note ©)
Development (‘(i) form of 2019 First Tranche Bonds”)
RO ERR RSN A S 2,300,000 400 ZECERE 7 429%  “ZZWE “RCRE TR 2,185,000 1736086
(=2 b)) AR 7 yeas iRt AR N/A
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu January 17,2020 December 17, 2024 January 17,2025
Development (“(ii) form of 2020 Fisst Tranche Bonds”)
RN EIRARBSENAA R 1,000,000 430 ZEIEE 7 34 ZEZRR e Sk 3 RN 976,360 652,680
(2R MR A6 MtH 7 years tAtH MtH A
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu August 7,2020 July7,2025 August 7, 2025
Development (‘(i1)form of 2020 Second Tranche
Bonds")
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30. ST RICABAR K ) 30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Concinued)
(@) ZIK%JEA:Z?:[EI$+:H =p= (@)  The Group’s other borrowings comprised the followings as at
HAZREAELLT « () December 31, 2024: (Continued)

HEREET BEATH CE Gy

fersm m  REAE BRAY BRm ERRE AN 3 ik e TROVE AT
Principal
amount of
Term of Effective  Date of entitlement to  Date of investors to bond
Name of bond Parvalue  Couponrate  Issue date thebond interestrate  adjust the coupon rate  exercise the option redeemed Fair Value as at
L
e 2
2Rzt
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
NEHFT (Wiita) (Wita) ARHTE  ABEFE ARKTT
RMB000 (Notea) (Notea) RMBU00 RMBUOO RMB000
S AR ()
Domestic Corporate Bonds (Continued)
ERRNO R ARSI A TS - 395%  ZFIK 5 T et 1 CECE 2,000,000 - 1900000
(2R~ —fkhEo) —HtH 5 years F=ALH —AtA (k)
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu January 7, 2021 December 7,2023 January 7,204 (Note ¢)
Development (‘(i) form of 2021 First Tranche Bonds”)
EE@W NN o 1,000,000 ddo ZESE 7 if%  —EZEE i S It 950,000 593,280
([ZE -3 ) —AtH 7 yeats ToALH —AtH N/A
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu January 7, 2021 December 7, 2025 January 7, 2026
Development (“(i) form of 2021 Fisst Tranche Bonds”)
ERENE AR ARBSIR AR S - ER I/ e S st 559%  ECIE RN 1,500,000 - 1,395,000
e S 570 EAZt-H 5 years WA= A EAZt-H (Wite)
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu May 21, 2021 April 21,2024 May 21,2024 (Note c)
Development (“(i) form of 2021 Second Tranche
Bonds”)
EEENLERRARBSERAA S 1,500,000 393%  CEIE 3 3% TEIAR “RORE FER 1387920 804495
[R5 R G jini i o] 7 years MA=+=A HA--A NA
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu May 21, 2021 April 21,2026 May 21,2026
Development (‘(if) form of 2021 Second Tranche
Bonds”)
BEENLERRARBSRAA S - 30 “EF 5 s “F-WE “FOmE 2,000,000 - 1,739,980
[“R =) MIt=H 5 years tAt—H JI—H (Wite)
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu August 11,2021 July 11,2024 August 11, 2024 (Note c)
Development (‘(i) form of 2021 Third Tranche
Bonds”)
EEENLERRARBSERAA S 1,000,000 EN[/ e S i3 5765  ZEIAR CEIAR R 910,000 513,000
[R5 =R G JNiR ! 7 years tAT—H AF—H NA
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu August 11,2021 July 11,2026 August 11,2026
Development (“(ii) form of 2021 Third Tranche
Bonds”)
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30. BAT R IABAE K ) 30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
(@ AEER-FUEFTH=1— (a)  The Group’s other borrowings comprised the followings as at
H A E A ARG LR ¢ (4F) December 31, 2024: (Continued)
HEREEm REHGH il (alea
e mf  REAE BEAY GRMR ERRE AEMHY i ik e TRVF HAIA T
Principal
amount of
Term of Effective  Date of entitlement to ~ Date of investors to bond
Name of bond Parvalue  Couponrate  Issue date thebond interestrate  adjust the coupon rate  exercise the option redeemed Fair Value s at
L
e a3
FZHE4-H
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
NEHFTE (k) (k) ARHFT NRHTE AR
RMB000 (Notea) (Notea) RMBU00 RMBUOOO RMBU00
S AR )
Domestic Corporate Bonds (Continued)
BRENLERRARBSERA S 2000000 o “EITE 6 551%  ECIE CERE FER 1,888,660 1509020
([ZF =Sk —~A+mA byers +ZA+mA —A+mA N/A
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu January 14,2022 December 14, 2024 January 14, 2025
Development (“(i) form of 2022 First Tranche Bonds”)
BEREROEERARRRALARE 800,000 395%  ZFZZE § 399%  ZEZAK EAE R 714096 410640
([ZF- gk SiRaL 8 years +ZATEA AtmA NiA
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu January 14,2022 December 14, 2026 January 14,2027
Development (“(i) form of 2022 First Tranche Bonds”)
BRENLERRARBSERA S 500,000 0% RS 6 4066 CECRE CRIRE TR 492,800 350,540
e S i 52 ) EATLE byears HATLE EATLE NA
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu May 19,2022 April 19, 2025 May 19,2025
Development (“(i) form of 2022 Second Tranche
Bonds”)
BRI R AR AR 5 1,700,000 4107 ZEITE 6fF dme ZECLE “ETRE TR 1,660,101 1,177,760
e S s 52 ) Wi 6 years ANAH Wi N/A
RMB domestic corporate bonds of Chongging Longhu July5,2022 June 5, 2025 July 5,2025
Development (“(i) form of 2022 Third Tranche
Bonds”)
il o
Green Bonds
TERRCERRARKREHS - s CEtE 7 361 “FITE ECTE 1,440,000 - 1425600
([ZF— LS aERR ) ZATAR 7 years SiAvat ZATAR (ifzEp)
RMB green bonds of Chongging Longhu Development February 16,2017 January 16,2022 February 16,2022 (Note b)
(“(if) form of 2017 First Tranche Green Bonds”)
TRENLERRARFAGRS - ERL . S8 7 3% “RITE e St 999,610 - 986985
(MR-t AR als: ) =ZJIRH 7 years ZHRH =ZJRH (Hrkn)
RMB green bonds of Chongging Longhu Development March 6, 2017 February 6, 2022 March 6, 2022 (Note b)

(“2017 Second Tranche Green Bonds”)

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #E 4 = B # % 5 R A &)
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30. ST RICABAR K ) 30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Concinued)
(@  AEERFECNEFH=Z+— (@)  The Group’s other borrowings comprised the followings as at
H A H A G LR ¢ (4F) December 31, 2024: (Continued)

HERERE I TG

o mfE FEAE BGRA FRAR ERAR AP it ol AEH TRV AT
Principal
amount of
Term of Effective  Date of entitlement to  Date of investors to bond
Name of bond Parvalue  Couponrate  Issue date thebond interestrate  adjust the coupon rate exercise the option redeemed Fair Value as at
L
ZRINE
+ZH=1-H
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
NRFTT (Hiita) (Hita) ARETE  AREFT  ARETT
RMBU0O (Note a) (Note a) RMBOO0O RMBO00 RMBU0O
R
Medium-term Notes
EEENEEIRAR KRR 500,000 s CHIRE 5 46w R RN R 90,147 285000
(MEFFEE— R R G At=R 5 yes NiA NiA N/A
RMB medium-term notes of Chongging Longhu July 13,2020
Development (“(i) form of 2020 First Medium-term
Notes)
EEENLERRAR KRR 7000 ER 15 g ZEZNE S 15 993,000 599 630,000
(MEF AR ) FZAAR 15 years F=AnA FZANA (k)
RMB medium-term notes of Chongging Longhu December 8, 2021 R R (Note d)
Development (‘2021 First Medium-term Notes”) =LA FZARA
CREEE CREEE
=LA FZARA
SRR SRR
=LA FZARA
November 9, 2024 December 9, 2024
November 9, 2027 December 9, 2027
November 9, 2030 December 9, 2030
November 9, 2033 December 9, 2033
EEENEERRAR R EER 1,500,000 L S 3 3% FER IN:ti TR 1478,400 LOSL620
([ZEZZFE- R ) JMZHER 3 years NiA NiA NiA
RMB medium-term notes of Chongging Longhu August 25, 2022
Development (2022 First Medium-term Notes”)
EEENLERRARK R 2,000,000 300 EIZE 3 300% AT RN R 1860000 1402,160
i St = 31112 ) F=AZtAA 3 years NiA NiA NAA
RMB medium-term notes of Chongging Longhu November 29, 2022
Development (2022 Second Medium-term Notes”)
BRI ARK T MO0 30 g s FER R RER L Lo
(B =g fmEp ) AZHR 3 yes NiA NiA NiA
RMB medium-term notes of Chongging Longhu August 30, 2023
Development (2023 First Medium-termNotes”)
EEENLERRARKRE 1,200,000 LY - et 3 373% AR R R 1219070 L1981
([ZZ =S b)) +ZA+ER 3 years A /A NA

RMB medium-term notes of Chongging Longhu December 15,2023
Development (2023 Second Medium-term Notes”)
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30. ST RICBAR K ) 30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Concinued)
@ ALER-ZNFE+H=+— (@)  The Group’s other borrowings comprised the followings as at
H A E A ARG LR ¢ (4F) December 31, 2024: (Continued)

HlENER ity TR G

o i FEAE RGRA FEAR ERAR ARNEN il ol AEH U AP
Principal
amount of
Term of Effective  Date of entitlement o~ Date of investors to bond
Name of bond Parvalue  Couponrate  Issue date thebond interestrate  adjust the coupon rate exercise the option redeemed Fair Value as at
L
BNk
F2AZ-H
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
NRETT (Hiita) (Hiit) NEfTE  AREFE  ARKTE
RMBU0O (Note a) (Note a) RMBU0O RMBO00 RMBU0O
[FRHEREAT R
Rental Apartments Special Bonds
BRERCERR AR R AL - 30 RN 5t 1059%  ZEZZE i S 490,000 - 10042
B F- NS -MERTHE LT 5 years AR LR (Hritn)
HEAES]) July 19,2019 June 19,2022 July 19,2022 (Noteb)
RMB rental apartments special bonds of Chongging
Longhu Development (*2019 First Tranche Rental
Apartment Bonds”)
BERREEERARR ERHEALA S - 6% “E-RE 7 472  “EZIE “RE It - 1335000
(2 NS MEREREEL ) LATLA 7 years AR LATILA N/A
RMB rental apartments special bonds of Chongging July 19,2019 June 19, 2024 July 19,2024
Longhu Development (*2019 Second Tranche Rental
Apartments Bonds”)
BERENEEERARR ERHEALA S 3,000,000 3805  CECRE 7 3% EEE e S R 2919540 220890
(MR- ZEE-MEFHEEEL ) =AimA 7 years ZJIRA =fimA N/A
RMB rental apartments special bonds of Chongging March 4, 2020 February 4, 2025 March 4, 2025
Longhu Development (*2020 First Tranche Rental
Apartment bonds”)
Pk - Notes:
(a) A EE B RE A R RS S R 2R (a) The Group is entitled to adjust the coupon rate on the date of entitlement
I 000 T ) SR A% o e to adjust the coupon rate and the investors have the option to sell back the
B A A R B 8 bonds between the date of entitlement to adjust the coupon rate and the date
BT (BT B I RE R 300 of investors to exercise the option at par or hold until maturity.
B A 25 -
(b) R AAE E I 1) B R O ] (b) The bonds are matured and fully redeemed during the year.
(c) RS A 1A B 4% 8 1T 4 (@] The bond has been exercised the early redemption option by the investors
I e e K O ) and fully redeemed during the year.
(d) RS A 1A B 4% 8 1T 4 (d) The bond has been exercised the early redemption option by the investors
e Y 43 W o and partially redeemed during the year.
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30. BAT B IABAE K )

Froa T MRS > TR B a A
A R AR L R

(@)

(if)

AT ARKBEEREU
T HO A IR DL SR BB AT 4Rt
AR 7] 35 4 i ) 6 R D G
5 M 3SR R e sk R B R BLAE - (R
WA EHETE -

RERZWEF A =+—H &
T HARE A - (N K #6247 ,407,000 0
_gz:ﬁ A R 741,324,000
TC) CR SR ARSI LR R R
E*AE%M%@%E%&?
s (—F =4 BRARK
40,919,0007C) & A 2 =& — U4
+oH=+—HILFERER -

BEZRIET A=A IR
For the year ended December 31, 2024

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Except for certain Medium-term Notes, all other bonds contain a liability

component and early redemption options:

(i)

(i)

Liability component represents the present value of the
contractually determined stream of future cash flows discounted
at the prevailing market interest rate at that time applicable to
instruments of comparable credit status and providing substantially
the same cash flows, on the same terms, but without the embedded

derivatives.

As at December 31, 2024, the fair value of put options of
RMB247,407,000 (2023: RMB741,324,000) have been recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position, of which, fair
value gain of RMB456,906,000 (2023: loss of RMB40,919,000)
was recognised for the year ended December 31, 2024.

RtZHA=E+—HAFE

Fair value as at December 31,

R U4 B
2024 2023
ARHF ARHFIC
RMB’000 RMB’000
Fns) & Non-current liabilities 108,038 513,557
ME A A Current liabilities 139,369 227,767
247,407 741,324

BT A2 ) B B AL SOH
ﬁ%%ﬁ%%&%t@ﬁ%x%%
i

Rk A0 AR5 T v SR B T
PREAEAF LT

AEA

SRR R B ARAT R 55 5
it & £ o R F —FEE il
FIRER —F R
SO > A EAb IR B A R
i o

The Domestic Corporate Bonds and the Rental Apartments
Special Bonds are non-guaranteed and listed on the Shanghai Stock

Exchange.

The Green Bonds are non-guaranteed and listed on the China

Central Depository & Clearing Co., Ltd..

The Medium-term Notes are listed on the National Association of
Financial Market Institutional Investors. Except for the 2020 First
Medium-term Notes and 2021 First Medium-term Notes, all other

Medium-term Notes are guaranteed.

£ 3% Annual Report 2024
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30. BAT R IABAE K )

(iii)

Longfor Group Holdings Limited

AT A R EREE S
THEAT VB S E T VAR
AR B A 1 SRR #
([ ZR RGBS ) -

?giﬁﬁﬁi%%%A%UEﬁ
A58 N R ¥4,650,000,000 76 KX A R
#52,650,000,000 TC AT > 2 4F FI| 36
3.99% 448971 B o AR W 1%
FACZHE > ARG B X
fF—R » WARR B 184F o B R4 F| R
“%E3%%&4@% BB AR
Pl 2 A SRR ik
Jir LS H AT = R AR
CFFRE SRR - BE T
ZIEFZHAZT—HIEEE A
FEECATIH = F A G E S
PR > I E 2 MOEE -

EVMEEZERBRAA

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

(iii)

In 2020, the Group issued asset-backed securities (“2020 ABS”)
under securitisation arrangements collateralised by the future
earnings relating to leasing of certain properties. The 2020 ABS
were issued with aggregate nominal value of RMB4,650,000,000
and RMB2,650,000,000, which carry interests 3.99% and
4.48% per annum respectively. Under both of the securitisation
arrangements, the principal and interests are payable semi-annually
and with maturity of 18 years. The effective interest rate is 3.99%
and 4.48% per annum respectively. The Group is entitled to
exercise the prepayment option of the 2020 ABS at specific dates set
out in the 2020 ABS agreement correspondingly. The prepayment
option of 2020 ABS has been exercised by the Group and fully
settled during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
=W = — H IS

For the year ended December 31, 2024

B R 31. SENIOR NOTES
Kerifa
Carrying amount
v ;" S
1+2A t=A
BT kg BOER BEHH iR EEAE ERAE  =t-H =t-H
Nominal Effectie~ December 31,  December 31,
Name of senior notes Principal Issued price  Issue date Maturity date interest rate  interest rate 2024 2023
Tk WEEEAH ANRIFE ARETE
USDO00 % of principal RMBUW  RMBUW
REZ-\FRAZZEINF R MR RS RE
T
2028 USD Notes issued in 2018 500,000 99.793%  January 16,2018 January 16,2028 4.50% 4.62% 3,334,500 3,276,003
REF-NERTL RS VIR CECREATAR
eI
2029 USD Notes issued in 2019 850,000 99.071%  September 9, 2019 September 16, 2029 3.95% 3.99% 3,237,806 4511433
S 2 A S o SETEECIRN CECAENATER
£k
2027 USD Notes issued in 2020 250,000 99.940%  January 6, 2020 April 13,2027 3.375% 3.48% 1,611,836 1,597,621
ﬁ/\\ ?#?E%éﬁz ?#QE 4?4?$ E/\B igiiﬁ E+EH
Fk
2032 USD Notes issued in 2020 400,000 99.857%  January 6, 2020 January 13, 2032 3.850% 3.93% 1,332,374 1,918,486
BeH
Total amount 9,516,516 11,303,543
i
Analysis
Fiid s
Non-curtent liabilities 9,516,516 11,303,543
WA B B A N 55528 5 AT TR All senior notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
AL o HAARNFRBILET o Limited. They are senior obligations of the Company.
/N ) ] I R[] 2 A % TR At any time, the Company may at its option redeem each senior notes, in
o EEESER D TSRS E - (O whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of (1) 100% of
IE A f 4% TELOB S B4R AR 4 4 9 1009 5 the principal amount of each senior notes to be redeemed plus accrued and
2 I [ 0 T {8 41 0 1 O [ A0 unpaid interest on each senior notes to be redeemed, if any, to the date of
SR RATFLE (WA ) So)d i i [ 48 o redemption and (2) the Make Whole Price.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024

31.

Longfor Group Holdings Limited

B E )

FIARISE R B AL 1 109% B9 A & A HR
(BFELR 1T B IR BT Q)
[ — 20847 | T HERF AT RO 817 H
IRBAT IO AR T RSN SR8 ) 73 R T 0 £
BRI A F AR ((H
AN HT 43 ) S ] T AT ] SR R

T I 2 A B S B SR R R A Y
100% 73 N H 2 (BG4 ) [l 0 RE st
BARAEFE (WA -

[ HSHA 7] 42 0 46 A SR B SRS R M AT
[ H IR LU R IR Z 80+ ()RR B 2 IR 5
SEA G B BLE (BSUR 21 A 8
BRSO N LB ZE R AR A
TR BB AT BUE - R T %
IR 5 5 OfF 5 4 8 252 22 e A0

HFHRS > TR TERRI BOR i AR
SRR A-FEIE AR -

5 A6 MR RSP I RE S B S > AR A
JE DA B HAE S5 A AR 2 B 1019 W (B A )
INE % (EAREEE) BEE B Y RESHE &
RS CRI ) B4 B Il T A R A 8 e 2
B o

BE-_Z_WFEF+_H=1+—HI*
JFE A% 4 %1274,500,000 3% 7T (£ A R
1,973,216,0007C) ( & “=4F © A4 H
299,875,000 % 76 (£ A\ R #2,137,175,000

) AL TS ER - RFE L
168,784,000 3 7T (%) A K #1,199,253,000
J6) (=4 RE£5194,079,0005 70
(%1 N R %1,385,680,00078) )

EVMEEZERBRAA

31.

SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

At any time on or after the date when each senior notes of no more than
10% of the aggregate principal amount (1) originally issued on issue date
and (2) issued on issued date of any Additional Notes permitted under
“Further Issues” remain outstanding, the Company may at its option
redeem the remaining outstanding senior notes, in whole but not in part,
at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of each senior
notes plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the

redemption date.

“Make Whole Price” means with respect to each senior notes at any
redemption date, the sum of (1) the present value of the principal amount
of each senior notes, assuming a scheduled repayment thereof on the
maturity date, plus (2) the present value of the remaining scheduled
payments of interest to and including the maturity date, in each case
discounted to the redemption date at the Treasury Rate plus 50 basis

points.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair value of the early redemption
options is insignificant at initial recognition and the end of the reporting

period.

Upon the occurrence of a change of control triggering event, the Company
must make an offer to repurchase all outstanding senior notes at a price
in cash equal to 101% of their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid

interest, if any, to (but excluding) the repurchase date.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, a principal amount of
USD274,500,000 (approximately RMB1,973,216,000) (2023: a principal
amount of USD299,875,000 (approximately RMB2,137,175,000))
was repurchased from market by the Group at a consideration of
USD168,784,000 (approximately RMB1,199,253,000) (2023: a
consideration of USD194,079,000 (approximately RMB1,385,680,000)).
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32. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

TR SR EE
2024 2023

AR#TFE ARETT
RMB000  RMB'000

RS M st riE AR AT A

AR

Bl It
— MR A
ERLESEEY
—SMEEM G
—HIEHEERN G4

(THTEEEE &4 ])

RREEE g Ft A A BRI AT AE

Derivative financial assets

(under hedge accounting)

Cash flow hedges
— Cross currency interest rate swaps 251,283 144,838
— Interest rate swaps - 6,922
— Foreign currency forward contracts 610,267 276,250

— Capped and floored forward contracts
(“CFF contracts”) 128,354 30,290

989,904 458,300

Derivative financial liabilities

SRAE (under hedge accounting)
AR RL Cash flow hedges
— 2 LW e 4w — Cross curtency interest rate swaps 116,097 318,777
— M A 4 — Foreign currency forward contracts - 18,248
—HHE R 54 — CFF contracts 13,579 47,243
129,676 384,268
ik Analysis
JE o Non-current assets 434,163 358,577
TE G Current assets 555,741 99,723
989,904 458,300
FERE AE Non-current liabilities 116,097 375,278
T AE Current liabilities 13,579 8,990
129,676 384,268
RN R R EH] R Cross currency interest rate swaps, interest rate swaps, foreign
A 3 1 5 40 T A TH 3 R A 0 currency forward contracts and CFF contracts
]
PR IAR > AEE AT R ENE T At the end of the reporting period, the Group had cross currency interest
Hyse WEMR =l > UEHG—E rate swaps designated as highly effective hedging instruments in order
IR B B ST S 2 i AR R S ATk to minimise its exposures to foreign currency and cash flow interest
HETT M E T A N B A A A £ [ R rate risk on its fixed rate USD senior notes and corresponding interest
7 ()% S A R A S K A A B 2 payment by swapping a portion of those borrowings and senior notes and
B I e B 4 3 1 R RSB corresponding interest payment from HKD and USD to RMB.
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32. RiAEAW TR )

R X BRI R - R R
B 72 ] 5 A B B TH 8 ) 2 ] 6

#)(41)

TAEE IR - AL EA T E A B T
B A9SMREE I & 4 R THE R 5 4
DRI SREN0 DU R W S e Bt

D HCHE ST AT A EERY S R

LB A I ~ AR~ ShHEE )
B BB THE R & A I ok A B R
DAL & 4 TR 2 S8 IE H B9 > T2
FREE S LIRS E iR S8,
) BB TR R I 2 40 e T T A,

PV 36 A0 2 A1 B S R L R B

BT :

(@ AR TR - XEHH R

32.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Cross currency interest rate swaps, interest rate swaps, foreign
currency forward contracts and CFF contracts (Continued)

At the end of reporting period, the Group had foreign currency forward
contracts and CFF contracts designated as effective hedging instruments in
order to minimise foreign currency risk on its HKD bank borrowings by

selling RMB in exchange for HKD at the borrowings maturity dates.

The terms of the cross currency interest rate swaps, interest rate swaps,
foreign currency forward contracts and CFF contracts have been negotiated
to match the terms of the respective designated hedged items and the
directors consider that the cross currency interest rate swaps, foreign
currency forward contracts and CFF contracts are highly effective hedging

instruments.

The effects of applying hedge accounting on the Group’s financial position

and performance are as follows:

(a) Derivative financial instruments — Cross currency interest rate

i swaps:
1
TR TR
2024 2023
AEEH(TET) 1,460,000 1,600,000

Notional amount (USD’000)

FIMA

Maturity date

PATAIR ONRBE L3R TT R RE )
Strike rate (RMB: USD range)

BT (18] 7 ) 5 s )

Strike rate (Fixed rate range)

“Z-EFNA+T=RE
—FNENAH+RAE
April 13,2027 —
September 16, 2029
0.1408 —

0.1596

“HECEFNAT=HE
“FNERA+RH
April 13,2027 -

September 16, 2029

0.1408 —

0.1596

3.375% — 4.5% 3.375% - 4.5%

Longfor Group Holdings Limited &g #f & @ % % B R 2 &)
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32.

R X B MR R AE ~ F R
B 72 1] 5 A0 B B TH 8 I IR ] 6

#1(48)

(b)

(c)

i A i TR — A R4

Ao B 2 R M R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZFZNEHZA = IR

For the year ended December 31, 2024

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Cross currency interest rate swaps, interest rate swaps, foreign

currency forward contracts and CFF contracts (Continued)

(b)  Derivative financial instruments — Interest rate swaps

ZR YL e

2024 2023
LFREH (THD) i3 3,600,000
Notional amount (HKD’000) Nil
FHH I R TINE—HZH
Maturity date Nil January 2, 2024
YT RIS (L ) fe 085% ~1.6%
Strike rate (fixed rate range) Nil

it il TR — AR A 40 -

(¢) Derivative financial instruments — Foreign currency forward

contracts:

TR TUE —E =
2024 2023
HESE(THET)
Notional amount (HKD’000) 13,127,000 15,555,200
P A “ETHE-AZHE CERIEAA ST ARE
Maturity date “F22)\EEAZTLH ZEZHAETZH LA

BUTHRIZR AR S s oy i)
Strike rate (RMB: HKD range)

January 2, 2025 -
July 29, 2028

1.1108 -
1.2018

June 28, 2024 -
December 19, 2025

1.0699 -
1.1628

£ 3% Annual Report 2024
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32. AT () 32. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
R B BRI R R B Cross currency interest rate swaps, interest rate swaps, foreign
A I % 1 A 40 % B T 3 ) 4 0 currency forward contracts and CFF contracts (Continued)
#4)

(d) it 4l T H — B SR (d) Derivative financial instruments — CFF contracts
I
R TUE S
2024 2023
HEEH(THT) 6,014,677 9,700,000
Notional amount (HKD’000)
FIMA ZEChE-HAZHE SERCHE-ACHE
Maturity date “E-HAETHZ+=H E -HE+Y A+ H
January 2, 2025 — January 2, 2025 —
December 22, 2025 December 22, 2025
AT HIZ (BT SN R ) 0.8515 —0.9030 0.8515 - 0.9030
Strike rate (HKD: RMB range)
FIZT PR (T 5 A R 4 ) 0.8000 — 0.8515 0.8000 — 0.8515
Floor rate (HKD: RMB range)
GUESWE SN bR o ) 0.9290 - 0.9805 0.9290 — 0.9805
Cap rate (HKD: RMB range)
bk A A R R A All of the above cross currency interest rate swaps, foreign currency
WA A KB TEE R A 453 forward contracts and CFF contracts are designated and effective as
EERBEREHWHAR - ® cash flow hedges. The net fair value gain of the above cross currency
SR ONE+ T H=+—H > kit interest rate swap contracts, interest rate swaps, foreign currency
R R ] R R forward contracts and CFF contracts totalling RMB860,228,000
AN A A M TE R A (2023: net fair value gain of RMB74,032,000) have been deferred in
KA E I s TR A S AR equity at December 31, 2024. The loss of the hedging instruments
860,228,000 JC ( —F =4 : N °F amounting to RMB538,742,000 (2023: loss of RMB929,886,000)
{8 iz 4 35 48 N R 574,032,000 7C) were reclassified from hedging reserve to profit or loss in the same

B MR IR A R B - Bvh TR year.
11 165 48N B 85 538,742,000 70 (=%

TSR RN R 929,886,000

T6) T TR A 1A7 e 38 e £t 486 76 081

FH4 o
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33, JBeAS Bl Al 33. CAPITAL AND RESERVES
@ A (a)  Share capital
Bt
0.10¥T2Z
BB H i
Number of

ordinary shares
of par value
HKDO.10 each Nominal value

T#T
HKD’000
EE Authorised
WoE - =E—~H—H - At January 1, 2023, December 31, 2023
:2::4134“4}% “t—Hk and December 31, 2024
ZEREF =+ —H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
CEAT AR Issued and fully paid
WoE = —H—H At January 1, 2023 6,281,542,032 628,154
TR (HsE10) Issue of scrip dividend (Note 10) 310,213,121 31,021
Wo_EFE - =F+_H=+—H At December 31, 2023 6,591,755,153 659,175
FEATRURACE (10 Issue of scrip dividend
(BEED) (Note 10) (Note (i)) 290,464,623 29,047
A7 B PR R 7 R 10 Issue of shares upon exercise of
(B ki) Share options (Note (ii)) 5,943,500 594
MZFZEFZA=1—H At December 31, 2024 6,888,163,276 688,816
SRR M IRE IR Shown in the consolidated
financial statements
AZEZNETZHA=1—H At December 31, 2024 ZMARYT T
RMB’000
equivalent 601,435
WoECEEFA=+—H At December 31, 2023 HEAREET T
RMB’000
equivalent 574,477
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RE-ZOWETZAST—HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2024

33, JBeAS Bedi il (an)

@ AR
Wik :

6) AARERZEPUEZH/AH
175,531,541 FROHT#UE Bt AT S
SERCEHENASTH IR
RS o

Gy WEZZNEFZA=t—HIE
SR AR ) RAT I IR AT
5,943,500 /5 5 FBE 18 {E 0.1 15 7C 14 fi
o A AR BT AR Y
7 R4 55 9.37 W5 7T (A A N R
8.017C) o ELEEATHT KA & J7 1hi Bl
A B A R A

(b) fifif
M E KRS
G RO
CERCNE R ZF =
T A= H B
Ta AN A6 -

e A it 1B M 2 B 2 T I 2
R WA AR AR IR
(A7) A0 4 2 R K A4 2 A B
HBLEAERL R A ¢ @3t
AR TR b#E
B AT T HE RS IR AR B A
AT AR R BEAT A
(OIEBISBEE A RIL S 371k
P 7 T I R [l PG4 5 (d)
B FI B 5 (o) B
BEATAN T A B 2 1
FA SR I S A R A B T
M s B fE £ I e ki
AR N BT AT e A7 o A 5
T A% -

R R TS 2 B A AT Hh 2 YR B
AR AR - AL T
{98 H W S8 0 B AR
B WA B0 R
1] 48 i FBC AT L) A fo7 3 IR
SRR -

Longfor Group Holdings Limited &g #f & @ % % B R 2 &)

33. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(a)  Share capital (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

In respect of the interim dividend for the period ended June 30, 2023,
175,531,541 new fully paid shares of the Company have been settled on
February 8, 2024.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company issued 5,943,500
shares of HKD 0.1 each upon exercise of share options. The exercise prices of
the share options exercised in 2024 is HKD9.37 (equivalent to RMBS8.01).
The new shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing shares in all

respects.

(b) Reserves

Name, nature and purpose of reserves

(@)

Share premium

Share premium at December 31, 2024 and 2023 represented
share premium of the Company.

The share premium account is governed by the Cayman
Companies Law and may be applied by the Company subject
to the provisions, if any, of its memorandum and articles
of association in (a) paying distributions or dividends to
members; (b) paying up unissued shares of the Company to
be issued to equity shareholders as fully paid bonus shares;
(c) the redemption and repurchase of shares (subject to the
provisions of section 37 of the Cayman Companies Law);
(d) writing-off the preliminary expenses of the Company;
(e) writing-off the expenses of, or the commission paid or
discount allowed on, any issue of shares or debentures of the
Company; and (f) providing for the premium payable on
redemption or purchase of any shares or debentures of the

Company.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account unless
immediately following the date on which the distribution
or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be
able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of

business.
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33. JBAS Bedat i can) 33. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
(b) Tl ) (b) Reserves (Continued)

A0 ~ E X&) Name, nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

ai) B (i)  Capital reserve
REMAL T Ry B i On June 11, 2008, a group reorganisation was completed
“EENEASAT—H B for the preparation of the listing of the Company’s shares
47 3,999,999,000 B 4 it by issuing 3,999,999,000 shares of HKDO.1 each. The
T {B10.1 75 7T 19 %473 52 B 4E ) difference between the nominal amount of the shares issued
B o A E T EAT A 1Y by the Company and the aggregate amount of the share
TE (] B 57 08 B P A v () capital of Juntion Development Hong Kong (Holding)
BT ([ FaREER] A& Limited (“Juntion Development”), the then holding company
P I A PR B ) ) B A 4 of the Group, was charged to capital reserve.
250 H G A
2300
RoFEE+HHH > A On October 2, 2009, the Company declared dividend of
A ) H R M R R S HKD100,000,000 (equivalent to RMB88,120,000) to the
100,000,000 7G (A1 & A A R then shareholders of the Company and was charged to capital
W88,120,0007C) I H & A fik reserve.
fEANER -

(iff) R (iii)  Special reserve
BE_FZTELFET A During the year ended December 31, 2007, Juntion
=t—HILFEE . g Development injected additional capital of HKD770,000,000
BEH—ZKFE2EWE L in a non-wholly owned subsidiary, Chongqing Longhu
FEBEREW RN E Development in which the non-controlling shareholders
770,000,000 % 7T > MM A #] are Madam Wu Yajun and Mr. Cai Kui, who are also the
R o S I B S R ultimate controlling shareholders of the Company at that
LT RS A TN B R date. The Group’s equity interest in Chongqing Longhu
WA 290 00 FE R T R A - Development has increased from 60% to 91.3% and a
AL [E 0 B A 4 R discount on deemed acquisition of RMB620,672,000 which
1 1 HE H1 609 3% £ 91.3% > represents the excess of the share of net assets attributable to
(IR AR PN the additional interest acquired over the amount injected was
620,672,000 7G Bl 785 By Wi H 4 recognised in special reserve as the contribution from equity
HIMEE i B JE A 0 PR o owners.
EEEHEIIL » CREFA
T 18 1 e 0 2 R i A 0
& o

(v) HAibtith (iv)  Other reserve
LAt 5 5 46 A 4E [ HEAS A B Other reserve represents the change in net assets attributable
Fft B A RE R ) (RIS to the Group in relation to changes in ownership interests in
SR AP IRE) 1 G s i (A subsidiaries without obtaining or losing of control.
# o
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33, JBeAS Bedi il (an)

bt (4)
kiR~ E RS )

(b)

Longfor Group Holdings Limited &g #f & @ % % B R 2 &)

()

(vi)

VR

HRYEAE B BT 25 T B e
ANFI AR ERAN > %%
W B 2 0 20 1 2 B R et
A LB B4R U6 A 10%
HOE R R G E AR
509 B 1E o HEARE 2 2 2
T ) £ A IR A E 2
RIAEH o 0k 5 2 BR ARt A T
WA 1 - R
RBUA i K88 305 s 1
W& /> Rl AV BEANE AR -

FEIEIR 1 vt 8 1 e 4t
WA S kB O B (i
B k45 (a4 22 ) 7E T 85 i
TR A A5F 2

(vii) Hf M

S fo A i LB < UL AR 2
I OL 2 B TR 2 4P (E 5
Bk iz BEtE B
g e EEEHNZ S EER
a o VRZ (ke T T AR S R
At TR 2 N THEE)
EAEZ ZatEa A =0
BERLG -

33. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b)

Reserves (Continued)

Name, nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Staturory surplus reserve

In accordance with the articles of association of certain
subsidiaries established in the PRC, these subsidiaries are
required to transfer 10% of the profit after taxation to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve reaches 50%
of the registered capital. Transfer to this reserve must be
made before distributing dividends to equity owners. The
statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up for previous
year’s losses, expand the existing operations or convert into

additional capital of the subsidiaries.

Shares held for share award scheme

The amount represents the payments made to acquire shares
from the market for the share award scheme as disclosed in

note 45(a).

(vii) Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve represents the cumulative effective
portion of gains and losses arising on changes in fair value of
hedging instruments entered into for cash flow hedges. The
cumulative gain and loss arising on changes in fair value of
the hedging instruments that are recognised and accumulated
under this reserve will be reclassified to profit or loss only

when the hedged transaction affects the profit or loss.
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AR B A AR 4 B R 1 A4 2 e ) £ B
TEBLIH

(AfR) B R HAES) :

BEZFZNEHZA = IR

For the year ended December 31, 2024

34. DEFERRED TAXATION

The

followings are the major deferred taxation (liabilities) assets

recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

B WHET
R SN LR SHMERN  RRENE RERER
g AFE RUEEE W REER MW REREN  ENE BRERE AR EBRE E10 &t
Investment
Withholding ~ properties
Unrealised taxon under
Fair value of Land  Allowance profit on retained  sublease and
Accelerated tax  investment appreciation ~ fordoubtful ~ Government intra-group  profitsto  right-of-use Lease  Intangible
depreciation ~ properties  Tax losses  tax provisions debts subsidies  purchases ~be distributed assets liabilities assets Others Total
NEHTE ARKTE ARRFE ARETZ ARKTL ARRFE ARETR ARKTZ AREFLE AREFE ARG ARETE  AREFD
RMBYUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUW  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO
(k) (K3t (f3Eb)
(Notea) (Note ¢) (Note b)
S At December 31, 2022

+oA=t-H (192,805 (11685,808) 3,625,100 5,034,283 3,750 1559 1,208,454 (119170)  GI57,116) 3,715,836 (523,006) M0 (3594620
IARAR (GEA) Change (Crdi) forche priod G031) @257 (435 (21680 - -oms 000 248 (6L 4466 - 088
bl New added e - - - - - - - S i - - -
BRIUBIHEA T  Acquisition of asers and lsbliies

VOREERAR  dhroughacquisiton of

(H3t6) subsidaries (Note 36) - - 1145 - - - - - - - - - 1145
SEREAT (M Disposalof subsidiaries (Note 39)

39! 3110 21,106 (77,693) (29.34) - - - - - - - - (82.820)
s Disposal of investment properties

(Note 12) 6,192 67,015 - - - - - - - - - - 73207
Early termination of leases - - - - - - - - 31037 (50,337) - - (19,300)
At December 31, 2023
. Q54814 (12480260 3403198 4183254 3,750 1,559 1430990 9,170 (3,055,708) 3,708,054 (478,380) 30 (565220
BRI EA)  Charg (Credi) forthe period G679 (56473 6L (68ED) - - E6BY M8 T QUBs)  SBL 0 393D
g New added leases - - - - - - - - (88,794) 88,794 = o o
TERITEMEAT  Acquisicon of asses and iabiliies

YORGERAR  hroughacquisiconof

(Ht3Es6) subsidiaies (Note 36) - - 10628 - - - - - - - - - 10628
B (Bt Disposal of subsdieries (Note 39)

39) 7,46 13,015 (5,699 (65,192) = = = = 3,592 (7,532) = = (54,770)
REAHHE Early termination of leases - - - - - - - - 70,655 (96,855) - - (26.200)
RoE- e At December 31, 2024

FZA=1-1 (7441 (1403198 3346794 3849425 3,750 1,559 1364852 (14362)  (2754018) 3,485,280 (433,029) 367572 (8,031,800)

W2k - Notes:

@ S04 R T ) BT R B R Y B (a) This represents the tax effect of the temporary difference arising from the treatment
B 7 A IR S A R TR LA o BT of the government subsidies between the accounting standards and the tax bureau.
B BRI B A > (BT B Tax bureau treats the government subsidies as an income but for financial reporting
T S B T o 2 B g 2 purpose, the government subsidies have been accounted for as deduction from costs
HHIRANE of properties under development for sales.

o) S04 R 1 T 4 B S 7 A IR 2 I (b) This represents the tax effect of temporary differences arising from the deduction
RS B 2 14 1 S (30 2 B of advertising expense and fair value adjustments arising from acquisition of
A o K TR R R 2 159 19 subsidiaries. The Group can deduct its advertising expense of no more than 15% of
BEE B 5 TR AR (W7 ) B AT its revenue and for the part that cannot be deducted, if any, it can be carried forward
B R A o to future years.

© R R Hb 0 75 5 T £ [ S 7 75 () According to the “Arrangement between the Mainland of China and the Hong

3 8 BN B L AR 0 2 R ) S 1
Bi2008112%5 > 59 S FHIBLBL 358
TN B A T B AR 5 2596 1) 5
JERAT o

Kong Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the
Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income” and Guoshuifa 2008
No. 112, where the Hong Kong resident company directly owns at least 25% of the
capital of the Mainland company, 5% dividend withholding tax rate is applicable.
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34, EEBIHE @) 34.

PG BRI - & TEEBIA
BERAMOIHEH - DU At E S B
TR £ A SE RS A5 B A -

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

For the presentation purposes of the consolidated statement of financial
position, certain deferred taxation assets and liabilities have been offset.
The following is an analysis of the deferred taxation balances for financial

feporting purposes:

“EROpE R
2024 2023

AR#TFE ARETT
RMB000  RMB'000

TR A S Deferred taxation assets 12,534,350 11,389,985
EAERITEEE Deferred taxation liabilities (20,566,150)  (17,042,212)

(8,031,800)  (5,652,227)

WoFoEF A=+ —H > AEEN
TGV R 22 A A N R H91,001,136,000
(=R = AR H1,013,782,000
J6) o B RE IR A nT B8 R e el
FEAT R BR o DR M e k5% 45 TR0
PR 2 R IR AT B T o

Longfor Group Holdings Limited &g #f & @ % % B R 2 &)

At December 31, 2024, the Group has deductible temporary differences
of RMB1,091,136,000 (2023: RMB1,013,782,000). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference as
it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
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34. BHEBLHE @)

REZZNE+ZA=Z+—H > AEH
A N H20,025,818,00000 ( & . =4F ¢
N H18,475,552,00070 ) FI A 12K B I B
TE e 1 AT A HRBH R AR A o AR
#13,387,178,00070 (—F — =4F « AR
13,612,792,0007G ) ) i 15 fE 58 4% AL ol T 5
7 o A /N AT R AR A i R O A
T AR 16,638,640,0007C (& =
M0 NRH4,862,760,000 78 ) HE 53 1% 4E Bl
THEE o RMERBIERIRA LT R3]
1

34.

BEZRIET A=A IR
For the year ended December 31, 2024

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At December 31, 2024, the Group had unused estimated tax losses of
RMB20,025,818,000 (2023: RMB18,475,552,000) available to offset
against future profits. Deferred taxation assets have been recognised in
respect of RMB13,387,178,000 (2023: RMB13,612,792,000) of such
losses. No deferred taxation asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining RMB6,638,640,000 (2023: RMB4,862,760,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The unrecognised tax losses will

expire in the following years:

2024 2023
AR AREFIC
RMB’000 RMB’000
#?4M$ 2024 - 162,669
TR TR 2025 477,175 491,730
TETNE 2026 977,701 979,891
T L 2027 1,001,484 1,044,165
TR 2028 2,057,907 2,184,305
S 2029 2,124,373 -
6,638,640 4,862,760

AR T B A 2E A s - A o I R A ) Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends

B ZF)\AE— A — H R R i ) &
RIS BOR FEATBE o W AR A5 TSR
7R v U A /A ) R MR A 1) T IR
ZHARM164,193,695,00070 (—F — =
0 MR 141,983,411,00070) 712 1K 4E
BRI J5 R A4 (] R i 0 IR 2 B
I 5 o] LT IRF 22 R A v LA T e A
[\] o

declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from January
1, 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting
to RMB164,193,695,000 (2023: RMB141,983,411,000) as the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.
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35.

36.

Longfor Group Holdings Limited

A0 PR A 2 Y 4l £

RoZZpUEFZA=+—H > BATHE
%Afﬁ%%@ﬁ%A%%un%mﬁ
TR NRH107,688,00000) 2K H
mLE¢EW%E$ﬁ$ﬂ%¥A@¥ﬁ
Z WL ] o AR PR A R ) Mk
Wt » ASGE B RERLT- W A 7 2 AR B4
SRS R B (R RR Y T )
B &5 ARSI R T I
FHARAE -

TEATSRAE AP E EE S s K
Wt 2 ] R T SE AR o A B U
B A (E FE IS AR B ks 2 -

75 308 VO D R JiE 2 il VB O
fifi
REE_ENFE S H =+ —HIEF
B AL, T EEAOMELS

35.

36.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVTPL

At December 31, 2024, financial liabilities at FVITPL amounting
to RMB74,429,000 (2023: RMB107,688,000) are arising from the
acquisition of certain subsidiaries engaging in property management
business in prior year. Subject to the terms and conditions of equity
transfer agreements, the Group shall settle the remaining consideration
payables to the vendors depending on the future financial or operating
performance (including the revenue or the property management areas) of
the subsidiaries which will be due in 2025.

Fair value of contingent consideration payables are mainly determined
by the projected revenue of the subsidiaries at the end of each reporting
period. Details of valuation of contingent consideration is set out in

note 52.

ACQUISITIONS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
THROUGH ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group acquired interests

in the following entities:

REMbARL,/ RGP ARERORR
WA 4 8 ] itk e Btk e B
Equity Equity
interests interests
held by held by
Place of the Group the Group
incorporation/ before after Total
Name of subsidiary establishment acquisition acquisition  consideration
AR T8
RMB 000
SRR A Zhuhai Runliang Real Estate PRC 50%(Htika) 100% 244363
HRAE Company Limited (Note a)

EVMEEZERBRAA
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36. BEBOBHIE A FRIEEEK  36. ACQUISITIONS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

@) THROUGH ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

RERE _F _=ZFF _H=Z+—HIEF During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group acquired interests

B AL T E R AR - in the following entities:

st/ AEEPIERT  AEERORR

(i Ve WL B Pt Pt AakE
Equity Equity
interests inerests
held by held by
Place of the Group the Group
incorporation/ before after Total
Name of subsidiary establishment acquisition acquisition consideration
ARET T
RMB000
R E R Shanghai Henggu Real Estate Development i 16% (fif3Eb) 100% 36,240
Al Company Limited PRC (Note b)
WsE Notes:
(a) R Tk 7 412 ) e O A R (a) According to the investment agreement, the Group has significant influence on
BRATRRET  FIHA AR 6 relevant activities of the entity and thus it is regarded as an associate.
*o
(b) AR B ik A7 A7 B 0 ) 249 2 4 i (b) According to the investment agreement, all of the relevant activities required
A R —BR B > R A A S I approval by unanimous consent of all of its shareholders and thus it is regarded as a
M — & B - joint venture of the Group.
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36. BEBOBHIE A FRIEEEK  36. ACQUISITIONS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

B ) THROUGH ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
TR JULE —E-=
2024 2023

AR#FE  ARKTT
RMB000  RMB'000

W ~ BUE K (FE13) Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) 60 -
}_L%}EIE%F (Fff:E34) Deferred taxation assets (Note 34) 10,628 1,145
FESE B Properties held for sales 120,071 2,630
JRENST AR 2 S oAt E N ~ 4 Tk Accounts and other receivables, deposits and
Fa AT EIA prepayments 1,347 7,176
Mk A 45 F OR Amount due from Group 474,806 48,382
SRITHE R B 4 Bank balances and cash 3,513 204
JEATRK  HARMEA ZOE R ERH 2 Accounts and other payables and accrued charges (12,962) (11,342)
AHIAR Contract liabilities (11,840) -
JEARIIE Taxation payable (24,845) -
560,778 48,195
DL 514 TE 45 AR 1 Consideration satisfied by:
Bl Cash 244,363 36,240
BN B RE RS (FfF3T) Interest in an associate (Note) 316,415 -
AR () Interest in a joint venture (Note) = 11,955
560,778 48,195
B AR Net cash outflow:
[RRNF:RE Cash paid (244,363) (36,240)
W TSRS RS YA Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired 3,513 204

(240,850) (36,036)

WsE - Note:
BEFNER-F =4+ _A=+—HIE During the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the difference between the fair value of
AERE S NEES N R SERTR A HRE RS 2 A P B previously held interest in an associate and its carrying amount is insignificant to the Group.

SR T L9 25 FRCBP A SR T T 35 0 R TEK o

FEHDE > WS AR A ERER > AN In the opinion of directors, the acquisitions of these companies does not constitute businesses.
) S 1A B2 5 1 R 2 R S R A ] o Therefore, the transactions were determined by the directors of the Company to be acquisition
B A o IR R R B RS IR I S s e A of assets and liabilities through acquisition of subsidiaries rather than a business combination
PERT T E RSB 0 as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations.

230 = Longfor Group Holdings Limited 3 i % B2 18 5 B 2 A
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37. WO BB 2 W) A #R 37. ACQUISITIONS OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN

SUBSIDIARIES

WE-Z-WET A=+ —HIHERE
AEENELL T RS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group acquired interests

in the following entities:

kb REERER  AEERMOER
W ) 447 AL i e i Fir e BRE
Equity Equity
interests interests
held by held by
Place of the Group the Group
incorporation/ before after Total
Name of subsidiaries establishment acquisition acquisition consideration
ANREF
RMB000
RUBHEEARATF Changsha Longxin Real Estate Company i 70% 100% 6,440
Limited PRC
BUEEBEHRAF Changsha Yixin Real Estate Company i 60% 100% 32,883
Limited PRC
MRS REERRA Hubei Longhetai Real Estate Company i 70% 100% 154,000
Limited PRC
REW R bEMBEHRAR Wuhan Xujingcheng Real Estate H 57% 100% *
Development Company Limited PRC
AIEEERMERBARAT  Hefei Longging Real Estate Developmene ! 50% 100% 25,000
Company Limited PRC
MBI R EA AR Fuzhou Shengwang Investment Company ! 70% 100% *
Limited PRC
WEMBAE B AR A A Chengdu Xuzheng Real Estate Company 70% 100% 108,000
Limited PRC
RS BEA TR Chengdu Xuyu Real Estate Company i 70% 100% 30
Limited PRC
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37. WOUE B 2 vil BAMERR (40)

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

37. ACQUISITIONS OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN

At/ REMPIOEE AR
WA 4R L i i ERE
Equity Equity
interests interests
held by held by
Place of the Group the Group
incorporation/ before after Total
Name of subsidiaries establishment acquisition acquisition  consideration
ARMFx
RMB000
TR RREEERAR Beijing Longxiang Open Source Real Estate 60% 100% 200
Company Limited PRC
AIESERMEREAMAT  Hefei Jintao Real Estate Development g 70% 100% 15,000
Company Limited PRC
WG EMEERARAT  Wuxi Jiaxu Investment Development i 90% 100% 195,870
Company Limited PRC
HRERERHEELARA Qingdao Longtai Jinyu Real Estate H 259 (f5E) 63% 65,163
([ BHERmeE]) Company Limited (‘Qingdao Longtai PRC (Note)
Jinyu”)
AT R A A B A /AT Chengdu Pidu District Shusheng Real Estate 1[5 60% 100% 312,000
Company Limited PRC
TR % T B R AT Tongxiang Anyu Real Estate Company i 50% 100% 25,000
Limited PRC
%A B ERRAT Tongxiang Anhe Real Estate Company H 50% 100% 25,000
Limited PRC
KREAREARAH Tianjin Xingbai Real Estate Company H 50% 100% 420,000
Limited PRC
%75 8 BB R A IR A Xi'an Chenming Real Estate Development ! 40% (M3E) 100% *
([T %=8]) Company Limited (‘Xi'an Chenming”) ~ PRC (Note)
FisiE e BEERARAR Xi'an Longyu Real Estate Development g 51% 100% *
Company Limited PRC

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #E 4 = B # % 5 R A &)
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37. WK B 2 R BIAMERE (47) 37. ACQUISITIONS OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AV AEEPRORN  AEER RS

WA AR FROL % i b i AR
Equity Equity
interests interests
held by held by
Place of the Group the Group
incorporation/ before after Total
Name of subsidiaries establishment acquisition acquisition  consideration
ARETT
RMB000
FRENEEGRAT Qingdao Wanhu Real Estate Company it 25%(Mf3E) 63% 64,040
([FEEH]) Limited (“Qingdao Wanhu”) PRC (Note)
KE4EEMARAR Dalian Jinwan Land Company Limited i 51% 100% 106,810
PRC
TMCHFEEREHR/AR  Fuzhou Yuanlan Real Estate Development A 70% 100% 16,984
Company Limited PRC
RS HEEEARAR Qingdao Longjing Runjia Real Estate i 51% 100% ¥
Company Limited PRC
ESTEMELERAR Wauxi Jiarong Real Estate Company Limited 60% 100% 130,872
PRC
WEEEE EREARAT  Xian Jingteng Real Estate Development ~ F1H 70% 88% 514,000
Company Limited PRC
T R EEA AT Xi'an Zhuozhong Real Estate Company i 50% 90% o
Limited PRC
RIMEEEARAT Changsha Huyun Real Estate Company i 51% 100% 5310
Limited PRC
RUFEREEARATA Changsha Fuyun Real Estate Company H 51% 100% 57,200
Limited PRC
RIDEREEARAF Changsha Yisheng Real Estate Company 1 51% 100% 96,600
Limited PRC
HEEME S EGRAT Chongging Longhu Lianxin Real Estate i 60% 100% 20,000
Development Company Limited PRC
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37. WOUE B 2 vil BAMERR (40)

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

37. ACQUISITIONS OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN

FEbL/ REMMER  AEEROER
M A 22 7 FROZH i e i e AR
Equity Equity
interests interests
held by held by
Place of the Group the Group
incorporation/ before after Total
Name of subsidiaries establishment acquisition acquisition consideration
ARWFI
RMB000
AL FMEREHRAT  Hefei Longan Real Estate Development i 73% 100% 202,500
Company Limited PRC
R ERBEARAR Nanjing Jiaxiu Real Estate Company i 70% 100% 176,555
Limited PRC
EHENEEARAF Yunnan Yiyue Real Estate Company A 80% 100% 46,000
Limited PRC
Kt B LA RAT Tianjin Dingxin Real Estate Company i 51% 100% 49,000
Limited PRC
P L LT R e e Tangshan Xingbai Juntai Real Estate g 85% 100% 45,000
B Development Company Limited PRC
b S B AR A Shenyang Dingxin Real Estate Company ~ FE 51% 100% 68,600
Limited PRC
B EEARAR Chengdu Xulang Real Estate Company i 70% 100% 61,000
Limited PRC
MR EERRAT Huizhou Xinyaozhong Real Estate Company ! 95% 100% @
Limited PRC
MR BB LR AT Nanjing Minghua Real Estate Company Hi 98% 100% 6,927
Limited PRC
ML EEEERAT Nanjing Minghui Real Estate Company Hi 75% 100% 2,500
Limited PRC
MR T B A ] Nanjing Mingxu Real Estate Company i 70% 100% 50,151
Limited PRC

Longfor Group Holdings Limited #E 4 = B # % 5 R A &)
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SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended December 31, 2024

37. ACQUISITIONS OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN

FEMbL REBPER  AEEROER
(i) UNTEA FROZH i i Fi R e AR
Equity Equity
interests interests
held by held by
Place of the Group the Group
incorporation/ before after Total
Name of subsidiaries establishment acquisition acquisition consideration
ARHTT
RMB000
A B AR Chengdu Xuquan Real Estate Company H 94% 100% 48,000
Limited PRC
AIEAHFAEMNERRAT  Hefei Zhuojin Real Estate Development g 51% 100% 24,500
Company Limited PRC
FRERE AL s B g Chonggqing Longhu Miaojia Real Estate i 75% 100% 58,819
ARAR Development Company Limited PRC
BN A E L E Chongging Longhu Shunyun Real Estae ! 50% 100% Nil
1N Development Company Limited PRC
WL E IS A Zhejiang Kangxi Property Service Company ' 51% 71% 30,574
ARAT Limited PRC
kit T LA o A TR ) Zhuhai Zhuoxuan Real Estate Company H 50% 100% 109,266
Limited PRC
TR I B A TR A Zhuhai Rungian Real Estate Company i 51% 100% 45,706
Limited PRC
3,421,500

* SRR’ AR H1,0007T °

Wik BRI - A A R R S NJoiES
WAL R O MBS B [ Ak
HHBRRME - MERHREE AN

FEIHE -

HEOBECE AR A AR > TR
1 B P 1 ok A e T 2 o B i 10 B
TAL L 22 [T A8 2 A T A o v

Amount less than RMB1,000.

According to the investment agreements, the Group has sufficiently dominant voting

interest to direct the relevant activities of this entity and therefore the Group had

control over Qingdao Longtai Jinyu, Xi'an Chenming and Qingdao Wanhu.

recognised directly in other reserve.

The acquisition has been accounted for as equity transactions and the total
difference between the consideration paid and the carrying amounts of

the attributable reserves and non-controlling interest acquired had been
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37. WO E 2 vil WA SR 37.

BEF-=F+-A=+—HILEE
AR B LA B A RE SR -

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

in the following entities:

ACQUISITIONS OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group acquired interests

AEMbARL,/ RGBT ARERORR
WA 4 F kL] Pt Bk e BRE
Equity Equity
interests interests
held by held by
Place of the Group the Group
incorporation/ before after Total
Name of subsidiaries establishment acquisition acquisition  consideration
AR
RMB000
LEhR R ERARAR Shanghai Yangen Investment i 65% 100% 80,000
(I EHRR) Management Company Limited PRC
(“Shanghai Yang'en”)
AR B 70 T Fuzhou Dixinjiayuan Real Estate Company ~ #f 51% 100% 70,498
HRAR(EMEERT)  Limited (Fuzhou Dixinjiayuan”) PRC
AR A2 E H kA R/AF]  Chengdu Dongjin Company Management 60% 100% 20,000
(RS D) Consultant Company Limited PRC
(“Chengdu Dongjin”)
TR R o T Jiaxing Longhu Jiatao Real Estate i 51% 100% 24,500
HRAR (EEHEE] Company Limited (“Jiaxing Jiatao”) PRC
HHEREHEREHRAF  Ningbo Jiayao Real Estate Company i 51% 100% 4,900
([ B3 18 ) Limited (“Ningbo Jiayao”) PRC
FRCAPIR 0 2 3 PR Chengdu Chenxu Real Estate Company i 70% 100% 66,000
(TR bR ) Limited (‘Chengdu Chenxu”) PRC
R EEARAT Shenyang Jinyi Real Estate Company il 70% 100% 15,000
([EFAHIE]) Limited (“Shenyang Jinyi") PRC
%A BB A A Xi'an Longyou Real Estate Company i 60% 70% 42,436
(H%aEM ) Limited (“Xi'an Longyou”) PRC
WIHEREESEHAMART  Zhanjiang City Jiachen Real Estate s 51% 100% 9,875
(HIER D) Company Limited (“Zhanjiang Jiachen”) ~ PRC
BTN AREEARAR  Zhanjiang City Longhu Enxiang Real i 51% 100% 38,425
(HIER]) Estate Company Limited PRC
(“Zhanjiang Enxiang”)
BRI A S EA AR Chongging Longhu Jingming Real Estate 16 60% 100% 20,000
([EERE ) Company Limited PRC
(“Chongging Jingming”)
PRSI A RA R Chengdu Longhu Jinchuan Real Estate s 51% 100% 24,500
(T HcERga D) Company Limited (“Chengdu Jinchuan”)  PRC
RIMELEEAR AT Changsha Xirong Real Estate Company s 349%(MF&E) 419 (W3E) 56,151
([RUEE]) Limited (“Changsha Xirong”) PRC (Note) (Note)
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37. WK B 2 R BIAMERE (47) 37. ACQUISITIONS OF ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

pali Vg GBI AR

WA 41 JRAL B Firf e i e aRE
Equity Equity
interests interests
held by held by
Place of the Group the Group
incorporation/ before after Total
Name of subsidiaries establishment acquisition acquisition  consideration
ARMFx
RMB000
B GREEBTHE 30k e8! Beijing Shanghengjirui Commercial il 51% 100% 880,660
AR T ([t 5 ) Operation Management Company PRC
Limited (“Beijing Shanghengjirui”)
TR B LA RAT Xi'an Beicheng Real Estate Company L] 60% 100% 403,900
(M%) Limited (“Xi'an Beicheng”) PRC
RUIFEFHERSARAT  Changsha Shunsheng Real Bstate il 51% 100% 73,500
([P IERE ) Company Limited (“Changsha PRC
Shunsheng”)
K BEHRAF Tianjin Shengkai Real Estate Company L] 51% 100% 893,295
(K& ) Limited (“Tianjin Shengkai”) PRC
BRI EEARAT Yixing Jiaxi Real Estate Company Gt 50% (Hf3E) 100% 130,000
(MElFE]) Limited (“Yixing Jiaxi”) PRC (Note)
W R R LA AT Chengdu Chenpan Property Company I 35%(Bifst) 100% 195,000
(TR D) Limited (“Chengdu Chenpan”) PRC (Note)
3,048,640
MR RIBECE W o AEEAR R R Note: According to the investment agreements, the Group has sufficiently dominant voting
fi AR E M A BT B > R AR interest to direct the relevant activities of this enticy and therefore the Group had
HRIDES - HELEE LA RE A P control over Changsha Xirong, Yixing Jiaxi and Chengdu Chenpan.
HE o
A B C A AR o ABR > TEATE The acquisition has been accounted for as equity transactions and the total
i L A R A £ A S I 42 T B 5 119 B difference between the consideration paid and the carrying amounts of
T F 22 T 0 48 2 % ) B At At 5 o e the attributable reserves and non-controlling interest acquired had been
o recognised directly in other reserve.
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38. WMEMBA WM R (K% 38 DISPOSAL OF PARTIAL INTERESTS IN

K yEhIbE) SUBSIDIARIES NOT RESULTING IN LOSING OF
CONTROL

BEZEZZNESZH =+ —HILFE During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group disposed of partial

ARG LU B A > i interest in the following entity:

RGP AR EOER

WA R 2 B P e ik e BRE
Equity Equity
interest interest
held by held by
the Group the Group
Place of before after Total
Name of subsidiaries establishment disposal disposal  consideration
ARH T
RMB000
FiEEREEARAR  Shanghai Huchen Real Estate Company Limited  H 70% 50% 160,000
(I Bl D) (“Shanghai Huchen”) PRC
BB EER b= Suzhou Longhu Jiye Real Estate Company i 51% 26% 431,700
ARAT (THMAE])  Limited (‘Suzhou Jiye") PRC
591,700
FHRL > AEEA R TR ERER L In the opinion of the directors, the Group has sufficiently dominant voting
R EMRMBIEE > B A LS - interest to direct the relevant activities of this entity and therefore the
IR BN S A IR - U > B Group has control over Shanghai Huchen and Suzhou Jiye. Accordingly,
0 B N B2 AT A B B A ) - Shanghai Huchen and Suzhou Jiye remains as a subsidiary of the Group
HECIERER T HAR - ClERE and the disposal has been accounted for as an equity transaction. The
B T A 2 B A SR T 5 0 difference between the consideration received and the net asset values
RERK o disposed is insignificant to the Group.
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WA WEA IR AR (KK 38 DISPOSAL OF PARTIAL INTERESTS IN
KPEHIHE) ) SUBSIDIARIES NOT RESULTING IN LOSING OF
CONTROL (Continued)
BE - Z =T _HA=Z1T—HILFEE During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group disposed of partial
ARG LU B A > i - interest in the following entity:
e —
wEARaL,/ RGP ARERORR
WA 4 7 LA it e it e BRE
Equity Equity
interest interest
held by held by
Place of the Group the Group
incorporation/ before after Total
Name of subsidiary establishment disposal disposal  consideration
AR TE
RMB000
AMERFEEREEAH  Taizhou Yujing Real Bstate Information A 100% 83% 124,956

ARATE (T AMER])

Consultant Co., Led. (“Taizhou Yujing”) PRC

RS AEEA RN EE L
IREZ IS E) - AR mE A
INERIR A FEIRE o Ot - BMEBRAN A A
SEFIE A > Tk EAE RS A
i ERERE G EE FHE MR £
BEEAEEM S L AEK -

AR E A W

WEEZ-NEF A =+—H IR4ER
74 [ ) 8 5 5 =0 B DT MR A
2445 I O 2 A1 A T 5 S B A A
7 B TS AR S
B e

39.

In the opinion of the directors, the Group has sufficiently dominant voting
interest to direct the relevant activities of this entity and therefore the
Group has control over Taizhou Yujing. Accordingly, Taizhou Yujing
remains as a subsidiary of the Group and the disposal has been accounted
for as an equity transaction. The difference between the consideration

received and the net asset values disposed is insignificant to the Group.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group disposed the
following subsidiaries to independent third-parties, which are individually
insignificant, engaging in the property development, commercial

investment and property management business in the PRC.
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

REMAL/ AEMHED  ARENER
WA 2 B2 i b it b ARE
Equity Equity
Place of interest held interest held
incorporation/ by the Group by the Group Total
Name of subsidiaries establishment ~ before disposal ~  after disposal ~ consideration
ANRMFx
RMB000
TEM B EEE Xi'an Wentian Technology Industry Group g 60% 0% 158,052
AT Company Limited PRC
RERHFHERE Changchun Hengming Real Estate Development ! 40% 0% 20,000
HIRAHE Company Limited PRC
| T S Zhongshan Crown Residence Commercial g 100% 0% 1,550
ERARAT Operation Management Company Limited ~ PRC
BEEMRENERE  Chongging Longhu Zilan Property Service i 51% 0% 1,541
HIRAH Company Limited PRC
Ml EE R SESEM  Foshan Crown Residence Commercial Operation ! 100% 0% 1,250
HIRAH Management Company Limited PRC
WM RS R Hangzhou Lanbao Environmental Industry G 100% 0% 114,515
AR Company Limited PRC
LRERNEES Beijing Xianghengtai Commercial Operation i 100% 0% *
EHEA R Management Company Limited PRC
KRR B Dalian Longhu Zehai Real Estate Company i 100% 0% 40,488
Gl Limited PRC
TEE BN Xi'an Shouyu Commercial Management i 100% 0% 112,987
LN Company Limited PRC
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39. WEHBAF @) 39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

REMbL AL ARENER

i) UNTIEA AL i e i e ARE
Equity Equity
Place of interest held interest held
incorporation/ by the Group by the Group Total
Name of subsidiaries establishment ~ before disposal ~  after disposal ~ consideration
ANREF7
RMB000
FONEN 7 B Guizhou Longhu Yiguang Property Company ! 51% 0% 1,533
ARAT Limited PRC
BEREMEEYERYE  Chongging Longhu Huixin Property Service H 51% 0% 132
AR Company Limited PRC
Wl RERMEHR/AR  Zhuhai Ruiliang Real Estate Company Limited ! 50% 500 (fff7E) %
([FREmE ) (“Zhuhai Ruiliang”) PRC (Note) Nil
REEME ¥R Wuhan Houde Real Estate Company Limited R 35% 359% (k) %
HAR(TRERE]D)  (“Wuhan Houde”) PRC (Note) Nil
EEREAREME Chongging Yizhi Hemin Real Estate A 50% 0% %
B AR AT Development Company Limited PRC Nil
452,048
FifaE Note:
MBEE-EZNEFHA=+—HIFEE During the year ended December 31, 2024, the shareholders of the Zhuhai Ruiliang and
Fiir 2 e G T P SR T S e A ok H%Jﬂjﬁﬁ Wuhan Houde entered into supplemental agreements pursuant to which all of the relevant
A T 4 JE A B T o — R activities required approval by unanimous consent of all of its shareholders and thus they are
BAB B A A regarded as joint ventures.
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39. EWRBAE @) 39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BEF_=FTA=1+—HILFE During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group disposed the
ARSI ) S =0 I LR I AR
%% P 2 {1790 I 5 A A BRI e
I 2 o S I ) S TS

following subsidiaries to independent third-parties, which are individually
insignificant, engaging in the property development and property

management business in the PRC.

Gl AERLER  ARENRER
MBAR A Oz PRl Pt B
Equity Equity
interest interest
Place of held by held by
incorporation/ the Group the Group Total
Name of subsidiaries establishment before disposal after disposal consideration
ANRHT T
RMB000
MR EE Nanning Longhu Jinyao Property Company g 60% 0% 272,634
ARA Limited PRC
HEENSVEE Nanning Longhu Jinchang Property i 80% 0% 110,532
AR Company Limited PRC
TR ER R B EARAH Jinan Wanke Zhongxiang Real Estate Company 1] 20% 0% 10,000
(MEmERE]) Limited (“Jinan Zhongxiang”) PRC
KEBEEEEHRAT Tianjin Ruibin Real Estate Company Limited i 50% 50%( Mtk %
([FEEE)) (“Tianjin Ruibin") PRC (Note a) Nil
L4 REEFEHEMER Beijing Jinliangxingye Real Estate Development 1 20% 209 (Mraka) %
WA (x4 REZE])  Company Limited (‘Beijing Jinliangxingye”) ~ PRC (Note a) Nil
WHTEBELHRAR  Changzhou Jiabang Real Estace Company Limited 1 51% 519 (iita) %
(TEMER]) (“Changzhou Jiabang”) PRC (Note a) Nil
EL - YN e Chonggqing Lejie Real Estate management i 100% 0% 15,005
HRAF Company Limited PRC
B9 (M) f5 BRI Huigang (Hangzhou) Information i 100% 0% 407,287
)N Technology Development Limited PRC
LEFAKKAERS  Beijing Zhonggong Future Education i 51% 0% 82,250
HRAF Technology Company Limited PRC
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

s AL/ AEEMER  AEELER
(i} YNGR FRALH 2 i Rl PR b ARE
Equity Equity
interest interest
Place of held by held by
incorporation/ the Group the Group Total
Name of subsidiaries establishment before disposal after disposal consideration
AR T
RMB000
O EEARAF Nantong Wenhu Real Estate Company Limited ! 35% 33% (Bifta) 10,253
(T ) (“Nantong Wenhu”) PRC (Note )
REERELEEARAT Wuhan Qinglong Xinrong Real Estate Company  H1H] 50% 499 (Bifikb) 28,540
(TR L)) Limited (“Wuhan Qinglongxinrong”) PRC (Note b)
HEEHVERIBEMSE  Nanning Jinhongsheng Real Estate Company 34% 0% 19,764
AR Limited PRC
LRCHEREESES  Beijing Ren Champion Apartment Commercial 1 100% 0% 36,410
HRAR Operation Management Company Limited PRC
FEOTEMEURENT  Longkou City Longfor Yincheng Property i 51% 0% 510
VNl Management Company Limited PRC
993,185
WRE - Notes:
(a) BE-Z-=F1T-A=1T—HIEFE (a) During the year ended December 31, 2023, the shareholders of the Tianjin Ruibin,
T - b ate REZE - HMFF R Beijing Jinliangxingye, Changzhou Jiabang and Nantong Wenhu entered into
B SO RO ET LA e ek > ELARBR IR supplemental agreements pursuant to which all of the relevant activities required
A A B B 2 SR BT A IROR — 3R approval by unanimous consent of all of its shareholders and thus they are regarded as
B BB A A B RE o joint ventures.
(b) BEE =+ A=1t—HILEE (b)  During the year ended December 31, 2023, the shareholders of the Wuhan Qinglong

R RS I BORAT LA e ek - HLAE
A B 3 22 R A RO 8 LA TR B
o FCHBR RIS A -

Xinrong entered into a supplemental agreement pursuant to which the Group has
significant influence on relevant activities of the entity and thus it is regarded as an

associate.
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39. MEMNEA R @)

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

2024 2023
AR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
J il B R Net assets disposed of:
BB (H5E12) Investment properties (Note 12) 278,586 1,856,341
W J?&F'&pﬂ% Mi&E13) Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) 8,249 1,420
M¥EFE Inventories of properties:
*%VE%%%% — Properties held for development 236,541 -
—FHESE R R Y — Properties under development for sales 3,454,143 8,932,961
RERE(3 kLS — Properties held for sales 1,509,037 5,699,867
FENUIRS &/ﬁJﬁ’AWEW JOH T R Accounts and other receivables, deposits and
TAfT 3K prepayments 247,245 1,461,448
FEWZF%E] Amounts due from the Group 800,419 398,331
FEASC I T 3‘5’}( A Amounts due from non-controlling interests 565,568 165,565
EHIA Contract cost 3,074 12,901
WATHE R R & Bank balances and cash 404,887 1,404,872
A W ] A T Taxation recoverable 33,077 342,593
TEIERI TR ( Wni% Deferred taxation assets (Note 34) 83,462 125,222
FEATIRIA ~ HCAbRET 3K Accounts and other payables and accrued charges
Vg4l (1,691,350)  (3,288,810)
JEATRLIA Taxation payable (421,166) (483,846)
BHEE Contract liabilities (651,651)  (5,867,306)
AR A {,a &ﬁ.&% Deferred taxation liabilities (Note 34) (28,692) (42,402)
JHE 5} AR 42 [ 3k Amounts due to the Group (1,326) (445,246)
}fgﬁ—ﬁﬁé‘f’éﬁ%%@ﬁ Amounts due to a joint venture (116) -
JREAST— B 2 ) EROR Amounts due to an associate (566) -
JREATH I FE I HE 45 BH Amounts due to non-controlling interests (83,800)  (1,961,197)
MEAE - —FEREI Lease liabilities — due within one year (2,059) -
HEAE - —FHEZH Lease liabilities — due after one year (28,067) -
SRAT KA — —F R E Bank and other borrowings — within one year - (175,000)
SRAT LA 2k — — 2 2 Bank and other borrowings — due after one year - (1,075,000)
it g E Net assets disposed of 4,715,495 7,062,714
W e R Less: Non-controlling interests (2,980,353) (3,646,354)
1,735,142 3,416,360
RABLA T 9175 3 AT Consideration satisfied by:
4 Cash 319,061 660,256
B Loan assignment 132,987 332,929
BERERER 2 TE (E) Fair value of interests in joint ventures (Note) 1,427,728 1,494,438
Wi A FI RS 2 A (B (BfFE) Fair value of interests in associates (Note) - 1,038,080
1,879,776 3,525,703
WEZSHHSTRA () F4 Net cash inflow (outflow) on disposal transactions:
e Cash received 319,061 660,256
W O ER S RS EY AR Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances disposed (404,887)  (1,404,872)
(85,826) (744,616)

WERE © A AR S SR R I SRR AP T Note:
RSHY MG BN T S B S A

I AR T E

The fair value of the equity interests in the joint ventures and associates are
determined with reference to the fair value of the underlying inventories of properties

and consideration of disposal of subsidiaries.
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A0A. Tl Y6 5 00 o A 9 £ 060 Ok 40A.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
T ARFEAN A% S 0 PRl O 8 The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from

AT OFEBEEREBEEE - MK
EBELNARREC SR A RS S

3 - : future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement
SMBIFAH SRR o : o

financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities

arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or

of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

ez IEfihre Kft 68 fith

HdtaE A s v Kfbfisk Lyt IERRR i it
Amounts
due to Amounts
non-  Amounts due to Bank
controlling due to joint  and other Senior  Dividend Lease
interests  associates ventures  borrowings notes payables  liabilities Total

ARKTE  ARETE  ARKTZ ARNTZ ARETE  ARKTZ ARETTE  ARKTZ
RMBO00  RMBU00 ~ RMBUOO — RMB000  RMBUOO ~ RMBOO0  RMBU0O0  RMBUOO

REEZE-A—H At January 1, 2024 23,403,687 9,173,004 7,692,958 181,342,018 11,303,543 2,109,362 14,832,214 249,856,786
RERENE Financing cash flows 92,921)  (1,858,889) 1,043,469 (21,844,061)  (1,767,315)  (1,166,021)  (1,606,609) (27,292,347)
HERBAF Disposal of subsidiaries (83,800) (566) (116) - = - (30,126) (114,608)
DIEIIEE R4S SURMERE Offser wich amounts due from
non-controlling interests (306,403) - - - - - - (306,403)

FrniERTE Capital injection from NCI (6,004,007) = = = = = — (6,004,007)
RS B R0 Fair value option recognised

INT at bond inital date . . -0 . . S 0!
SNERE Foreign exchange translation = = - 418,896 143,824 - - 562,720
il Tnception of leases = = = = = - 355,176 355,176
HEsEEN Lease liabilities charges - - - - - - T84 777884
Mg Finance costs = - - 6,959,149 587,406 - - 7,546,555
BE A Gain on redemprion of bonds = = = (107,551) = = = (107,551)
e ml g s e Gain on redemption of senior notes = = = - (750,942) - - (750,942)
EERRE Dividends declared - - - - - 3074975 - 3074975
Bt B Tssue of scrip shares as dividend = = = = - (2,503,476) - (2,503,476
REAMHE Early termination of leases - - - - - - (387,420 (387,420
RFZEFA=+—H At December 31, 2024 16916,556 7,313,549 8736311 166,805,462 9,516,516 1,514,840 13,941,119 224,744,353
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40A. TE G ) & A Y B IR () 40A.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

TEft i LAl Feft&e #iif

BEEE MMM RN MERR WEEE BHRE RSN i
Amounts

due to Amounts

non- Amounts due to Bank

controlling due to joint and other Senior Dividend Lease

interests associates ventures  borrowings notes payables liabilities Total

ARBTE  ARETFLE  ARBTEZ  ARKTE ARKFT ARKTT ARKTT ARKTL
RMBO00 ~ RMBUOO ~ RMB0OO ~ RMBO00 ~ RMBO00 ~ RMBOO0 ~ RMBUOO  RMB0OO

REEZZE-R-H At January 1, 2023 42,652,900 11,655,376 6,897,980 194,802,931 13,205,169 2,072,632 14,863,346 286,150,334
RERAE Financing cash flows (3,398,290)  (2,433,990) 616,646 (20400,110)  (2,475,286)  (1,762,222)  (1439,901) (31,293,153)
BRI A A Acquisition of assets and
HERAR liabilities through

acquisition of subsidiaries - (48,382) - - - - - (48,382)
HEREAT Disposal of subsidiaries (1,961,197) - 178332 (1,250,000) - - - (3,032,865)
DU P A BURMEE S Offser with amounts due from

non-controlling interests (2,176,428) - - - - - - (2,176428)
FHHERIE Capital injection from NCI (11,713,298) - - - - - ~ (11,713,298)
B F A2 Fair value option recognised at

NFHERE bond initial date - - - 10,851 - - - 10,851

SNEGE Foreign exchange translation - - - 735,036 221,786 - - 957,422
HER Inception of leases - - - - - - 817,381 817,381
HEAREH Lease liabilities charges - - - - - - 792,734 792,734
BENA Finance costs - - - 7528632 1,155,686 - - 8684318
(el e Gain on redemption of bonds - - - (85,922) - - - (85,922)
BRI Gain on redemption of senior notes - - - - (803,812) - - (803,812)
EEREE Dividends declared - - - - - 7,163,795 - 7,163,795
BRRARR Issue of sctip shates as dividend - - - - - (5,364,843) - (5,364,843)
BRAHHE Early termination of leases - - - - - - (201,346)  (201,346)
REZZZEFZH=1—H At December 31,2023 23,403,687 9,173,004 7,092,958 181,342,018 11,303,543 2,109,362 14,832,214 249,856,786
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40B. BEFBERYH

WEZ-EFZH =+ —HIR4ERE
B IR TR TR B A D O 4 A
3!5?'?)3&1‘%&5?%1/5}\& # 6,004,007,000 G
CECEFETIA=ZT—H AR
11,713,298,0007C) I {4 o

BWEZFWEF A=+ —HIF
JE o I IR i 0 PR 2 ) el 1 R A
i FE #2  RE 25 3B R %9 1,601,553,000
T(ZEZ=FFZA=Z1—H 0 AR
12,066,789,0007G ) FIF &8

HWE_Z-NEF-H=+—HI4EE
2 52 ) DAE A5F T 4% i HE £ KTE N R
306,403,0007C (—F ~=HF+ " H =+—
A : NE#2,176,428,000 0 ) 45 & FE i JF
PEIRERT FKIH o

BE_ZUFE+ A=+ —HIFFE
A B R LI T R4 G T S
T Tihwk o WARH BB IR0 > A< 42 e
FHIA T A #5368 I A R 355,176,000
B(ZF - =F+_A=1+—H: AR
817,381,000 76 ) K Hl & & 5 AR
355,176,000C (—EFE =4+ " H=+—
H @ AR#817,381,0000C) °

BEZRIET A=A IR
For the year ended December 31, 2024

40B. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the capital contribution of
subsidiaries from non-controlling shareholders was offset with the amounts
due to non-controlling interests for an amount of RMB6,004,007,000
(December 31, 2023: RMB11,713,298,000).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the capital reduction of
subsidiaries from non-controlling shareholders was offset with the amounts
due to non-controlling interests for an amount of RMB1,601,553,000
(December 31, 2023: RMB12,066,789,000).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group offset the amounts
due from non-controlling interests with the amounts due to non-
controlling interests for an amount of RMB306,403,000 (December 31,
2023: RMB2,176,428,000).

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group entered into new
lease agreements for investment properties under sublease. On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised additions to investment properties
under sublease amounting to RMB355,176,000 (December 31, 2023:
RMBS817,381,000) and lease liabilities of RMB355,176,000 (December
31, 2023: RMB817,381,000).
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40C. AIEBLA th

41.

BB S AR T

40C. CASH OUTFLOWS FOR LEASES

Total cash outflows for leases are as below:

TR OpuE F =
2024 2023
AR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ViESViTid L/E Fd UEIEANh) Leased properties under subleases classified as
THEYE investment properties 1,581,412 1,439,901
FE AR BRI Tt Leasehold lands included in investment properties
under development 1,706,493 3,286,520
FIAMEREENHE T Leasehold lands included in inventories of properties 16,990,376 9,109,677
RAE (B e N Low-value assets and short-term leases 77,549 90,374
20,355,830 13,926,472

SR PR A

A% T B A A BRI A A > AR RN
] B 2 0 280 2 0 1 3t T SBOURE A B SR
SEREFGRIRGHE o A/ w1 o B W A
[ % B AR TR BB RAE R %
LSRR IR 46 b 7 T BURT (7] 2 408 B T3
FENETE R o AREE A BB
IR B0 3 BT R AR RZ AT B
MEMSZK - R FE - EF - =+—
H > 752 [0S 48 T R A 48 32 et R A A
BIRFHEFOKT

ASEEIN G A i 5 B AR B SO
AR Rt # o B i B A A
WY BT A7 B R N B 2
& o AKE B AR Fr & A K 5% 17 % 5t
BURK > {8 HeAR R At -

BE_FZWEFZH =+ —H L4
BE o A 4R TR SRR R AR R AR N R R
355,037,000 G ( =& = =4 + KR ¥
447,537,0007C) °

41.

Longfor Group Holdings Limited &g #f & @ % % B R 2 &)

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the Company’s
PRC subsidiaries are required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered by the local municipal government.
The Company’s PRC subsidiari